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BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

Application of Liberty Utilities (CalPeco 
Electric) LLC (U 933-E) for Authority to 
Among Other Things, Increase Its 
Authorized Revenues For Electric Service, 
Update Its Energy Cost Adjustment Clause 
Billing Factors, Establish Marginal Costs, 
Allocate Revenues, And Design Rates, as of 
January 1, 2016. 

 

Application No. 15-05-___ 
(Filed May 1, 2015) 

 

 
2016 GENERAL RATE CASE APPLICATION OF  

LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALPECO ELECTRIC) LLC (U933-E)  
 

Pursuant to Article 2 and Rule 3.2 of the California Public Utilities Commission’s 

(“Commission”) Rules of Practice and Procedure (“Rules”), Liberty Utilities (CalPeco Electric) 

LLC (U 933-E) (“Liberty Utilities”)1 respectfully submits the following Application.  

In this Application, Liberty Utilities requests an overall increase in rates totaling $13.571 

million annually or 17.34 percent over present rates, effective January 1, 2016.  This increase 

reflects the following components: 

(1) An authorized Return on Equity of 10.5 percent resulting in an 

Overall Rate of Return of 7.92 percent;  

(2) A debt/equity structure of 45 percent/55 percent; 

                                                 
1 In Decision (“D.”) 10-10-017, the Commission approved the transfer of the California electric 
distribution facilities and the Kings Beach Generation Facility formerly owned and operated by Sierra 
Pacific Power Company (“Sierra”) to California Pacific Electric Company, LLC (“CalPeco”).  The 
transfer from Sierra to CalPeco became effective as of January 1, 2011.  CalPeco notified the Commission 
of its formal change in name to Liberty Utilities (CalPeco Electric) LLC.  See Advice Letter 28-E (July 
15, 2013).  For purposes of consistency, we will refer to the owner of the utility as “Liberty Utilities” 
throughout this Application, even during periods when CalPeco and Sierra was the name of the regulated 
utility providing electric service. 
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(3) An annual increase to Energy Cost Adjustment Clause (“ECAC”) 

revenues of $0.951 million; 

(4) An increase to its annual vegetation management program budget of 

$23,000;  

(5) An annual increase of $0.700 million to amortize the costs it 

recorded as of March 31, 2015 in its Catastrophic Emergency 

Memorandum Account (“CEMA”); 

(6) An annual increase of $0.130 million to implement its Energy 

Efficiency programs; and 

(7) An annual increase of $0.371 million to implement the Solar 

Incentive Program.  

Liberty Utilities has designed its proposals in this Application to enable it to continue to 

provide its customers an enhanced level of customer service, primarily through its emphasis on 

its local presence and community involvement, and correspondingly to maintain the capability to 

offer its customers electric system reliability and increased safety by investing in infrastructure, 

human resources, and vegetation management.   

In this Application, Liberty Utilities requests an increase in its general rates to continue 

its focus on safety and reliability and to recover the costs of (1) investment in and the costs 

associated with the ownership of infrastructure facilities and (2) increases in operations and 

maintenance (“O&M”) costs.  
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Liberty Utilities intends to file Phase II of this Application as of June 1, 2015.  In Phase 

II, Liberty Utilities intends to propose a permanent curtailment rate schedule.2  Phase II will also 

include Liberty Utilities’ proposed rate allocation and rate design.3 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. Procedural History 

In 2012, the Commission adopted an all-party settlement in Liberty Utilities’ 2013 

General Rate Case.4 The settlement did not impose any requirements for Liberty Utilities 2016 

General Rate Case with one exception.  Liberty Utilities was directed to provide a “fixed charge” 

option with its vegetation management rate design proposal.  Liberty Utilities will offer the 

requisite fixed charge option in Phase II of this Application 5  

B. Liberty Utilities’ Operations 

Liberty Utilities serves approximately 49,000 electric customers in California, in and 

around the Lake Tahoe Basin.  Liberty Utilities’ California service territory differs greatly from 

the three major electric utilities in California.  It generally encompasses the western portions of 

the Lake Tahoe basin.  Liberty Utilities’ California customers are located in portions of Placer, 

El Dorado, Nevada, Sierra, Plumas, Mono, and Alpine Counties.  Almost 80 percent of Liberty 

Utilities’ customers are located in the Lake Tahoe Basin.  The biggest population center is the 

City of South Lake Tahoe.   

                                                 
2 The Commission approved Liberty Utilities’ interim Voluntary Curtailment Program for larger than 200 
kW customers from November 2014 through December 31, 2015.  See Resolution E-4694 (Dec. 4, 2014). 
3 On April 30, 2015,  Liberty Utilities submitted a request for extension of time to comply with Ordering 
Paragraph 10 of D.14-10-033 and be allowed to file its greenhouse gas forecast revenue and reconciliation 
request (“GHG Revenue and Reconciliation Request “) on or before August 1, 2015 rather than with this 
Application.  If  the Commission is not able to grant Liberty Utilities’ request for an extension to file its 
GHG Revenue and Reconciliation Request as of August 1, 2015, Liberty Utilities has requested  to be 
allowed to file its GHG Revenue and Reconciliation Request as a supplement to this Application, most 
likely as part of its Phase II filing.  
4 D.12-11-030, mimeo at 9 (Ordering Paragraph 1).  
5 D.12-11-030, mimeo at 9-10 (Ordering Paragraph 2).  
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The Liberty Utilities service territory extends from Portola in the north to Markleeville 

and Topaz Lake in the south.  The terrain in Liberty Utilities’ California service territory is 

mountainous and heavily forested, with elevations ranging from 9,050 feet in Squaw Valley to 

just under 5,000 feet at Portola.  Most of Liberty Utilities’ customers are located at elevations 

greater than 6,000 feet. 

The electric load within the Liberty Utilities service territory reflects the economic 

activities in the area.  The region has little manufacturing or heavy industry.  The economy of the 

Tahoe Basin is dominated by tourism with the major businesses being hotels, motels, and ski 

resorts.  Approximately half of the electricity Liberty Utilities delivers is to residential customers 

and approximately 60 percent of residential accounts are second-family homes or rentals.  

Electric demand peaks for Liberty Utilities in the winter period, particularly during Christmas 

week when tourism is highest.   

Results of a customer satisfaction survey conducted in October 2014 confirms that 

Liberty Utilities’  quality of service, customer focus, and continued strengthening of its 

distribution infrastructure is having a positive impact on our customers’ appreciation of our 

commitment and corresponding capabilities to provide a safe and reliable product.  This most 

recent survey reports that, 83 percent of Liberty Utilities’ customers are “somewhat satisfied” or 

“very satisfied” with Liberty Utilities’ overall customer service.  Only six percent responded that 

they were “somewhat dissatisfied” or “not satisfied” by Liberty Utilities’ overall customer 

service.  

C.   Current and Proposed Generation and Supply Resources. 

 Liberty Utilities’ service territory is not geographically or operationally a part of the 

California Independent System Operator balancing authority.  Identical to the circumstances 

existing when NV Energy operated the California portion of its then multi-state service territory, 
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Liberty Utilities is located within the NV Energy Balancing Authority.  As a consequence of its 

location within the NV Energy Balancing Authority, essentially all the energy delivered into the 

Liberty Utilities service territory is from supply sources to the East. 

 Liberty Utilities’ California operations currently include only electric distribution 

facilities and the Kings Beach Generation Facility (“Kings Beach”).  Kings Beach currently 

represents Liberty Utilities’ only generation asset.  It is a 12 MW diesel facility whose usage is 

restricted to local area emergency backup.  Liberty Utilities procures almost all of the remainder 

of its power through a “full requirements” power purchase agreement with Sierra Pacific Power 

Company dba NV Energy (“Existing NV Energy Services Agreement”).6   

The Existing NV Energy Services terminates as of December 31, 2015.  On April 24, 

2015, Liberty Utilities filed Application 15-04-0197 (“2016 NV Energy Services Agreement 

Application”) requesting Commission approval of the new full services agreement it executed 

with NV Energy on April 21, 2014 (“2016 NV Energy Services Agreement”).  The term of the 

2016 NV Energy Services Agreement is intended to commence January 1, 2016 (i.e., 

immediately upon the expiration of the Existing NV Energy Services Agreement).  In the 2016 

NV Energy Services Agreement Application, Liberty Utilities requests that the Commission: (i) 

approve Liberty Utilities execution of and performance under the 2016 NV Energy Services 

Agreement; and (ii) authorize it rate recovery for the costs Liberty Utilities will incur pursuant to 

the 2016 NV Energy Services Agreement.  As will be explained, for purposes of this 

Application, Liberty Utilities bases its forecasts of costs for the 2016 Test Year on the 

                                                 
6 The Commission authorized Liberty Utilities to execute the Existing NV Energy Services Agreement 
and recover in rates its payments to NV Energy in D.10-10-017. 
7 Application of Liberty Utilities (CalPeco Electric) LLC (U 933 E) for Authority to Execute 2016 NV 
Energy Services Agreement and for Rate Recovery of the Costs It Will Incur Pursuant to the Agreement, 
and Urging Issuance of Expedited Decision Granting Such Relief.  
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assumption that the Commission will timely approve and grant the ratemaking authority the 2016 

NV Energy Services Agreement Application requests.8 

On April 17, 2015, Liberty Utilities filed Application 15-04-0169 seeking Commission 

approval of its proposed acquisition, ownership and operation of the Luning and the Minden 

Solar Project (“Solar Projects”) and associated ratemaking (“Solar Projects Application”).  As 

explained in the Solar Projects Application, under Commission ratemaking practices and 

protocols, Liberty Utilities should in this Application be requesting rate recovery for at least 

certain of the costs it will incur to acquire, own and operate the Solar Projects.  However, in the 

Solar Projects Application, Liberty Utilities is requesting that the Commission allow it to defer 

any rate recovery associated with the Solar Projects until January 1, 2017.10  Thus for purposes 

of this Application, Liberty Utilities assumes that the Commission will grant its request and thus 

it is requesting no rate recovery associated with the Solar Projects in this proceeding. 

II. SUMMARY OF APPLICATION 

Liberty Utilities is committed to providing a high quality of customer service, reliability, 

and safety and at a cost-efficient cost.  The location, climate and terrain of our California service 

territory pose special challenges and sometimes require relatively greater expenditures to achieve 

these objectives. 

                                                 
8 Liberty Utilities Witness Blunier in Exhibit 1, Chapter 3, make proposals to address the ratemaking 
implications in the event that the Commission is not able to timely approve the 2016 NV Energy Services 
Agreement and it does not become effective as of the January 1, 2016 date this Application assumes. 
9 Application of Liberty Utilities (CalPeco Electric) LLC (U 933 E) for the Issuance of a Certificate of 
Public Convenience and Necessity to Acquire, Own, and Operate the Luning and Minden Solar Projects, 
Authorize Ratemaking Associated with the Solar Projects’ Capital Investment and Operating Expenses, 
and Issuance of Expedited Decision Granting Such Relief.  
10 Liberty Utilities is requesting that the Commission authorize it rate recovery for the costs it will incur to 
acquire, own and operate the Solar Projects commencing as of January 1, 2017 and that the Commission 
authorize it to seek such rate recovery in its Post-Test Year Adjustment Mechanism filing that Liberty 
Utilities shall file in October 2016.  See Solar Projects Application, at 5, 25-26, 42. 
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This Application requests an overall increase to Liberty Utilities current effective rates of 

$13.571 million annually or 17.34 percent with an effective date of January 1, 2016.  Included in 

the overall annual increase are the following annual incremental increases:  

• $0.951 million in ECAC revenues as described in Exhibit 1, Chapter 3,  

• $23,000 for its vegetation management program as described in Exhibit 3, 
Chapter 1, 

• $0.700 million to amortize costs recorded in the CEMA as described in Exhibit 3, 
Chapter 2, 

• $0.130 million for Energy Efficiency programs, as described in Exhibit 3, Chapter 
3, and, 

• $0.371 million for the Solar Initiative Program as described in Exhibit 3, Chapter 
4. 

The main contributors to the increase to Liberty Utilities current effective rates are: 

• Cost recovery for the investments Liberty Utilities is making to install new and 
upgraded distribution facilities and other infrastructure; 

• Execution in 2014 of a new three-year collective bargaining agreement between 
Liberty Utilities and International Brotherhood of Electric Workers (“IBEW”) 
Local 1245 that offers the bargaining unit employees an annual increase of 2.5 
percent and a one-time incremental wage increase of 4 percent;  

• The intended hiring of seven employees;  

• A request to increase the Return on Equity to 10.5 percent resulting an Overall 
Rate of Return of 7.92 percent; and, 

• A request to change the debt/equity structure from the current 48.5 percent/51.5 
percent to a debt/equity of 45 percent/55 percent. 

The request in this Application to increase general rates is based on a forecasted 2016 

Test Year.  It reflects proposed increases in operating expenses and plant additions.  The $13.571 
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 million requested increase in effective rates can be separated into its generation and distribution 

components as follows: 

• Generation $ (4.107) million  

• Distribution $ 17.678 million 

III. RATE DESIGN AND COST ALLOCATION 

Liberty Utilities will make its proposals for Electric Marginal Costs, Revenue Allocation, 

and Rate Design in Phase II of this proceeding.  It intends to file Phase II on June 1, 2015. 

IV. PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS 

A. Statutory Authority 

Liberty Utilities files this Application pursuant to Sections 451, 454, 728, 729, 740.4, 

795, and 818 of the Public Utilities Code, the Rules, and prior decisions, orders, and resolutions 

of this Commission.  

B. Rule 2.1(a) – Applicant Information 

Liberty Utilities is a California limited liability company.  It has its principal place of 

business at 933 Eloise Avenue, South Lake Tahoe, CA 96150. 

C. Rule 2.1(b) -- Correspondence 

 All correspondence and communications with respect to this Application should be 

addressed or directed as follows: 

Steven F. Greenwald 
Vidhya Prabhakaran 
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 
505 Montgomery Street 
Suite 800 
San Francisco, CA 94111-6533 
Telephone: (415) 276-6500 
Facsimile: (415) 276-6599 
Email:  stevegreenwald@dwt.com 

vidhyaprabhakaran@dwt.com 
 

Ken Wittman 
Manager of Rates & Regulatory Affairs 
Liberty Utilities (CalPeco Electric) LLC 
933 Eloise Avenue 
South Lake Tahoe, CA 96150 
Telephone: 530-541-5780 
Email:  ken.wittman@libertyutilities.com 
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D. Rule 2.1(c) – Categorization, Need for Hearings, Schedule, and Issues to be 
Considered 

Liberty Utilities proposes that this proceeding be categorized as ratesetting pursuant to 

Rule 1.3(e).  Liberty Utilities acknowledges that hearings may be necessary.  Liberty Utilities 

proposes the following procedural schedule: 

Application Filed May 1, 2015 

Applicants Phase II Testimony Filed Jun. 1, 2015 

Protest/Responses to Application Due  Jun. 5, 2015 

Applicants’ Reply to Protest/Responses Jun. 15, 2015 

Prehearing Conference Jul. 1, 2015 

Staff and Intervenor Testimony served Aug. 3, 2015 

All Rebuttal Testimony Served Aug. 17, 2015 

Hearings, if necessary Aug. 31, 2015 

Opening Briefs filed Sep. 14, 2015 

Reply Briefs filed Sep. 28, 2015 

Proposed Decision issued Nov. 13, 2015 

Final Commission Decision issued Dec. 17, 2015 

Final Rates Effective Jan 1, 2016 

 

Liberty Utilities believes that the following issues should be considered as part of this 

proceeding: 

1) Is Liberty Utilities’ request to increase its authorized revenues for electric service, as 

described above, reasonable? 

2) Is Liberty Utilities’ request to allocate revenues and design rates reasonable? 
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E. Rule 2.2 – Organization and Qualification to Transact Business 

A copy of the Articles of Organization of Liberty Utilities has previously been filed with 

the Commission as part of Application 14-04-037, Exhibit A.  A Certificate of Status for Liberty 

Utilities issued by the California Secretary of State has previously been filed with the 

Commission as part of Application 15-04-016, Exhibit A. 

F. Rule 3.2(a)(1) –Balance Sheet/Income Statement 

Financial statements for Liberty Utilities are attached hereto as Appendix A. 

G. Rule 3.2(a)(2) – Presently Effective Rates 

Liberty Utilities’ current rates and charges for electric service are contained in its 

respective electric tariffs and schedules on file with the Commission and available from Liberty 

Utilities’ website at http://www.liberty-energy.com/pages/rates.htm. 

H. Rule 3.2(a)(3) – Statement of Proposed Changes and Results of Operations at 
Proposed Rates 

The proposed changes and the Results of Operations at Proposed Rates will be provided 

as part of Phase II. 

I. Rule 3.2(a)(4) – Description of Property 

An exact description of Liberty Utilities’ property and equipment is included in 

Application 09-10-028, Exhibit 8 along with a statement of the original cost thereof, together 

with a statement of the depreciation reserve applicable thereto. 

J. Rule 3.2(a)(5) – Summary of Earnings 

A Rate of Return summary is included in Exhibit 2, Chapter 1. 

K. Rule 3.2(a)(7) - Depreciation 

A statement of the method of commuting the depreciation deduction for federal income 

tax purposes is included in Exhibit 1, Chapter 5. 



 

11 
DWT 26756028v1 0089731-000036 

L. Rule 3.2(a)(8) – Proxy Statement 

A copy of Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp.’s (“Algonquin”) most recent proxy 

statement, dated May 14, 2014 as sent to shareholders, is attached to this Application as 

Appendix B. 

M. Rule 3.2(a)(10) – Type of Rate Change Requested 

This proposed change reflects changes in Liberty Utilities’ base revenues to reflect the 

costs Liberty Utilities incurs to own, operate, and maintain its electric plant and to enable Liberty 

Utilities to provide service to its customers.  The proposed change also reflects and passes 

through to customers the costs to Liberty Utilities to recover, but not over-recover, projected fuel 

and purchased power costs.

N. Rules 3.2(b), 3.2(c), and 3.2(d) - Service of Notice 

Cities and counties that would be affected by the rate changes resulting from this 

Application include the cities and towns of South Lake Tahoe, Portola, Kings Beach and 

Markleeville.  Counties affected by the rate changes this Application proposes are Nevada, 

Placer, Sierra, Plumas, Mono, Alpine and El Dorado.  Pursuant to Rule 3.2(b), Liberty Utilities 

will mail a notice of the filing of this Application and a description, in general terms, of the 

changes proposed in rates, to each of these governmental entities and the State of California 

Attorney General and Department of General Services within twenty (20) days following the 

filing of this Application. 

Pursuant to Rule 3.2(c), within twenty (20) days following the filing of this Application, 

Liberty Utilities will publish a notice in a newspaper of general circulation in each county in 

which the changes proposed here will become effective.  This notice will state that a copy of this 

Application and related attachments may be examined at the Commission's offices and such 

offices of Liberty Utilities as are specified in the notice.  Pursuant to Rule 3.2(d), Liberty 
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Utilities will include a similar notice in the regular bills mailed to all customers within forty-five 

(45) days of the filing date of this Application. 

A list of government officials and other potential interested parties to whom either the 

notice of this Application or this Application will be sent is included in the attached Certificate 

of Service.  

O. Index of the Exhibits and Appendices to this Application 

Liberty Utilities' submission in support of this Application includes the following, which 

are incorporated herein by reference: 

EXHIBIT LIST 

Exhibit 1 – Summary and Results of Operations 

            Chapter 1 – Overview & Safety (Michael R. Smart, P.E.) 

               Chapter 2 – Operations & Maintenance and Administrative & General Expenses 

(Michael D. Long) 

            Chapter 3 – Energy Cost Adjustment Clause Revenues (Alain R. Blunier) 

            Chapter 4 – Income Tax and Other Taxes (Kendrick E. Wittman) 

            Chapter 5 – Depreciation (Kendrick E. Wittman) 

            Chapter 6 – Rate Base (Kendrick E. Wittman) 

            Chapter 7 – Sales, Customers, and Revenues Forecast (Alain R. Blunier)  

            Chapter 8– Fuel and Purchased Power Forecasts (Alain R. Blunier) 

            Chapter 9 – Revenue Requirement (Alain R. Blunier) 

Exhibit 2 – Cost of Capital/Return on Equity/Rate of Return 

            Chapter 1 – Cost of Capital and Rate of Return (Alain R. Blunier) 

            Chapter 2 – Return on Equity (Dr. Roger A. Morin) 
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Exhibit 3 – Electric Distribution Programs 

                        Chapter 1–Vegetation Management (Jessica Drummond) 

                        Chapter 2 – Catastrophic Event Memorandum Account (Kendrick E. Wittman) 

                        Chapter 3 – Energy Efficiency Programs (Lori L. Williams) 

                        Chapter 4 – Solar Incentive Program (Lori L. Williams) 

Exhibit 4 – Witness Statements of Qualifications 

ARB –Witness Statement of Qualifications: Alain R. Blunier 

JD – Witness Statement of Qualifications: Jessica Drummond 

MDL – Witness Statement of Qualifications: Michael D. Long 

RAM – Witness Statement of Qualifications: Dr. Roger A. Morin 

MRS – Witness Statement of Qualifications: Michael R. Smart, P.E. 

KEW – Witness Statement of Qualifications: Kendrick E. Wittman 

LLW – Witness Statement of Qualifications: Lori L. Williams 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A: Liberty Utilities’ Financial Statements 

Appendix B:  Algonquin Proxy Statement 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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V. CONCLUSION 

Liberty Utilities respectfully requests that the Commission issue a decision on this 

Application as expeditiously as possible in which it: 

1) Grant Liberty Utilities’ request to increase its authorized revenues for electric 

service; 

2) Grant Liberty Utilities’ request to allocate revenues and design rates; and  

3) Grant Liberty Utilities such other and further relief requested, and as the 

Commission finds just and reasonable. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
By:  /s/  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
May 1, 2015 
 

DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 
Steven F. Greenwald 
Vidhya Prabhakaran 
Davis Wright Tremaine LLP 
Suite 800 
505 Montgomery Street 
San Francisco, CA 94111-6533 
Tel. (415) 276-6500 
Fax. (415) 276-6599 
Email: stevegreenwald@dwt.com 
Email: vidhyaprabhakaran@dwt.com 
Attorneys for Liberty Utilities (CalPeco Electric) LLC 
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Liberty Utilities’ Financial Statements 
 

 

  



 Financial Statements of 

LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALPECO ELECTRIC) LLC
(formerly California Pacific Electric Company LLC)
For the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors of 
Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Liberty Utilities 
(CalPeco Electric) LLC, which comprise the balance sheets as at December 31, 
2014 and 2013, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in 
member’s interest and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with United States generally 
accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to 
the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Liberty Utilities (CalPeco Electric) LLC as at December 
31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

Toronto, Canada 
April 24, 2015 
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LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALPECO ELECTRIC) LLC
Balance Sheets
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

December 31, December 31,
2014 2013

ASSETS
Utility plant 

Utility plant in service $ 177,568 $ 168,182
Less accumulated depreciation (12,178)               (8,938)          
Total 165,390 159,244
Construction work-in-progress 30,952 16,274
Utility plant - net (note 4) 196,342 175,518

Goodwill 10,381 10,381

Regulatory assets (note 6) 3,188 3,049
Deferred financing costs 723 822
Other assets 989 88

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 64 168
Supplies and consumables inventory 4,381 3,728
Accounts receivable, net (note 3) 11,119 12,169
Prepaid expenses and other 316 461
Current portion of regulatory assets (note 6) 5,739 1,146           

21,619 17,672

$ 233,242 $ 207,530

LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S INTEREST

Member's interest
Member's capital (note 10) $ 66,077 $ 66,077
Retained earnings 26,287 15,751
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (825)                    (598)             
Total member's interest 91,539 81,230

Long-term liabilities (note 8) 70,000 70,000
Regulatory liabilities (note 6) 17,625 20,493
Pension obligation (note 9) 1,905                  1,711           
Advances in aid of construction (note 5) 14,753 14,767

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,118                8,157           
Current portion of customer deposits 671                     723              
Current portion of regulatory liabilities (note 6) 348                     5,808           
Due to related parties (note 7) 26,283                4,641           

37,420 19,329

Commitments (note 11)

$ 233,242 $ 207,530

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALPECO ELECTRIC) LLC
Statement of Changes in Member's Interest
(in thousands of U.S. dollars )

Member's capital
Accumulated 

earnings

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
loss Total

Balance, December 31, 2012 $ 66,077 $ 4,588 $ (738) $ 69,927

Net income - 11,163 - 11,163

Other comprehensive income - - 140 140

Balance, December 31, 2013 $ 66,077 $ 15,751 $ (598) $ 81,230

Net income - 10,536 - 10,536

Other comprehensive income - - (227) (227)

Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 66,077 $ 26,287 $ (825) $ 91,539

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALPECO ELECTRIC) LLC
Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

2014 2013
Revenue:

Residential $ 37,204       $ 38,723            
Commercial 33,397        33,979            
Other 2,629          2,781              

73,230        75,483             

Expenses:
Energy purchased 36,427        38,592            
Operating costs 15,671        14,770            
Taxes other than income taxes 2,899          2,810              
Depreciation of utility plant 5,007          4,648              
Other amortization 227             227                 

60,231        61,047             

Operating income 12,999        14,436            

Interest expense 2,995          3,519              
Other income (566)            (234)                

2,429          3,285               

Earnings before income taxes 10,570        11,151            

Income tax expense
Current 34               (12)                  

Net income 10,536        11,163            

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized pension and other post-retirement expense, net of tax of 
     nil and nil, respectively (note 9) (227)            140

Comprehensive income $ 10,309       $ 11,303            

See accompanying notes to financial statements

Year ended December 31,
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LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALPECO ELECTRIC) LLC
Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

2014 2013

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating Activities:

Net income $ 10,536 $ 11,163 
Items not affecting cash:

Depreciation of utility plant 5,007 4,648 
Cost of equity funds used for construction purposes (561) (228)
Other amortization 326 325
Net change in pension obligation (210) 187

Changes in other operating items (note 12) 6,224 (5,179)
21,322 10,916 

Financing Activities:

Decrease in customer deposits (52) (39)
Increase in advances in aid of construction 770 1,664 
Refunds of advances in aid of construction (449) (602)
Increase in other assets (981) 36

(712) 1,059 

Investing Activities:

Additions to utility plant (20,714) (12,160)
(20,714) (12,160)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (104) (185)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 168 353

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year $ 64 $ 168

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the year for interest expense $ 3,733 $ 3,733 
Non-cash transactions:

Utility plant acquisitions in accruals $ 3,342 $ 545

See accompanying notes to financial statements

Year ended December 31,



LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALPECO ELECTRIC) LLC
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except as noted)

5

Liberty Utilities (CalPeco Electric) LLC (the “Company”), formerly known as California Pacific Electric 
Company LLC, is a limited liability company organized on April 14, 2009 under the laws of California.  
The Company is in the business of providing regulated electric distribution service to approximately 
47,000 customers in the Lake Tahoe region of California. 

The Company is 100% owned by Liberty Utilities Co. (“Liberty Utilities”).  

1. Significant accounting policies

a) Basis of preparation:

The financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) and
are presented in U.S. dollars. 

The Company has historically experienced higher demand for electricity during the 
winter rather than during the summer period since the utility serves a number of ski hills 
and resorts in its service territory.  However, starting in 2013, as a result of the 
decoupling mechanism approved by the regulator (note 6), the Company’s earnings are 
no longer affected by differences in delivery volumes from levels assumed when rates 
were approved.

b) Accounting for rate regulated operations:

The Company is subject to rate regulation overseen by the California Public Utilities 
Commission (“CPUC”). The CPUC provides the final determination of the rates charged 
to customers. The Company’s activities are accounted for under the principles of U.S. 
Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standard Codification Topic 980,
Regulated Operations (“ASC 980”).  Under ASC 980, regulatory assets and liabilities 
that would not be recorded under U.S. GAAP for non-regulated entities are recorded to 
the extent that they represent probable future revenue or expenses associated with 
certain charges or credits that will be recovered from or refunded to customers through 
the rate making process.  Included in note 6, “Regulatory matters”, are details of 
regulatory assets and liabilities, and their current regulatory treatment.

In the event the Company determines that its net regulatory assets are not probable of 
recovery, it would no longer apply the principles of the current accounting guidance for 
rate-regulated enterprises and would be required to record an after-tax, non-cash 
charge (credit) against income for any remaining regulatory assets (liabilities). The
impact could be material to the Company’s reported financial condition and results of 
operations.



LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALPECO ELECTRIC) LLC
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except as noted)
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Accounting for rate regulated operations (continued)

The Company’s accounts are maintained in accordance with the Uniform System of 
Accounts prescribed by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”).

c) Cash and equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity 
of three months or less.

d) Accounts receivable: 

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear 
interest.  The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated 
losses inherent in its accounts receivable portfolio.  In establishing the required 
allowance, management considers historical losses adjusted to take into account 
current market conditions and customers’ financial condition, the amount of receivables 
in dispute, and the receivables aging and current payment patterns. Account balances 
are charged against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted 
and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company does not have any 
off-balance sheet credit exposure related to its customers.

e) Supplies and consumables inventory: 

Supplies and consumables inventory (other than capital spares and rotatable spares, 
which are included in property, plant, and equipment) are charged to inventory when 
purchased and then capitalized to plant or expensed, as appropriate, when installed, 
used or become obsolete. These items are stated at the lower of cost and replacement 
cost.

f) Utility plant:

Utility plant amounts are recorded at cost. The costs of acquiring or constructing utility 
plant include the following: materials, labor, contractor and professional services, 
construction overhead directly attributable to the capital project (where applicable), and 
allowance for equity funds used during construction (“AFUDC”). 



LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALPECO ELECTRIC) LLC
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except as noted)
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

f) Utility plant (continued)

AFUDC represents the cost of borrowed funds (allowance for borrowed funds used 
during construction) and a return on other funds (allowance for equity funds used during 
construction). Under ASC 980, an allowance for funds used during construction projects
that are included in rate base is capitalized. This allowance is designed to enable a
utility to capitalize financing costs during periods of construction of property subject to 
rate regulation.  The AFUDC capitalized that relates to borrowed funds is recorded as a 
reduction to interest expense on the statements of comprehensive income. The AFUDC 
capitalized that relates to equity funds is recorded as other income on the statements of 
comprehensive income.  

2014 2013

AFUDC capitalized on regulated property: 
Allowance for borrowed funds $ 842 $ 329
Allowance for equity funds 561 228

Total $ 1,403 $ 557

Improvements that increase or prolong the service life or capacity of an asset are 
capitalized.  Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.  

The Company’s depreciation is based on the estimated useful lives of the depreciable 
assets in each category and is determined using the straight-line method. 

The range of estimated useful lives and the weighted average useful lives are summarized 
below: 

Range of useful lives Weighted average useful 
lives

2014           2013 2014 2013

Land and land rights 56 - 75 56 - 75 44 44
Plant - electricity 8 - 75 8 - 73 52 45
Equipment, office furniture  and 
improvements 15 - 25 15 - 25 20 20
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Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

f) Utility plant (continued)

Contributions in aid of construction (“CIAC”) represent amounts contributed by
customers and governments and developers for the cost of utility plant.  It also includes 
amounts initially recorded as advances in aid of construction (note 5) but where the 
advance repayment period has expired.  These contributions are recorded as a 
reduction in the cost of utility plant and are amortized at the rate of the related asset as 
a reduction to depreciation expense.

In accordance with accounting policies approved by FERC, when the depreciable utility 
plant of the Company is replaced or retired, the original cost plus any removal costs 
incurred (net of salvage) are charged to accumulated depreciation with no gain or loss 
reflected in results of operations.  Gains and losses will be charged to results of operations
in the future through adjustments to depreciation expense.  

g) Goodwill:

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired business over the fair 
value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is not included in the rate base on which 
regulated utilities are allowed to earn a return and is not amortized.

During the fourth quarter of each year, and when indicators of impairment are present, the 
Company assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that 
the fair value of a reporting unit to which goodwill is attributed is less than its carrying 
amount. If it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying 
amount or if a quantitative assessment is elected, the Company calculates the fair value of 
the reporting unit. The carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill is considered not 
recoverable if the carrying amount of the reporting unit as a whole exceeds the reporting
unit’s fair value. An impairment charge is recorded for any excess of the carrying value of 
the goodwill over the implied fair value. Goodwill is tested for impairment between annual 
tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce 
the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.

h) Impairment of long-lived assets:

The Company reviews utility plant for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  Recoverability is 
measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to undiscounted expected 
future cash flows.  If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the asset is 
written down to its fair value.
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December 31, 2014 and 2013
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

i) Customer deposits:

Customer deposits result from the Company’s obligation by its regulator to collect a 
deposit from its customers of its facility under certain circumstances when services are 
connected.  The deposits are refundable as allowed under the regulatory agreement.  
The deposits  bear  monthly  interest  and  are applied  to  the customer account  after 
12 months if the customer is found to be creditworthy.

j) Pension and other post-employment plans:

The Company has established a defined benefit pension plan, and an other post-
employment benefit (“OPEB”) plan for its employees.  The Company recognizes the 
funded status of its defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefit 
plans on the balance sheets.  The Company’s expense and liabilities are determined by 
actuarial valuations, using assumptions that are evaluated annually as at December 31, 
including discount rates, mortality, assumed rates of return, compensation increases, 
turnover rates and healthcare cost trend rates.  The impact of modifications to those 
assumptions is recorded as actuarial gains and losses in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (“AOCI”) and amortized to net periodic cost over future periods 
using the corridor method.  The costs of the Company’s pension for employees are 
expensed over the periods during which employees render service and are recognized 
as part of operating costs in the statements of comprehensive income.  

k) Recognition of revenue:

Revenue related to utility electricity sales and distribution is recorded based on metered 
electricity consumptions by customers, which occurs on a systematic basis throughout a 
month, rather than when the electricity is delivered.  At the end of each month, the 
electricity delivered to the customers from the date of their last meter read to the end of the 
month is estimated and the corresponding unbilled revenue is calculated.  These estimates 
of unbilled revenue are based on the ratio of billable days versus unbilled days, amount of 
electricity procured during that month, historical customer class usage patterns, line loss 
and current tariffs. 

Beginning in 2013, in accordance with the revenue decoupling mechanism approved by its 
regulator, the Company is required to charge approved annual delivery revenue evenly 
over its fiscal year.  As a result, the difference between delivery revenue calculated based 
on metered consumption and approved delivery revenue is recorded as a regulatory asset 
or liability to reflect future recovery or refund, respectively, from customers (note 6).
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

l) Income taxes:

The Company is a limited liability company and is a disregarded entity for income tax 
purposes.  Accordingly, it is not subject to federal income taxes or state income taxes. 
The tax on the Company’s net income is borne by the member through the allocation of 
taxable income.  Net income for financial statement purposes may differ significantly 
from taxable income of the member because of differences between the tax basis and 
financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and the taxable income allocation 
requirements under the operating agreement.  The aggregate difference in the basis of 
the net assets for financial and tax reporting purposes cannot be readily determined 
because it is based on the information regarding the member’s tax attributes.

m) Financial instruments:

Accounts receivable are measured at amortized cost.  Long-term liabilities are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, adjusted for the 
amortization or accretion of premiums or discounts. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issuance of financial liabilities are recorded in deferred financing 
costs. Deferred financing costs, premiums and discounts on long-term debt are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the financial liability as required by 
the regulator.

The Company enters into Power Purchase Agreements (“PPA”) for load serving 
requirements. These contracts meet the exemption for normal purchase and normal sales 
and as such, are not required to be recorded at fair value as derivatives and are accounted 
for on an accrual basis.  Counterparties are evaluated on an ongoing basis for non-
performance risk to ensure that it does not impact the conclusion with respect to this 
exemption.  

n) Fair value measurements:

The Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs 
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. The Company 
determines fair value based on assumptions that market participants would use in 
pricing an asset or liability in the principal or most advantageous market.  When 
considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, the following 
fair value hierarchy distinguishes between observable and unobservable inputs, which 
are categorized in one of the following levels:

• Level 1 Inputs: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities accessible to the reporting entity at the measurement date.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

n) Fair value measurements (continued)

• Level 2 Inputs: Other than quoted prices included in Level 1, inputs that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially 
the full term of the asset or liability.

• Level 3 Inputs: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability used to measure 
fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby 
allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset 
or liability at measurement date.

o) Commitments and contingencies:

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from environmental remediation, claims, 
assessments, litigation, fines, and penalties and other sources are recorded when it is 
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. 
Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred. 

p) Related party transactions:

Related party transactions have been recorded at the exchange amounts agreed to by 
the parties to the transactions. 

q) Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenue and expenses during the year.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  During the years presented, management has made a number of estimates 
and valuation assumptions, including the useful lives and recoverability of utility plant, the 
annual impairment testing of goodwill, timing effect of regulated assets and liabilities, 
pension and OPEB obligations. These estimates and valuation assumptions are based on 
present conditions and management’s planned course of action, as well as assumptions 
about future business and economic conditions.  Should the underlying valuation 
assumptions and estimates change, the recorded amounts could change by a material 
amount.
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2. Recently issued accounting pronouncements

a) Recently adopted accounting pronouncements:

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2013-11, Income 
Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating 
Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists. This newly 
issued accounting standard requires an entity to present an unrecognized tax benefit, or 
a portion of an unrecognized tax benefit as a reduction to a deferred income tax asset 
for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward, 
except in some specific situations.  The adoption of this standard did not have an 
impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

The FASB issued ASU 2013-04, Liabilities (Topic 405): Obligations Resulting from Joint 
and Several Liability Arrangements for Which the Total Amount of the Obligation Is 
Fixed at the Reporting Date.  This newly issued accounting standard provides guidance 
for the recognition, measurement, and disclosure of obligations resulting from joint and 
several liability arrangements for which the total amount of the obligation within the 
scope of this guidance is fixed at the reporting date, except for obligations addressed 
within existing guidance in U.S. GAAP.  Examples of obligations within the scope of this 
update include debt arrangements, other contractual obligations, and settled litigation 
and judicial rulings.  The adoption of this standard did not have an impact on the 
Company’s financial position or results of operations.

b) Recent accounting pronouncements not yet adopted:

The FASB issued ASU 2015-01, Income Statement: Extraordinary and Unusual Items 
(Subtopic 225-20), to simplify income statement classification by removing the concept 
of extraordinary items from U.S. GAAP. As a result, items that are both unusual and 
infrequent will no longer be separately reported net of tax after continuing operations. 
ASU 2015-01 may be applied prospectively or retrospectively to all prior periods 
presented in the financial statements. The standard is effective for periods beginning 
after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted, but only as of the beginning of 
the fiscal year of adoption. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have an 
impact on the Company's results of operations.

The FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board have jointly issued a new 
revenue recognition standard codified in U.S. GAAP as ASU 2014-09, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).  This newly issued accounting standard provides 
accounting guidance for all revenue arising from contracts with customers and affects 
all entities that enter into contracts to provide goods or services to their customers 
unless the contracts are in the scope of other U.S. GAAP requirements, such as the 
leasing literature.  ASU 2014-09 is required to be applied for fiscal years and interim 
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2. Recently issued accounting pronouncements (continued)

b) Recent accounting pronouncements not yet adopted (continued)

periods beginning after December 15, 2016 using either a full retrospective approach 
for all periods presented in the period of adoption or a modified retrospective approach.  
The Company is currently assessing the impact the adoption of this standard might 
have on its financial position or results of operations.

The FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements — Going 
Concern.  This new standard provides that in connection with preparing financial 
statements for each annual and interim reporting period, an entity’s management 
should evaluate whether there are conditions or events, that raise substantial doubt 
about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date 
that the financial statements are issued.  ASU 2014-15 will be effective for the annual 
reporting period ending after December 15, 2016, and for annual and interim periods 
thereafter.  Early application is permitted.  The adoption of this standard is not expected 
to have an impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations.

The FASB issued ASU 2014-08, Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205) and 
Property, Plant and Equipment (Topic 360): Reporting Discontinued Operations and 
Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity. This newly issued accounting 
standard raises the threshold for a disposal to qualify as a discontinued operation and 
requires new disclosures of both discontinued operations and certain other disposals 
that do not meet the definition of a discontinued operation.  ASU 2014-08 is required to 
be applied prospectively for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2014 and interim 
periods beginning after December 15, 2015.  The adoption of this standard is not 
expected to have an impact on the Company’s financial position or results of 
operations.

3. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2014 include unbilled revenue of $6,305 (December 31,
2013 - $7,033).  Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2014 is presented net of allowance for 
doubtful accounts of $157 (December 31, 2013 - $188).



LIBERTY UTILITIES (CALPECO ELECTRIC) LLC
Notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except as noted)

14

4. Utility plant

Utility plant of the Company consists of electricity distribution assets used to distribute electricity 
within a specific geographic service territory to supply end users with electricity. These assets 
include poles, towers and fixtures, low-voltage wires, transformers, overhead and underground 
conductors, street lighting, meters, metering equipment and other related equipment.

2014 2013

Land and land rights $         3,835 $         3,835
Plant - electricity 168,563 159,610
Equipment, office furniture and improvements 5,170 4,737

177,568 168,182
Accumulated depreciation (12,178) (8,938)

165,390 159,244
Construction work-in-progress 30,952 16,274

Net utility plant $      196,342 $    175,518

5. Advances in aid of construction

The Company has various agreements with real estate development companies (the “developers”) 
conducting business within the Company’s service territories, whereby funds are advanced to the 
Company by the developers to assist with funding some or all of the costs of the development.  
These amounts are recorded as advances in aid of construction (“AIAC”).  In many instances, 
AIAC can be subject to refund but the refund is non-interest bearing.  Refunds of AIAC are made 
over periods generally ranging from 10 to 20 years.  Advances not refunded within the prescribed 
period are usually not required to be repaid.  After the prescribed period has lapsed, any remaining 
unpaid balance is transferred to CIAC and recorded as an offsetting amount to the cost of utility 
plant. In 2014, $335 was transferred from AIAC to CIAC (2013 - $110).

6. Regulatory matters

The Company is subject to rate regulation by the CPUC, and the FERC in some instances.  The 
CPUC has jurisdiction with respect to rate, service, accounting procedures, issuance of 
securities, acquisitions and other matters.  The Company operates under cost-of-service 
regulation as administered by CPUC. The Company uses a test year in the establishment of its 
rates and pursuant to this method, the determination of the rate of return on approved rate base 
and deemed capital structure, together with all reasonable and prudent costs, establishes the 
revenue requirement upon which the Company’s customer rates are determined. 
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6. Regulatory matters (continued)

The Company is accounted for under the principles of ASC 980.  Under ASC 980, regulatory 
assets and liabilities that would not be recorded under U.S. GAAP for non-regulated entities are 
recorded to the extent that they represent probable future revenues or expenses associated 
with certain charges or credits that will be recovered from or refunded to customers through the 
rate-setting process.

The Company is required to file a rate case with its regulator on a regular three year cycle.  
Rate cases seek to ensure that the Company has the opportunity to recover its operating costs 
and earn a fair and reasonable return on its capital investment as allowed by the regulatory 
authority under which the Company operates. 

On February 17, 2012, the Company filed a general rate case and on November 29, 2012, 
approval of the All Parties General Rate Case Settlement (“Settlement”) was received from the 
CPUC and was effective January 1, 2013.  As an element of the decision, a revenue decoupling 
mechanism and a vegetation management memorandum account was agreed upon.  The 
revenue decoupling mechanism will decouple base revenue from fluctuations caused by 
weather and economic factors.  The vegetation management memorandum account allows for 
the tracking and pass through of vegetation management expenses, one of the largest 
expenses of the utility. 

Post Test Year Adjustment Mechanism (“PTAM”) 

The PTAM allows the Company to update its rates annually by a cost inflation index. In addition, 
rates are allowed to be updated to recover the return on investment and associated 
depreciation of major capital projects. 

Renewables Portfolio Standard

The Company is required to  satisfy the  current  20% California Renewables Portfolio Standard 
requirement.  The 20% California Renewables Portfolio Standard is currently met through 
deliveries under a PPA that is structured in a manner which satisfies the CPUC resource 
adequacy (“RA”) requirements, and is designed to enable the California Utility to comply with 
the associated RA reporting requirements.
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6. Regulatory matters (continued)

Regulatory assets and liabilities consist of the following:

2014 2013
Regulatory assets:

Rate case costs (i) $ 821 $ 977
Energy cost adjustment clause (ii) 400 -
Vegetation management (iii) 2,738 2,160
Rate adjustment mechanism (iv) 516 -
Other 4,452 1,058

Total regulatory assets 8,927             4,195
Less current regulatory assets (5,739) (1,146)

Non-current regulatory assets $ 3,188 $ 3,049

Regulatory liabilities:
Energy cost adjustment clause (ii)
Rate adjustment mechanism (iv)

$         -
-

$ 7,811
481

Cost of removal (v) 17,931 16,873
Other (vi) 42 1,136

Total regulatory liabilities 17,973 26,301
Less current regulatory liabilities (348) (5,808)

Non-current regulatory liabilities $ 17,625 $ 20,493

              i) Rate case costs:

The costs to file, prosecute and defend rate case applications are referred to as rate case 
costs.  These costs are capitalized and amortized over the period of rate recovery granted 
by the CPUC.  The Company does not earn a return on these amounts but receives
recovery of these costs in rates over the periods prescribed by the regulator (three years).

ii) Energy cost adjustment clause (“ECAC”):

ECAC is designed to recover or refund power supply costs that are caused by the 
fluctuations in the price of fuel and purchased power.  
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6. Regulatory matters (continued)

ii)   Energy cost adjustment clause (“ECAC”) (continued):

Under deferred energy accounting, to the extent actual purchased power costs differ from 
purchased power costs recoverable through current rates, that difference is not recorded on 
the statements of comprehensive income, but rather is deferred and recorded as a 
regulatory asset or liability on the balance sheets. These differences are reflected in 
adjustments to rates and recorded as an adjustment to cost of electricity in future periods, 
subject to regulatory review. The Company also records and is eligible to recover a carrying 
charge on such deferred balances.

iii)   Vegetation management:

The costs to maintain vegetation around the distribution lines are referred to as vegetation 
management.  These costs are capitalized and amortized over the period of rate recovery 
granted by the CPUC.  The Company does not earn a return on these amounts but receives 
recovery of these costs in rates over the periods prescribed by the regulator (three years).

iv)   Rate Adjustment Mechanism:

The Company is subject to a revenue decoupling mechanism approved by the regulator 
which requires charging approved annual delivery revenues on a systematic basis over the 
fiscal year. As a result, the difference between delivery revenue calculated based on 
metered consumption and approved delivery revenue is recorded as a regulatory asset or 
liability to reflect future recovery or refund, respectively, from customers. In addition, 
retroactive rate adjustments for services rendered but collected over a period not exceeding 
twenty-four months is accrued upon approval of the Final Order.

v)   Cost of removal:

The regulatory liability for cost of removal represents amounts that have been collected 
from rate payers for costs that are expected to be incurred in the future to retire utility plant.

vi) Other:

These amounts relate to mandated initiative programs.

7. Due to related parties

Due to related parties represents advances for current operating costs and reimbursement for 
management and accounting services provided by entities related to Liberty Utilities as well as 
other third-party costs incurred by entities related to Liberty Utilities on behalf of the Company. 
These amounts do not bear interest and have no fixed repayment terms.  Total amounts 
allocated for 2014 and 2013 were $2,339 and $2,030, respectively.
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7. Due to related parties (continued)

Periodically there are advances due to and from related parties.  Such advances do not bear 
interest and are due on demand.  As of December 31, 2014, the amount payable to related 
parties amounts to $26,283 (2013 - $4,641).

8. Long-term liabilities

In 2011, the Company issued $70,000 senior unsecured notes consisting of $45,000 bearing an 
interest rate of 5.19% and maturing on December 29, 2020, and $25,000 bearing an interest 
rate of 5.59% and maturing on December 29, 2025.  The notes are interest only, payable semi-
annually with principal due on maturity.  The notes have certain financial covenants which must 
be maintained on a quarterly basis.  The Company was in compliance with the covenants, as of
December 31, 2014.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had accrued nil in interest expense (2013 - nil).
Interest paid on the long-term liabilities in 2014 was $3,733 (2013 - $3,733).

9. Pension and other post-retirement benefits

The Company has a defined benefit cash balance pension plan covering substantially all of its 
employees, under which employees are credited with a percentage of base pay plus a 
prescribed interest rate credit. The plan interest credit rate varies from year to year based on 
the five-year U.S. Treasury bonds yield plus 0.25%. Employees’ benefits under the plan are 
fully vested upon completion of three years of service. The Company’s policy is to make 
contributions within the range determined by generally accepted actuarial principles. The 
Company also has an other post-employment benefit (“OPEB”) plan providing health care and 
life insurance coverage to eligible retired employees. Eligibility is based on age and length of 
service requirements and, in most cases, retirees must cover a portion of the cost of their 
coverage.

a) Net pension and OPEB obligation:

The following table sets forth the projected benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets, and 
funded status of the Company’s plans as of December 31:
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9. Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

Pension benefits OPEB
2014 2013 2014 2013

Change in projected benefit obligation
Projected benefit obligation, at beginning of year $1,315 $ 665 $     840 $ 997
Modifications to pension plan (404) 178 - -
Service cost 489 472 76 87
Interest cost 81 47 45 37
Actuarial loss (gain) 364 9 302 (279)
Benefits paid - (56) - (2)
Projected benefit obligation, at end of year $ 1,845 $ 1,315 $ 1,263 $ 840
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, at beginning of 
year

$ 444 $ 182 $          - $         -

Actual return on plan assets 36 13 - -
Employer contributions 722 306 - 2
Benefits paid - (57) - (2)
Fair value of plan assets, at end of year $ 1,202 $ 444 $          - $         -
Unfunded status $ (642) $ (871) $ (1263) $ (840)
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet 
consists of:

Non-current liabilities $  (642) $ (871) $ (1,263) $ (840)
Net amount recognized $  (642) $  (871) $ (1,263) $  (840)

The accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plan was $1,699 and $1,224 as of 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

(a) Net pension and OPEB obligation (continued)

The amounts recognized in AOCI were as follows:

AOCI
Pension OPEB

Balance, January 1, 2013 $172 $ 566
Current year net actuarial loss (gain) 7 (279)
Current year prior service loss 179 -
Amortization of net actuarial loss (22) (25)
Balance, December 31, 2013 $ 336 $ 262
Current year net actuarial loss 363 301
Current year prior service loss (credit) (404) -
Amortization of net actuarial loss (4) (15)
Amortization of prior service loss (credit) (14) -

Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 277 $ 548
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9. Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

b) Assumptions:

Assumptions used to determine the net benefit cost for 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

Pension benefits OPEB
2014 2013 2014 2013

Discount rate 4.59% 3.59% 4.89% 4.03%

Expected return on assets 5.50% 5.50% N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase 3.00% 4.00% N/A N/A

Health care cost trend rate:

Before age 65 7.50% 8.00%

Age 65 and after 7.50% 8.00%

Assumed Ultimate Medical Inflation Rate 5.00% 5.00%

Year in which Ultimate Rate is reached 2019 2019

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligation for 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

Pension benefits OPEB
2014 2013 2014 2013

Discount rate 3.15% 4.59% 3.94% 4.89% 

Rate of compensation increase 3.00% 3.00% N/A N/A

The Company used the new mortality tables (RP-2014) and the mortality improvement scale 
(MP-2014) that were recently released by the Society of Actuaries in the current year 
assumptions. This change resulted in an increase to the pension and OPEB obligations of 
approximately $75.

In selecting an assumed discount rate, the Company uses a modeling process that involves 
selecting a portfolio of high-quality corporate debt issuances (AA- or better) whose cash flows 
(via coupons or maturities) match the timing and amount of the Company's expected future 
benefit payments. The Company considers the results of this modeling process, as well as 
overall rates of return on high-quality corporate bonds and changes in such rates over time, to 
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9. Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

determine its assumed discount rate.  The rate of return assumptions are based on projected 
long-term market returns for the various asset classes in which the plans are invested, weighted 
by the target asset allocations.

The effect of a one percent change in the assumed health care cost trend rate (“HCCTR”) for        
2014 is as follows:

2014
Effect of a one percentage point increase in the HCCTR on:

Year-end benefit obligation $ 147
Total service and interest cost 13

Effect of a one percentage point decrease in the HCCTR on: 
Year-end benefit obligation $ (108)
Total service and interest cost (10)

c) Benefit costs:

The following table lists the components of net benefit costs for the pension plans and 
OPEB recorded as part of operating costs in the statements of comprehensive income. 

Pension benefits OPEB
2014 2013 2014 2013

Service cost $ 489 $  472 $ 76 $    87
Interest cost 81 47 45 37
Expected return on plan assets (35) (12) - -
Amortization of net actuarial loss 18           22 15 25
Net benefit cost $  553 $  529 $ 136 $ 149

The net actuarial loss for the defined benefit pension plan and OPEB that will be amortized 
from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic benefit cost over the next 
fiscal year are $7 and $14, respectively. 

d) Plan assets:

The Company’s investment strategy for its pension and post-retirement plan assets is to 
maintain a diversified portfolio of assets with the primary goal of meeting long-term cash 
requirements as they become due.
The Company's target asset allocation is 49.7% in equity securities and 50.3% in debt 
securities.
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9. Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

The fair value of investments as of December 31, 2014, by asset category, are as follows:

Asset class Level 1 Percentage
Equity securities $ 598           49.7 %
Debt securities 605             50.3 %

e) Cash flows:

The Company expects to contribute $537 to its pension plans and $13 to its post-retirement     
benefit plans in 2015.

The expected benefit payments over the next ten years are as follows:

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020-
2024

Pension 
plan

$ 129 $118 $ 134 $ 161 $ 202 $ 1,545

OPEB 13 17 19 20 38 326

10. Member’s capital

The Company is a single member limited liability corporation.  As of December 31, 2014, there 
are 61,789,763 issued membership units of equity of the Company outstanding (2013 -
61,789,763), all of which belong to Liberty Utilities.

11. Commitments

The Company is involved in various litigation arising out of the ordinary course and conduct of 
its business.  Although such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not 
consider the Company’s exposure to such litigation to be material to these financial statements.  
Accruals for any contingencies related to these items, if any, are recorded in the financial 
statements at the time it is concluded that its occurrence is probable and the related liability is 
estimable.
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11. Commitments (continued)

The Company has outstanding purchase commitments for power purchases and vehicle leases.
Detailed below are estimates of future commitments under these agreements:

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter Total

Purchased power $40,754 $         - $         - $        - $        - $          - $40,754

Operating leases 267 46 46 7 - - 366

Total $41,021 $ 46 $ 46 $ 7 $        - $          - $41,120

The Company leases vehicles as part of its operations.  The terms of these leases have varying 
maturity dates that continue up to 2018. The payments are fixed over the term of the lease.  

The Company has entered into a five-year all-purpose PPA to provide its full electric 
requirements at certain average cost rates that have been approved by the Company and its 
supplier.  The PPA has an effective starting date of January 1, 2011 with a five-year renewal 
option.  The commitment amounts included above are based on market prices as of December 
31, 2014.  However, the effects of purchased power unit cost adjustments are mitigated through 
a purchased power rate-adjustment mechanism. 

12. Changes in other operating items

The change in other operating items consists of the following:

2014 2013

Accounts receivable $ 1,050 $ (235)
Prepaid expenses 145 (202)
Supplies and consumables inventory (653) (893)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,381) (131)
Due to/from related parties 21,642 (299)
Net regulatory assets and liabilities (14,579) (3,419)

$ 6,224 $ (5,179)
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13. Financial instruments

a) Fair value of financial instruments:

2014 2013
Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Long-term liabilities $70,000 $77,696 $70,000 $72,828

The Company has determined that the carrying value of its short-term financial assets and 
liabilities approximates fair value as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 due to the short-term 
maturity of these instruments.

Long-term liabilities (Level 2 inputs) are at fixed interest rates.  The estimated fair value is 
calculated using the current interest rates.

Advances in aid of construction has a carrying value of $14,753 as at December 31, 2014 (2013 
- $14,767).  Portions of these non-interest bearing instruments are payable annually through 
2024, including new customer connections, customer consumption levels, and future rate 
increase.  However, amounts not paid by the contract expiration date become non-refundable.  
Their relative fair values cannot be accurately estimated because future refund payments 
depend on several variables. The fair value of these amounts would be less than their carrying 
value due to the non-interest bearing feature.

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, using available information about the 
financial instrument.  These estimates are subjective in nature and often cannot be determined 
with precision.

The Company’s accounting policy is to recognize transfers between levels of the fair value 
hierarchy on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.  There 
were no transfers into or out of Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 during the years ended December 
31, 2014 or 2013.

b) Risk management:

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to financial risks that potentially 
impact its operating results.  The Company employs risk management strategies with a view to 
mitigating these risks to the extent possible on a cost-effective basis.  The Company does not 
enter into derivative financial agreements for speculative purposes.  
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13. Financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company’s financial instruments that are 
exposed to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents and accounts
receivable. The Company limits its exposure to credit risk with respect to cash equivalents by 
ensuring available cash is deposited with large financial institutions in the U.S. all of which have 
a credit rating of A or better.

Credit risk related to the accounts receivable balance of $11,119 is spread over thousands of 
customers.  The Company has processes in place to monitor and evaluate this risk on an 
ongoing basis including background credit checks and security deposits from new customers.  
In addition, the CPUC allows for a reasonable bad debt expense to be incorporated into rates 
and therefore recovered from rate payers.  

As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for these financial 
instruments was as follows:

2014

Cash and cash equivalents $ 64
Accounts receivable 11,276
Allowance for doubtful accounts (157)

$ 11,183

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due.  The Company's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, to the extent possible, 
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.
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13. Financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Company’s liabilities mature as follows:

Due less 
than 1 year

Due 2-3
years

Due 4-5
years

Due after 5 
years Total

Long-term debt 
obligations

$         - $         - $        - $        70,000 $70,000

Advances in aid of 
construction

- - - 14,753 14,753

Purchase obligations 10,117 - - - 10,117

Interest on long-term 
debt

3,733 7,466 7,466 10,720 29,385

Other obligations 671 - - - 671

Total $ 14,521 $ 7,466 $   7,466 $        95,473 $124,926

14.      Comparative figures

Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement
presentation adopted in the current year. 
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May 14, 2014

Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp.
NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF COMMON SHAREHOLDERS
MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR

Dear Shareholder,

We invite you to attend the Annual Meeting of Common Shareholders on Wednesday, June 18, 2014. It will 
be held at the Oakville Conference Centre, 2515 Wyecroft Road, Oakville, Ontario, L6L 6P8, at 4:00 p.m.
(Eastern Time).

The Board of Directors and management are looking forward to meeting with you to discuss the achievements 
in 2013 and outline some of our plans for the future of Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. The meeting will
provide an opportunity to ask questions and meet with management, the Board of Directors and fellow 
shareholders. 

At the meeting, shareholders will be voting on a number of matters. Please take the time to read this 
Management Information Circular. It contains important information about the business to be conducted at the 
meeting, the Board of Director nominees, the Board of Director’s corporate governance practices, and our 
approach to compensation.

It is important that you exercise your vote, either in person at the meeting, or by completing and sending in 
your proxy or voting instruction form prior to the meeting.

We look forward to seeing you.

Yours Sincerely,

(signed) “Kenneth Moore” (signed) “Ian Robertson”

Kenneth Moore Ian Robertson
Chair of the Board of Directors Chief Executive Officer

It is important to vote your shares.
Please submit your vote before the date indicated on your voting 
instruction form, or by Tuesday, June 17, 2014 if voting by proxy.



Notice of Annual Meeting of Common Shareholders of
Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp.

Date
Wednesday, June 18, 2014

Time
4:00 p.m. (Eastern Time)

Place
Oakville Conference Centre

2515 Wyecroft Road

Oakville, Ontario, L6L 6P8

Business of the Annual Meeting
of Common Shareholders

At the meeting, shareholders will be asked to:

1. Receive the financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 and the auditor’s report on the 
statements;

2. Appoint the auditor;

3. Elect directors;

4. Consider, and if thought fit, pass an advisory resolution 
(the full text of which is set out in Schedule “A” to this
Circular) approving the Corporation’s approach to 
executive compensation, as further described in the 
Circular;

5. Consider, and if thought fit, pass a resolution (the full 
text of which is set out in Schedule “B” to this Circular) 
approving the adoption of the Corporation’s 
performance and restricted share unit plan, as fully 
described in Schedule “C” to this Circular; and to

6. Consider any other business that may be properly 
brought before the Annual Meeting of Common 
Shareholders or any adjournment.

By order of the Board of Directors

(signed) “Kenneth Moore”

Kenneth Moore
Chair of the Board of Directors
May 14, 2014

Important
If you are unable to attend the meeting in person, please complete, sign and return the enclosed form 
of proxy to the Corporation, c/o CST Trust Company, in the envelope provided for that purpose, or 
deliver it by mail to the Corporation, c/o CST Trust Company, P.O. Box 721, Agincourt, Ontario, M1S 
0A1, or by facsimile to 416-368-2502 or 1-866-781-3111, or by electronic mail to 
proxy@canstockta.com so as to arrive not later than 4:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on June 17, 2014.



MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR
May 14, 2014

We are sending you this Management Information Circular to solicit proxies by and on behalf of 
management of Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. for use at our Annual Meeting of Common 
Shareholders on June 18, 2014, or any adjournment. You are entitled to receive notice of and vote at the 
meeting if you were a shareholder as of the close of business on May 12, 2014. We encourage you to review this 
Circular and exercise your right to vote.

Enclosed with this Circular is a proxy or voting instruction form. The solicitation will be made primarily by mail, but 
proxies may also be solicited personally, in writing or by telephone by employees of the Corporation, the directors 
(“Directors”) of the Corporation or by the Corporation’s transfer agent, CST Trust Company, at a nominal cost. 
The costs of solicitation will be borne by the Corporation.

“Algonquin”, “the Corporation”, “we” and “our” means Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp., unless otherwise 
indicated. “Common Shareholder”, “shareholder”, “you” and “your” means a holder of common shares (“Common 
Shares”) of Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp.

All dollar amounts in this Circular are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated.

The information in this Circular is as of May 12, 2014 unless we have stated otherwise.

Approval of this Circular
The Board of Directors has approved the content and sending of this Management Information Circular.

(signed) “Kenneth Moore”

Kenneth Moore
Chair of the Board of Directors
Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp.
May 14, 2014
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Caution concerning forward-looking statements and non-GAAP Measures

Forward-looking statements
Certain statements included herein contain forward-looking information within the meaning of certain securities laws. These 
statements reflect the views of Algonquin with respect to future events, based upon assumptions relating to, among others, the 
performance of Algonquin’s assets and the business, interest and exchange rates, commodity market prices, and the financial and 
regulatory climate in which it operates. These forward looking statements include, among others, statements with respect to 
the expected performance of Algonquin, its future plans and its dividends to shareholders. Statements containing expressions such as 
“anticipates”, “believes”, “continues”, “could”, “expect”, “estimates”, “intends”, “may”, “outlook”, “plans”, “project”, “strives”, “will”, and 
similar expressions generally constitute forward-looking statements.

Since forward-looking statements relate to future events and conditions, by their very nature they require Algonquin to make 
assumptions and involve inherent risks and uncertainties. Algonquin cautions that although it believes its assumptions are reasonable 
in the circumstances, these risks and uncertainties give rise to the possibility that actual results may differ materially from the 
expectations set out in the forward-looking statements. Material risk factors include the impact of movements in exchange rates and 
interest rates; the effects of changes in environmental and other laws and regulatory policy applicable to the energy and utilities 
sectors; decisions taken by regulators on monetary policy; and the state of the Canadian and the United States (“U.S.”) economies 
and accompanying business climate. Algonquin cautions that this list is not exhaustive, and other factors could adversely affect 
results. Given these risks, undue reliance should not be placed on these forward-looking statements. In addition, such statements are 
made based on information available and expectations as of the date of this document and such expectations may change after this 
date. Algonquin reviews material forward-looking information it has presented, not less frequently than on a quarterly basis. Algonquin
is not obligated to nor does it intend to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future 
developments or otherwise, except as required by law.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
The terms “adjusted net earnings”, “earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization” (“EBITDA”) and “adjusted earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization” (“Adjusted EBITDA”) are used throughout this document. The terms adjusted 
net earnings, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not recognized measures under United States Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (“GAAP”). There is no standardized measure of adjusted net earnings, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, consequently 
Algonquin’s method of calculating these measures may differ from methods used by other companies and therefore may not be 
comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. 

EBITDA is a non-GAAP metric used by many investors to compare companies on the basis of ability to generate cash from 
operations. Algonquin uses these calculations to monitor the amount of cash generated by Algonquin as compared to the amount of 
dividends paid by Algonquin. Algonquin uses Adjusted EBITDA to assess the operating performance of the Corporation without the 
effects of (as applicable): depreciation and amortization expense, income tax expense or recoveries, acquisition costs, litigation 
expenses, interest expense, gain or loss on derivative financial instruments, write down of intangibles and property, plant and 
equipment, earnings attributable to non-controlling interests and gain or loss on foreign exchange, earnings or loss from discontinued 
operations and other typically non-recurring items. Algonquin adjusts for these factors as they may be non-cash, unusual in nature 
and are not factors used by management for evaluating the operating performance of the Corporation. Algonquin believes that 
presentation of this measure will enhance an investor’s understanding of Algonquin’s operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA is not 
intended to be representative of cash provided by operating activities or results of operations determined in accordance with GAAP.

Adjusted net earnings is a non-GAAP metric used by many investors to compare net earnings from operations without the effects of 
certain volatile primarily non-cash items that generally have no current economic impact or items such as acquisition expenses or 
litigation expenses and are viewed as not directly related to a company’s operating performance. Net earnings of Algonquin can be 
impacted positively or negatively by gains and losses on derivative financial instruments, including foreign exchange forward
contracts, interest rate swaps and energy forward purchase contracts as well as to movements in foreign exchange rates on foreign 
currency denominated debt and working capital balances. Adjusted weighted average shares outstanding represents weighted 
average shares outstanding adjusted to remove the dilution effect related to shares issued in advance of funding requirements. 
Algonquin uses adjusted net earnings to assess its performance without the effects of (as applicable): gains or losses on foreign 
exchange, foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps, acquisition costs, litigation expenses and write down of 
intangibles and property, plant and equipment, earnings or loss from discontinued operations and other typically non-recurring items 
as these are not reflective of the performance of the underlying business of Algonquin. Algonquin believes that analysis and 
presentation of net earnings or loss on this basis will enhance an investor’s understanding of the operating performance of its 
businesses. It is not intended to be representative of net earnings or loss determined in accordance with US GAAP.

A calculation and analysis of adjusted net earnings, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA can be found in the Corporation’s most 
recent Management’s Discussion & Analysis filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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VOTING INFORMATION

You are asked to vote on the following items:

Election of Directors;
Appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as auditors;
An advisory resolution to accept the approach to executive compensation disclosed in this Circular; and
A resolution (the full text of which is set out in Schedule “B” to this Circular) approving the adoption of the 
Corporation’s performance and restricted share unit plan, as further described in this Circular, and as fully set 
out in Schedule “C” to this circular.

A simple majority of the votes cast by proxy or in person will constitute approval of matters voted on at the 
Meeting, except as otherwise specified.

On May 12, 2014, the record date established for notice of the Meeting, there were 207,450,360 outstanding
Common Shares that are eligible to vote. Each outstanding Common Share is entitled to one vote. All 
Shareholders as of the record date are entitled to vote at the Meeting, or any adjournment, either in person or by 
proxy.

To the knowledge of the Directors and officers of the Corporation, as of the date of this Circular, no person or 
company beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or controlled or directed 10% or more of the Corporation’s 
Common Shares, except Emera Incorporated (“Emera”), that directly owns 50,126,766 Common Shares, 
representing 24% of the outstanding Common Shares. As described in a strategic investment agreement between 
Emera and the Corporation, Emera has control and direction over 15% of the Common Shares directly owned by 
Emera, while the remaining Common Shares owned by Emera are subject to contractual obligations generally 
requiring Emera to vote in favour of matters recommended by the Board of Directors for approval by shareholders
of the Corporation.

VOTING INSTRUCTIONS

You can vote your Common Shares by proxy or in person at the Meeting. Please follow the instructions below 
based on whether you are a registered or beneficial (non-registered) shareholder.

Beneficial (non-registered) Shareholders

You are a non-registered shareholder (“Non-Registered Holder”) if you hold Common Shares through an 
intermediary such as a securities broker, trustee, financial institution, or depository such as CDS Inc.

Non-Registered Holders should carefully follow the instructions of their intermediaries and their intermediaries’ 
service companies regarding the voting process.

The Corporation has distributed copies of the meeting materials to intermediaries for further distribution to Non-
Registered Holders. Intermediaries are required to forward the meeting materials to Non-Registered Holders and 
receive voting instructions from them unless a Non-Registered Holder has waived the right to receive the meeting 
materials. Intermediaries often use service companies to forward the meeting materials to Non-Registered 
Holders. Generally, Non-Registered Holders who have not waived the right to receive the meeting materials will:

(a) be given a voting instruction form which must be completed and signed by the Non-Registered 
Holder in accordance with the instructions on the form (which may, in some cases, permit the 
completion of the voting instruction form by telephone, fax or internet); or 

(b) less typically, be given a proxy which has already been signed by the intermediary, restricted as 
to the number of Common Shares beneficially owned by the Non-Registered Holder, but which is 
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otherwise uncompleted. The Non-Registered Holder who wishes to submit the proxy should 
properly complete and deposit it with the Corporation or CST Trust Company, as described in the 
notice of meeting. This proxy need not be signed by the Non-Registered Holder.

The purpose of these procedures is to permit Non-Registered Holders to direct the voting of the Common Shares 
which they beneficially own. 

Voting in person at the Meeting
We do not have unrestricted access to the names of our non-registered shareholders. If you attend the Meeting, 
we may have no record of your shareholdings or entitlement to vote, unless your intermediary has appointed you 
as proxyholder. 

Should a Non-Registered Holder who receives a proxy signed by the intermediary wish to attend and vote at the 
Meeting in person (or have another person attend and vote on behalf of the Non-Registered Holder), the Non-
Registered Holder should:

strike out the names of the persons named in the proxy and insert the name of the Non-Registered Holder (or 
such other person) in the blank space provided. 
Do not fill in the voting instructions because you will be voting at the meeting.
When you arrive at the Meeting, present yourself to a representative at the registration table.

A Non-Registered Holder who receives a voting instruction form should follow the instructions for voting in person 
that are provided on the voting instruction form.

Changing your vote
If you have already sent your completed voting instruction form to your intermediary and you change your mind 
about your voting instructions, or want to vote in person at the Meeting, contact your intermediary to find out 
whether this is possible and what procedure to follow.

Registered Shareholders
You are a registered shareholder if you have a share certificate for Common Shares and they are registered in
your name or if you hold Common Shares through direct registration. You will find a form of proxy in this package.

Voting by proxy
Voting by proxy means you are giving the person or persons named in your form of proxy the authority to attend 
the Meeting, or any adjournment, and vote your Common Shares for you. Please mark your vote, sign, date and 
follow the return instructions provided in the enclosed form of proxy. By doing this, you are giving the Directors or 
officers of Algonquin who are named in the form of proxy the authority to vote your Common Shares at the 
Meeting, or any adjournment.

You can choose another person or company to be your proxyholder, including someone who is not a 
shareholder of Algonquin. You can do so by inserting the name of the person or company in the blank 
space provided on the form of proxy. If you appoint someone else, he or she must be present at the 
Meeting to vote your Common Shares.

Voting at the Meeting
You do not need to complete or return your form of proxy.
Simply attend the Meeting and present yourself to a representative at the registration table.
You will be provided with ballots in order to vote at the Meeting.
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Changing your vote
A Shareholder who has given a proxy may revoke the proxy by delivering a signed written notice, including 
another proxy, to the Corporation as provided below. A Shareholder may also revoke a proxy in any other manner 
permitted by law, but prior to the exercise of such proxy in respect of any particular matter.

How your proxy will be voted
On the form of proxy, you can indicate how you want your proxyholder to vote your Common Shares, or you can 
let your proxyholder decide for you. If you have specified on the form of proxy how you want your Common 
Shares to be voted on a particular issue then your proxyholder must follow your instructions. If you have not
specified on the form of proxy how you want your Common Shares to be voted on a particular issue, then your 
proxyholder can vote your Common Shares as he or she sees fit.

Processing the votes
Proxies are counted by our transfer agent, CST Trust Company. CST Trust Company protects the confidentiality 
of individual shareholder votes, except if:

the shareholder clearly intends to communicate his or her individual position to the board or management; or
it is necessary to comply with legal requirements.

Voting results
Following the Meeting, a report on the voting results will be available in the investor centre of our website at
www.algonquinpowerandutilities.com and will be filed with securities regulators at www.sedar.com.

Meeting minutes
The minutes of the Meeting will be available in the investor centre of our website at
www.algonquinpowerandutilities.com and printed copies may be obtained free of charge from the Corporation by 
contacting: Chief General Counsel & Corporate Secretary, Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp., 2845 Bristol Circle,
Oakville, Ontario, Canada L6H 7H7.

To be effective, proxies must be deposited with the Corporation, by mail to CST Trust Company, P.O. Box 721, 
Agincourt, Ontario, M1S 0A1, or by facsimile to 416-368-2502 or 1-866-781-3111, or by electronic mail to 
proxy@canstockta.com not later than 4:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on June 17, 2014 or, if the Meeting is adjourned, 
not later than 48 hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays, preceding the time of such adjourned 
meeting. Proxies may also be delivered to the chair of the Meeting before the commencement of the Meeting or 
any adjournment thereof. 
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MATTERS TO BE ACTED ON AT THE MEETING

1. Receipt of Financial Statements
The audited consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 are 
included in the Annual Report, which has been mailed to shareholders, is available in electronic format on 
Algonquin’s website at www.algonquinpowerandutilities.com, and will also be presented at the Meeting.

2. Appointment of Auditor
The Audit Committee has reviewed the performance of Ernst & Young LLP, including its independence relating to 
the audit and recommends the re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors. Ernst & Young LLP have been 
auditors of the Corporation since 2013.

In the absence of a contrary instruction, the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy intend to vote 
FOR the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of the Corporation to hold office until the next 
annual meeting of Shareholders or until a successor is appointed.

3. Election of Directors
The Corporation’s articles provide that the Board is to consist of a minimum of three (3) and maximum of twelve
(12) directors. The number of Directors to be elected at the Meeting is seven (7). The seven (7) persons proposed 
for nomination for election as Directors are listed in the “Director Nominees” section of this circular. Under the 
Corporation’s by-laws, Directors are elected annually. Each Director elected at the Meeting will hold office until 
the next annual meeting or until his or her successor is duly elected or appointed.

In the absence of a contrary instruction, the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy intend 
to vote FOR the appointment as Directors of the proposed nominees whose names are set out in the 
“Director Nominees” section of this circular, each of whom has been a Director since the date indicated 
opposite the proposed nominee’s name. Management does not contemplate that any of the proposed 
nominees will be unable to serve as a Director but, if that should occur for any reason prior to the Meeting, the 
persons named in the enclosed form of proxy reserve the right to vote for another nominee in their discretion. 

4. Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation
In May 2012, the Board adopted a policy to annually provide Shareholders with an advisory vote, based on the 
Model ‘Say on Pay’ Policy for Boards of Directors published by the Canadian Coalition for Good Governance. 

The Board believes that Shareholders should have the opportunity to fully understand the objectives, philosophy 
and principles the Board has used in its approach to executive compensation decisions and to have an advisory 
vote on the Board’s approach to executive compensation. 

We hope that Shareholders will carefully review the “Statement of Corporate Governance Practices” section 
beginning at page 18 and “Statement of Executive Compensation Practices” section beginning at page 27 of this 
Circular before voting on this matter. The “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” section discusses the 
Corporation’s compensation philosophy and approach to executive compensation, what our named executive 
officers are paid and how their level of compensation is determined. This disclosure has been approved by the 
Board of Directors on the recommendation of the Corporate Governance Committee.

We encourage any Shareholder who has comments on the Corporation’s approach to executive compensation to 
forward these comments to the Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee at Algonquin Power & Utilities 
Corp., 2845 Bristol Circle, Oakville, Ontario, L6H 7H7, Attention: Chief General Counsel & Corporate Secretary.

At the Meeting, Shareholders will have the opportunity to vote on the Corporation’s approach to executive 
compensation through consideration of the advisory resolution set out in Schedule “A” of this Circular.
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As this is an advisory vote, the results will not be binding upon the Board. However, the Board will take into 
account the results of the vote, together with feedback received from Shareholders in the course of Shareholder 
engagement activities, in considering its approach to executive compensation in the future.

Unless otherwise instructed, the persons designated in the form of proxy intend to vote FOR the advisory 
resolution on executive compensation.

5. Performance and Restricted Share Unit Plan
Effective January 1, 2011, the Corporation adopted a performance share unit plan for employees of the 
Corporation and its participating affiliates (the “Original PSU Plan”), under which employees could be awarded 
performance share units (“PSUs”) which track the value of the Corporation’s Common Shares over time, and 
which could be paid out following vesting in cash or in Common Shares purchased on the open market. On March 
6, 2014, the Board approved amendments to the Original PSU Plan, to allow plan awards to be paid in whole or in 
part with Common Shares issued from treasury, to allow restricted share units (“RSUs”) to be awarded under the 
plan, to conform provisions of the plan to TSX requirements or general corporate governance principles and to 
make certain other consequential amendments. 

The Original PSU Plan, with the amendments approved by the Board in March 2014 (as amended, the “PSU and 
RSU Plan”), has been approved by the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”), subject to Shareholder approval at 
the Meeting. If the PSU and RSU Plan is approved by Shareholders at the Meeting, the plan will become effective 
as of the date of the Meeting.

The primary terms of the PSU and RSU Plan are described below, and the full text of the plan is included as 
Schedule “C” to this circular.

Purposes of the PSU and RSU Plan
The purposes of the PSU and RSU Plan are to (i) promote a significant alignment between employees of the 
Corporation and the growth objectives of the Corporation, (ii) associate a portion of participating employees’ 
compensation with the performance of the Corporation over the long term and (iii) retain critical employees to 
drive the business success of the Corporation.

Participants
Grants may be made under the PSU and RSU Plan to executives or other employees of the Corporation or of any 
affiliate of the Corporation. For the purpose of the PSU and RSU Plan, an “affiliate” is any corporation, partnership 
or other entity (i) in which the Corporation, directly or indirectly, has majority ownership interest or (ii) which the 
Corporation controls.

Committee 
The PSU and RSU Plan, like the Original PSU Plan, will be administered by a committee (the “Committee”)
consisting of designated executives of the Corporation or its relevant affiliates or, in respect of any grants made to 
such designated executives, the Board or a committee designated by the Board. 

The Committee has the authority, among other things, to (i) make grants of PSUs or RSUs to participants under 
the PSU and RSU Plan as reflected in an award agreement thereunder (an “Award Agreement”); (ii) determine 
the terms of the grants of PSUs and RSUs, including vesting terms, any performance criteria applicable to PSUs, 
the manner of settlement of PSUs and RSUs and the consequence of a termination of employment of the 
participant; (iii) determine whether and the extent to which performance criteria applicable to the vesting of a PSU 
or other conditions to the vesting of a PSU or RSU have been satisfied or are to be waived or modified; (iv) 
amend the terms of any outstanding Award Agreement (but only with consent of the relevant participant where an 
amendment would materially adversely affect the existing rights of the participant with respect to then outstanding 
PSUs or RSUs, except where the amendment is required to comply with applicable law); (v) determine whether 
any adjustments to the terms of the PSUs or RSUs are required to reflect stock dividends, stock splits or other 
corporate reorganizations affecting the Common Shares, and the terms of those adjustments; (vi) interpret the 
PSU and RSU Plan and any Award Agreements; and (vii) make other determinations deemed necessary or 
advisable for the administration of the PSU and RSU Plan. 
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Award Determination
Awards granted under the PSU and RSU Plan will be made with a specified dollar value (the “Award Value”) as 
of the date of grant, as determined by the Committee. In the case of PSUs, the Committee may determine any 
performance criteria applicable to the PSU.

The number of PSUs granted to a participant for a performance period is determined by dividing the Award Value 
for the award to such participant divided by the Market Value of the Common Shares as at the end of the calendar 
quarter immediately preceding the date of the award, rounded down to the next whole number.

The number of RSUs granted to a participant is determined by dividing the Award Value of the award provided to 
the participant in the form of RSUs by the Market Value of the Common Shares as at the end of the calendar 
quarter immediately preceding the date of the award, rounded down to the next whole number.

The “Market Value” for purposes of the PSU and RSU Plan is (i) the volume-weighted average trading price of 
the Common Shares on the TSX (or such other stock exchange in Canada on which the Common Shares are 
traded) for the five trading days preceding the date in question, or (ii) if the Common Shares are not traded on a 
stock exchange, the fair market value of the Common Shares as determined by the Committee.

Adjustments to PSUs and RSUs
Whenever cash dividends are paid on the Common Shares during the performance period applicable to a 
particular Award Agreement, additional PSUs or RSUs (“Dividend PSUs” or “Dividend RSUs”), as applicable, 
will be credited to the participant’s PSU or RSU account, as applicable. The number of Dividend PSUs or 
Dividend RSUs to be so credited will be calculated by dividing (i) the amount of the cash dividend that would have 
been paid to the participant if each of the PSUs and RSUs recorded in the participant’s account as at the record 
date for the cash dividend had been Common Shares by (ii) the Market Value on the date on which the dividend 
is paid on the Common Shares.

In the event of any stock dividends, stock splits or other corporate reorganizations affecting the Common Shares,
proportionate adjustments to reflect such change or changes will be made with respect to the number of PSUs 
and RSUs outstanding under the PSU and RSU Plan, on a basis proportionate to the number of PSUs and RSUs 
in the participant’s account or some other appropriate basis, all as determined by the Committee.

Vesting and Payment of Awards
Each whole PSU and RSU will give a participant the right to receive either Common Shares or a cash payment, 
as determined by the Committee, in accordance with the terms of the PSU and RSU Plan and the applicable 
Award Agreement. A participant will have no right to receive Common Shares or a cash payment with respect to 
any PSUs or RSUs that do not become vested.

On the first day immediately following the end of a performance period in respect of a PSU grant, the relevant 
PSUs (including Dividend PSUs) in the participant’s PSU account maintained by the Corporation will vest in an 
amount equal to the number of relevant PSUs multiplied by a performance adjustment factor, as determined by 
the Committee in accordance with the participant’s Award Agreement. Where the performance adjustment factor 
is zero, no such PSUs will vest. Any PSUs that do not become vested are forfeited by the participant.

RSUs (including Dividend RSUs) will vest on the vesting dates specified in the relevant Award Agreement, in such 
proportion as may be determined in accordance with the Award Agreement. Any RSUs that do not become 
vested are forfeited by the participant.

Where a participant’s vested PSUs or RSUs have been designated by the Committee as payable in Common 
Shares, the participant will receive a number of Common Shares equal to (i) the number of vested PSUs as of the 
last day of the relevant performance period or (ii) the number of RSUs that have been designated for payment in 
Common Shares on the vesting date.

Where a participant’s vested PSUs or RSUs have not been designated by the Committee as payable in Common 
Shares, the participant will receive a cash payment equal to (i) in the case of PSUs, the Market Value of the 
Common Shares as of the last day of the relevant performance period multiplied by the number of vested PSUs 
or (ii) in the case of RSUs, the Market Value of the Common Shares determined as of the vesting date of such 
RSUs multiplied by the number of vested RSUs.
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Funding of Awards to be Paid in Common Shares
PSU or RSU awards that are paid in Common Shares may be paid by Common Shares issued from treasury or 
by Common Shares purchased on the open market.

The maximum number of Common Shares that are issuable under the PSU and RSU Plan to pay awards is 
limited to an aggregate of 500,000 Common Shares. Any issuances of Common Shares from treasury to pay 
awards will be issued at a price per Common Share equal to the Market Value on the date of issuance. 

Any purchases of Common Shares pursuant to the PSU and RSU Plan will be made on the open market by a 
broker designated by the Corporation who is independent of the Corporation in accordance with rules of the stock 
exchange on which the Common Shares are listed and who is a member of such stock exchange. 

Insider Participation Limit
Awards under the PSU and RSU Plan will not be paid in Common Shares issued from treasury if, at the time of 
such issuance, such issuance could result, at any time, in:

(i) the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance to Insiders (as defined in the TSX rules) under 
such plan, together with Common Shares reserved for issuance to Insiders under all other Securities-
Based Compensation Arrangements (as defined in the TSX rules), exceeding 10% of the issued and 
outstanding Common Shares; or

(ii) the issuance to Insiders, within a one year period, of a number of Common Shares under such plan, 
together with Common Shares that may be issued to Insiders under all other Securities-Based 
Compensation Arrangements, exceeding 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.

Death, Absences, Termination of Employment, Change of Control
Where a participant’s employment is terminated by reason of the participant’s death prior to the vesting of the 
participant’s PSUs or RSUs, (i) the PSUs credited to the participant’s account as at December 31 of the year 
preceding the participant’s death will continue to be eligible for vesting and (ii) the RSUs credited to the 
participant’s account as at December 31 of the year preceding the participant’s death will vest as of the 
participant’s date of death. 

Where a participant takes a leave of absence from the Corporation or an affiliate, as applicable, for a period of at 
least 90 days prior to the end of the performance period (in the case of PSUs) or the vesting date (in the case of 
RSUs), the participant’s PSUs and RSUs will continue to be eligible for vesting, but at a prorated rate based on 
the number of whole and partial months that the participant was an active employee between the date of the 
award and the end of the performance period (in the case of PSUs) or the vesting date (in the case of RSUs). 
Where the leave of absence extends beyond the end of a performance period for PSUs or a vesting date for 
RSUs and the participant fails to return to full-time employment within 180 days after such end of performance 
period or vesting date, no PSUs or RSUs that would otherwise have vested will vest, and the participant will 
receive no payment or compensation therefor.

In the event that, during a performance period for PSUs or prior to the vesting date for RSUs, a participant’s 
employment is terminated by the Corporation or an affiliate for any reason or the participant voluntarily terminates 
his or her employment with the Corporation or an affiliate, no portion of the PSUs or RSUs that would otherwise 
vest at the end of the performance period or on the vesting date, as applicable, will vest, and the participant will 
receive no payment or compensation therefor.

Subject to the terms of the relevant Award Agreement, in the event of a change of control of the Corporation, the 
PSUs and RSUs credited to the account of the participant as at the date of the change of control, will become 
vested PSUs and RSUs on a one-for-one basis on the date of change of control, unless otherwise determined by 
the Committee. As soon as practical following the change of control, the participant will, at the discretion of the 
Committee, receive a payment in cash and/or Common Shares equal to the number of vested RSUs or PSUs, as 
applicable, multiplied by the price at which the Common Shares are valued for the purposes of the transactions 
giving rise to the change of control.
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No Shareholder Rights
PSUs and RSUs are not Common Shares and will not entitle a participant to any shareholder rights, including, 
without limitation, voting rights, dividend entitlement or rights on liquidation.

Assignment
The assignment or transfer of the PSUs or RSUs, or any other benefits under the PSU and RSU Plan, will not be 
not permitted, other than by operation of law.

Administration and Amendments to the Plan
Unless otherwise determined by the Board, the PSU and RSU Plan will be administered by the Committee.

The Corporation (or an affiliate, as applicable) may withhold any amount payable to a participant, either under the 
PSU and RSU Plan or otherwise, or may require the sale of such number of Common Shares, in each case as 
may be necessary to permit the Corporation (or the affiliate, as applicable) to comply with applicable provisions of 
any federal, provincial, state or local law relating to the withholding of tax or other required deductions.

The PSU and RSU Plan may be amended or terminated at any time by the Committee in whole or in part, 
provided that:

(i) no amendment of the plan will, without the consent of the participants affected by the amendment, or 
unless required by applicable law, adversely affect the rights of such participants with respect to PSUs or 
RSUs granted prior to the date of the amendment;

(ii) no amendment of the plan will be effective unless such amendment is approved by the TSX; and

(iii) approval by a majority of the votes cast by shareholders present and voting in person or by proxy at a 
meeting of shareholders of the Corporation shall be obtained for any:

(a) amendment for which, under the requirements of the TSX or any applicable law, shareholder 
approval is required;

(b) reduction of the purchase price of Common Shares issued or purchased to pay awards granted 
under the plan or the cancellation and reissuance of awards under the plan;

(c) extension of the term of an award under the plan beyond the original expiry date of the award;

(d) any amendment to remove or exceed the insider participation limit;

(e) an increase to the maximum number of Common Shares issuable from treasury under the plan;

(f) amendments to eligible participants that may permit the introduction or non-employee Directors 
on a discretionary basis;

(g) allowance of awards granted under the plan to be transferable or assignable other than for estate 
settlement purposes; or

(h) amendment to the amendment provision of the plan.

Resolution approving the PSU and RSU Plan
At the Meeting, Shareholders will be asked to consider, and if thought advisable, pass, with or without 
amendment, a resolution (the “PSU and RSU Plan Resolution”) to approve the PSU and RSU Plan, the full text 
of which is set out in Schedule “B” to this Circular.

In order to be effective, the PSU and RSU Plan Resolution must be approved by a simple majority of 50% plus 
one vote of the votes cast by the Shareholders in respect thereof at the Meeting. 

In the absence of a contrary instruction, the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy intend to vote 
FOR the PSU and RSU Plan Resolution, unless the Shareholder who has given the proxy has directed that 
the Common Shares represented thereby be voted against such resolution.
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DIRECTOR NOMINEES

The following tables set forth the name and background information with respect to the seven (7) persons
proposed for nomination for election as Directors, including the name and jurisdiction of residence of such person, 
principal occupation or employment for the past five (5) years and a summary of their experience, the date each 
such person was first elected as a Director, and the number of Common Shares beneficially owned, directly or 
indirectly, or over which control or direction is exercised, by such person (as furnished by the respective 
nominee). The aggregate number of Common Shares held by Directors and officers of the Corporation is 991,283
which represents 0.48% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.

Christopher Ball
Age 63

Toronto, Ontario, Canada 
Director since: 2009(1)

Independent 

Chair of the Audit Committee
Compensation Committee

Christopher Ball is the Executive Vice President of Corpfinance International 
Limited, and President of CFI Capital Inc., both of which are investment banking 
boutique firms. From 1982 to 1988, Mr. Ball was Vice President at Standard 
Chartered Bank of Canada with responsibilities for the Canadian branch operation. 
Prior to that, Mr. Ball held various managerial positions with the Canadian Imperial 
Bank of Commerce. He is also a member of the Hydrovision International Advisory 
Board, was a director of Clean Energy BC, and is a recipient of the Clean Energy 
BC Lifetime Achievement Award.

Security ownership guideline: $180,000
Total value of securities held: $338,424
Securities Held:
Common Shares: 24,200 valued at $193,600 as at May 12, 2014
Deferred Share Units: 18,103 valued at $144,824 as at May 12, 2014

Board/Committee membership attendance

Board
Audit Committee 
Compensation Committee

10/10
5/5
5/5

(1) Prior to becoming a director of the Corporation, from 2002 to 2009, Mr. Ball served as a 
Trustee of Algonquin Power Income Fund, the predecessor organization to the 
Corporation.

11



Christopher Huskilson
Age 56

Wellington, Nova Scotia, Canada 
Director since: 2009(1)

Non-Independent 
(CEO of Emera, a 24% Shareholder)

Chair of the Compensation Committee
Corporate Governance Committee

Christopher Huskilson has been the President and Chief Executive Officer of 
Emera, a North American energy and services company, since November 2004. 
He is also Chair of Emera Maine, a Director of Nova Scotia Power Inc. and serves 
as the Chair or as a Director of a number of other Emera affiliated companies. Mr. 
Huskilson has held a number of positions within Nova Scotia Power Inc. and its 
predecessor, Nova Scotia Power Corporation, since June 1980. Mr. Huskilson 
holds a Bachelor of Science in Engineering and a Master of Science in Engineering 
from the University of New Brunswick.

Security ownership guideline: $nil(2)

Total value of securities held: $nil(2)

Securities Held:
Mr. Huskilson does not own any Shares personally. Mr. Huskilson is the CEO of 
Emera which corporation owns 50,126,766 Shares valued at $401,014,128 as at 
May 12, 2014.
Deferred Share Units Owned: N/A(3)

Board/Committee membership attendance

Board
Governance Committee 
Compensation Committee

10/10
3/5
5/5

(1) Prior to becoming a Director of the Corporation, from July 2009 to October 2009, Mr. 
Huskilson served as a Trustee of Algonquin Power Income Fund, the predecessor 
organization to the Corporation.

(2) Mr. Huskilson is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Emera which owns 
50,126,766 Common Shares of the Corporation. The Board determined that the 
guidelines are not applicable to Mr. Huskilson personally.

(3) Director fees can be paid in part by the issuance of DSUs, as elected by each director. 
Director fees owed to Mr. Huskilson are paid directly to Emera. As a result no DSUs are 
held by Mr. Huskilson.

Christopher Jarratt
Age 55

Oakville, Ontario, Canada 
Director since: 2010

Non-Independent 
(Vice Chair of Algonquin)

Christopher Jarratt has over 25 years of experience in the independent electric 
power and utility sectors. Mr. Jarratt is a founder and principal of Algonquin Power 
Corporation Inc., a private independent power developer formed in 1988 which is 
the predecessor organization to APCo and Algonquin. Between 1997 and 2009, 
Mr. Jarratt was a principal in Algonquin Power Management Inc. which managed 
APCo (formerly Algonquin Power Income Fund). Since 2010, Mr. Jarratt has been 
a board member and served as Vice Chair of Algonquin. Prior to 1988, Mr. Jarratt 
was a founder and principal of a consulting firm specializing in renewable energy 
project development and environmental approvals. Mr. Jarratt earned an Honours 
Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Guelph in 1981 specializing in 
water resources engineering and holds a Professional Engineering designation. In 
2009, Mr. Jarratt completed the Chartered Director program of the Directors 
College (McMaster University) and holds the certification of Ch. Dr. (Chartered 
Director). In addition, Mr. Jarratt was co-recipient of the 2007 Ernst & Young 
Entrepreneur of the Year finalist award.

Security ownership guideline: $1,245,270
Total value of securities held: $3,694,224
Securities Held:
Common Shares: 434,026(1) valued at $3,472,208 as at May 12, 2014
Performance Share Units: 27,752 valued at $222,016 as at May 12, 2014

Board/Committee membership attendance

Board 10/10

(1) Mr. Jarratt owns 323,074 Common Shares and Algonquin Power Corporation (CKJ) Inc. 
(a private corporation owned by Mr. Jarratt) owns 110,952 Common Shares. Mr. Jarratt 
exercises control and direction over the Common Shares owned by Algonquin Power 
Corporation (CKJ) Inc.
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Kenneth Moore
Age 56

Toronto, Ontario, Canada 
Director since: 2009(1)

Independent 

Chair of the Compensation Committee
Corporate Governance Committee

Kenneth Moore is the Managing Partner of NewPoint Capital Partners Inc., an 
investment banking firm. From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Moore was a senior partner at 
Crosbie & Co., a Toronto midmarket investment banking firm. Prior to investment 
banking, he was a Vice-President at Barclays Bank where he was responsible for a 
number of leveraged acquisitions and restructurings. Mr. Moore holds a Chartered 
Financial Analyst designation. Additionally, he has completed the Chartered 
Director program of the Directors College (McMaster University) and has the 
certification of Ch. Dir. (Chartered Director).

Security ownership guideline: $450,000
Total value of securities held: $490,448
Securities Held:
Common Shares: 18,000 valued at $144,000 as at May 12, 2014
Deferred Share Units: 43,306 valued at $346,424 as at May 12, 2014

Board/Committee membership attendance

Board
Audit Committee 
Compensation Committee

10/10
5/5
5/5

(2) Prior to becoming a director of the Corporation, from 1998 to 2009, Mr. Moore served as 
a Trustee of Algonquin Power Income Fund, the predecessor organization to the 
Corporation.

Ian Robertson
Age 54

Oakville, Ontario, Canada 
Director since: 2010

Non-Independent 
(CEO of Algonquin)

Ian Robertson is the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. Mr. Robertson is a 
founder and principal of Algonquin Power Corporation Inc., a private independent 
power developer formed in 1988 which was a predecessor organization to 
Algonquin. Mr. Robertson has over 23 years of experience in the development of 
electric power generating projects and the operation of diversified regulated 
utilities. Mr. Robertson is an electrical engineer and holds a Professional 
Engineering designation through his Bachelor of Applied Science degree awarded 
by the University of Waterloo. Mr. Robertson earned a Master of Business 
Administration degree from York University and holds a Chartered Financial 
Analyst designation. Additionally, he has completed the Chartered Director 
program of the Directors College (McMaster University) and has the certification of 
Ch. Dir. (Chartered Director). Commencing in 2013, Mr. Robertson has served on 
the Board of Directors of the American Gas Association.

Security ownership guideline: $1,559,025
Total value of securities held: $3,735,960

Securities Held: 
Common Shares: 432,250(1) valued at $3,458,000 as at May 12, 2014
Performance Share Units: 34,745 valued at $277,960 as at May 12, 2014

Board/Committee membership attendance
Board 10/10

(1) Mr. Robertson directly owns 327,514 Common Shares and Techno Whiz Kid Inc. (a 
private corporation owned by Mr. Robertson) owns 104,736 Common Shares. Mr. 
Robertson exercises control and direction over the Common Shares owned by Techno 
Whiz Kid Inc.
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Masheed Saidi
Age 59

Dana Point, California, United States
Director since: New Nominee

Independent 

Masheed Saidi has 30 years of operational and business leadership experience in 
the electric utility industry. Ms. Saidi is an Executive Consultant of Energy 
Initiatives Group, a specialized group of experienced professionals that provide 
technical, commercial and business consulting services to utilities, ISOs, 
government agencies and other organizations in the energy industry. Between 
2005 and 2010, Ms. Saidi was the Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice 
President of US Transmission for National Grid USA, for which she was 
responsible for all aspects of US transmission business. Ms. Saidi previously 
served on the Board of Directors on the Northeast Energy and Commerce
Association. She serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors for the non-profit 
organization Mary’s Shelter. She earned her Bachelors in Power System 
Engineering from Northeastern University and her Masters of Electrical 
Engineering from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. She is a Registered 
Professional Engineer (P.E.)

Security ownership guideline(1): $180,000
Total value of securities held: $8,000
Securities Held:
Common Shares: 1,000 valued at $8,000 as at May 12, 2014
Deferred Share Units: Nil

Board/Committee membership attendance

Board N/A(2)

(1) Ms. Saidi has until 2019 to achieve ownership targets under the guideline
(2) Ms. Saidi is a new nominee to the board of directors

George Steeves
Age 64

Aurora, Ontario, Canada 
Director since: 2009(1)

Independent 

Chair of the Corporate Governance
Committee
Audit Committee

George Steeves is the principal of True North Energy, an energy consulting firm 
specializing in the provision of technical and financial due diligence services for 
renewable energy projects. From January 2001 to April 2002, Mr. Steeves was a 
division manager of Earthtech Canada Inc. Prior to January 2001, he was the 
President of Cumming Cockburn Limited, an engineering firm, and has extensive 
financial expertise in acting as a chair, director and/or audit committee member of 
public and private companies, including the Corporation, and formerly Borealis 
Hydroelectric Holdings Inc. and KMS Power Income Fund. Mr. Steeves received a 
Bachelor and Masters of Engineering from Carleton University and holds the 
Professional Engineering designation in Ontario and British Columbia. Additionally 
he has completed the Chartered Director program of the Directors College 
(McMaster University) and has the certification of Ch. Dir. (Chartered Director).

Security ownership guideline: $180,000
Total value of securities held: $319,224
Securities Held:
Common Shares: 17,241(2) valued at $145,928 as at May 12, 2014
Deferred Share Units: 21,662 valued at $181,296 as at May 12, 2014

Board/Committee membership attendance

Board
Audit Committee 
Governance Committee

10/10
4/5
5/5

(1) Prior to becoming a director of the Corporation, from 1997 to 2009, Mr. Steeves served 
as a Trustee of Algonquin Power Income Fund, the predecessor organization to the 
Corporation.

(2) Mr. Steeves’ directly owns 14,327 Common Shares and Mr. Steeves’ spouse owns 
2,914 Common Shares. Mr. Steeves exercises control and direction over the Common 
Shares owned by his spouse.
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Director Skill Matrix
The following chart outlines the key areas of expertise and experience for each Director nominee.
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Independent: In accordance with Section 1.4 of National Instrument 
52-110

CEO/Senior Executive: CEO or senior executive experience with 
large publicly traded organization

Governance/Other Directorships: Director of public company and/or 
significant governance role

Customer/Stakeholder: Experience in managing stakeholders or 
represents stakeholder group

Energy Sector: Senior executive experience in the energy sector

Utility Sector: Senior executive experience in the utility sector

Mergers & Acquisitions/Growth Strategy: Senior executive 
experience with mergers, acquisitions and/or business growth strategy

Compensation and Human Resources: Understanding and 
experience with human resources issues and compensation policies

Financial: Senior financial executive experience

Legal and Regulatory: Legal and regulatory experience
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NON-MANAGEMENT DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Compensation Decision Making Process
The compensation of directors is designed to: 

attract and retain highly skilled and experienced individuals to serve on Algonquin’s Board; 
ensure alignment with long-term Shareholders’ interest; and 
recognize the substantial time commitment required to oversee management of the Corporation.

With a view to aligning the interests of Directors and shareholders and providing market competitive 
compensation, the Compensation Committee reviews the amount and form of non-management Directors’ 
compensation. The Compensation Committee considers the responsibilities and time commitment required of 
Algonquin Directors and reviews the competitiveness of board compensation against Canadian corporations with 
comparable scope and complexity.

Directors who are also officers of Algonquin receive no remuneration as Directors. In fiscal 2013 Algonquin paid 
its non-management Directors the following compensation:

Annual Retainers Amount

($)
Chairman of the Board 150,000
Other Director Board Retainer 60,000
Additional Retainers:

Chair of Audit Committee 10,000
Chair of Corporate Governance Committee 7,500
Chair of Compensation Committee 7,500

Director Deferred Share Unit Plan
Directors have the ability to elect to receive some or all of their annual remuneration in the form of Deferred Share 
Units (“DSUs”). In 2013, Messrs. Moore and Ball elected to receive 50% of their annual remuneration in DSUs. 
Mr. Steeves elected to receive 66.7% of his annual remuneration in DSUs. Mr. Huskilson’s Director remuneration 
is paid directly to Emera. As a corporation is not permitted to own DSUs, 100% of Mr. Huskilson’s annual 
remuneration was paid to Emera in cash.

With the exception of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, Directors are also entitled to receive additional 
remuneration for attending meetings of the Board or of a committee of the Board in the amount of $1,500 per 
meeting attended in person or by telephone. The Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for their reasonable out-
of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the conduct of the Corporation’s business. In the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2013, the Corporation paid each Director as indicated below on account of retainer and meeting 
attendance fees. 
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Non-Management Director Compensation Table
Director Fees 

Earned(1)
Share-
Based 

Awards(3)

Option-
Based 

Awards

Non-equity 
Incentive Plan 
Compensation

Pension 
Value

All other 
Compensation

Total(1)

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Kenneth Moore

Chair of the Board

75,000 75,000 - - - - 150,000

Christopher J. Ball 

Chair of the 
Audit Committee

71,000 35,000 - - - - 106,000

George Steeves

Chair of the 
Corporate 
Governance 
Committee

52,478 45,022 - - - - 97,500

Christopher 
Huskilson(2)

Chair of the 
Compensation 
Committee

94,500 - - - - - 94,500

(1) Amounts disclosed represent the aggregate remuneration paid to each Director for (a) attending quarterly meetings, the annual 
Shareholder meeting, committee meetings, the annual budget approval meeting and business development meetings; and (b) if 
applicable, acting as chair of the Board and/or Board committees.

(2) Director fees owed to Christopher Huskilson are paid directly to Emera
(3) Messrs. Ball, Moore and Steeves elected to receive part of their 2013 payments in the form of DSUs. A DSU has a value equal to 

one Common Share. DSUs cannot be redeemed until the Director retires, resigns, or otherwise leaves the Board.

Indebtedness of Directors and Others
No current or former directors or officers of Algonquin, or any of its subsidiaries, had any loans with Algonquin or 
any of its subsidiaries at any time in 2013.
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices (“NI 58-101”) and National Policy 58-
201 – Corporate Governance Guidelines (“NP 58-201”) of the Canadian Securities Regulators requires the 
disclosure by each listed reporting issuer of its approach to corporate governance. This statement discloses the 
Corporation’s corporate governance practices. 

The Directors consider that the Corporation has complied with the guidelines set out in the NP 58-201 (the 
“Guidelines”). 

Corporate Governance Highlights

Highlights

The Chair of the Board, Chair of the Audit Committee, and Chair of the Governance Committee is independent 
in accordance with National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees.

The Board oversees the Corporation’s strategy and actively participates in the annual strategic planning process 
which results in the strategic plan.

The Board oversees the Corporation’s risk management.

The Board has a written mandate for the Chair of the Board, the Chair of Committees and the CEO.

New Directors receive a formal orientation process.

New Directors are recruited on the basis that they will make a strong contribution and have the background, 
skills and experience needed by the Board in view of the Corporation’s strategy.

All Directors are provided support for continuing education to familiarize them with the businesses, investments 
and risks of the Corporation to enhance their contribution as Directors of the Corporation.

Creating a culture of integrity begins with the tone at the top. Directors, officers and employees are required 
annually to sign an acknowledgement that they have reviewed and understand the Corporation’s Standards of 
Business Conduct.

The Corporation has a policy whereby all meetings of the Board of Directors and all committees provide an 
opportunity for an in-camera session at which management of the Corporation is not present.

The Board is exposed to levels of management within the Corporation in addition to executive management. It is 
believed that Board exposure to other levels of management advances the succession planning for the 
Corporation.

The Board annually assesses its performance in order to find ways to improve its effectiveness and the 
performance of the Chair, individual Directors and the Board committees.

Board of Directors

Director Independence
The Board has determined that in accordance with National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”) 
all nominees, with the exception of Messrs. Robertson, Jarratt and Huskilson, are considered “independent” within 
the meaning of NI 52-110. Mr. Robertson and Mr. Jarratt, as Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chair, respectively, 
are the only Directors employed by the Corporation. Mr. Huskilson is the Chief Executive Officer of Emera which 
owns 50,126,766 Common Shares of the Corporation. Mr. Ken Moore, the Chair of the Board, is independent 
within the meaning of NI 52-110.
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Mandate of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors has a written mandate to set the strategic direction of the Corporation and to oversee its 
implementation by management of the Corporation. A copy of the Mandate of the Board of Directors is provided in 
Schedule “D”.

Strategic Planning
The executive management in collaboration with the Board develops a strategic plan which is presented to the 
Directors at a mid-year strategic retreat for approval by the Board. The development of the annual strategic plan 
includes input and presentations from levels of management other than executive management with the objective 
of introducing such individuals to the Board members and vice versa. Pursuant to the Mandate of the Board of 
Directors, oversight and guidance of the Corporation’s strategy is one of the primary roles of the Board. Directors
participate in the development of the corporate strategy which determines the annual and long term objectives for 
the Corporation. The Board regularly evaluates the performance of the Corporation in relation to the approved 
strategy.

Risk Management
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing risk. Pursuant to the Mandate of the Board of Directors, the 
Board is responsible for overseeing the implementation by management of appropriate systems to identify, report,
and manage the principal risks faced by the Corporation. The Mandate of the Board of Directors details the 
responsibility of the Board by reviewing the implementation by management of systems to manage risks and 
review reports by management relating to the operation of and any material deficiencies in these systems. In 
addition, the Board verifies that internal, financial, non-financial and business control and information systems 
have been established by management and that the Corporation is applying appropriate standards of corporate 
conduct for such controls.

The Board is also responsible for reviewing the Corporation’s insurance program, its uninsured exposure, and 
business continuity and disaster recovery plans. The Board receives quarterly updates from management on the 
status of risk management activities and initiatives being undertaken by the Corporation.

Directors Meet without Management
The Board of Directors has adopted a policy whereby all scheduled and unscheduled meetings of the Board of 
Directors and all committee Meetings, as a matter of course, provide an opportunity for an in-camera session at 
which management of the Corporation is not present. For the year ended December 31, 2013, all Board of 
Director and committee meetings had in-camera sessions with management of the Corporation not in attendance.

Independent Chair
Mr. Ken Moore, the Chair of the Board, is an independent Director. The position description of the Chair of the 
Board requires that the Chair be independent.

Directors’ Membership on Other Public Company Boards
Other than as disclosed below, none of the proposed nominees for election as Directors serves as a director on 
the board of directors of a public company. Mr. Christopher Huskilson currently serves as a director on the board 
of directors of Emera, and on Emera affiliated boards including Nova Scotia Power Inc., ICD Utilities Ltd., Light & 
Power Holdings Ltd., Barbados Light & Power Company Ltd., and Bangor Hydro Electric Company. 

Common Memberships on Boards of Public Companies
There are currently no common memberships on boards of public companies among the Corporation’s Directors. 

Majority Voting for Election of Directors
In May 2011, the Board adopted a “majority voting” policy with respect to the election of Directors. In March 2014, 
the Board adopted amendments to the policy to comply with amendments to the TSX Company Manual that will 
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come into effect on June 30, 2014 and will apply to annual shareholder meetings of TSX-listed issuers held after 
June 30, 2014. 

Under the Corporation’s majority voting policy, as amended, where a nominee for Director (the “Subject Director”) 
is not elected by at least a majority (50% + 1 vote) of the votes cast with regard to his or her election, the Subject 
Director must immediately tender his or her resignation to the Board. The Corporate Governance Committee of 
the Board will, within 90 days of the shareholder’s meeting, determine whether to accept the Subject Director 
resignation, which resignation should be accepted absent exceptional circumstances. The resignation will become 
effective when accepted by the Board.

As soon as practicable following receipt of the resignation of the Subject Director:
(a) the Corporation will issue a press release with the Board’s decision including, in the case of the Board not 

accepting the resignation, the reasoning behind such decision, and
(b) the Board may (i) leave the resultant vacancy in the Board unfilled until the next annual meeting of 

shareholders of the Corporation; (ii) fill the vacancy through the appointment of a Director whom the 
Board considers to merit the confidence of the shareholders of the Corporation; or (iii) call a special 
meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation to consider the election of a nominee recommended by 
the Board to fill the vacant position.

The Subject Director will not participate in any meetings of the Board at which his or her resignation is considered. 

Following any uncontested meeting at which Directors are elected, the Corporation will issue a news release 
disclosing the detailed voting results for each director candidate. If a formal count is not conducted, votes 
represented by proxy shall be disclosed.

The majority voting policy applies only in circumstances involving an uncontested election of Directors, meaning 
an election in which the number of nominees for Director is equal to the number of Directors to be elected.

In 2013, individual Directors received support from Shareholders, and since the adoption of the Majority Voting 
Policy, all Director nominees have received a majority “for” vote at the Corporation’s meetings of Shareholders.

Board and Director Assessments
The Board recognizes the value of assessing its effectiveness in order to find ways to improve its effectiveness 
and the performance of the Chair, individual Directors, and the Board committees including committee Chairs. In 
August 2013, the Board of Directors adopted a guideline for the Board and Director performance assessment 
review process. The guideline includes assessing, at least annually by all Directors, the effectiveness and 
contribution of the Board as a whole, the Chair of the Board, the chairs of all committees and each of the 
individual Directors. 

In accordance with the guideline, the Corporate Governance Committee annually determines the process by 
which individual Director assessments will be undertaken. The process may include the use of questionnaires, 
one-on-one interviews between individual Directors and the Board Chair, or such other process the Corporate 
Governance Committee determines appropriate. A report of the assessment is developed and presented to the 
Board of Directors at the conclusion of the assessment. The report includes the identification of issues arising 
from the assessment, an action plan for improvement and the progress is monitored by the Corporate 
Governance Committee. 

In December 2013, the Chair of the Board interviewed each Director as part of the annual assessment review
process. The following questions were sent to each Director in advance of the interview for their consideration:

Assessment of the Board: the Directors were asked to assess the effectiveness of the Board of Directors 
and suggest improvements.
Assessment of the Board Committees: the Directors were asked to assess the effectiveness of the 
individual committees, including committees that the Director is, and is not a member of.
Self-Assessment: the Directors were asked to assess their own performance as Directors and committee 
members, including what might make them more effective.
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Peer Assessment: The Directors were asked to provide comments on the performance of their peer 
Directors.

The assessment of the Chair of the Board was conducted in a meeting of all Directors that was led by the Chair of 
the Corporate Governance Committee and excluded the Board Chair. The results of the assessment of the Chair 
were provided to the Chair in a one-on-one meeting between the Chair and the Chair of the Corporate 
Governance Committee. In addition, the meeting also provides an opportunity for the Chair to share the 
results of the individual Director meetings with the Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee and to jointly 
develop action plans where necessary. 

The Corporate Governance Committee prepared a report detailing the findings and results of the 2013 Board and 
Director Performance Assessment and this report was presented to the Board.

Director Share Ownership Guidelines
In order to align the interests of non-management Directors and Shareholders, the non-management Directors 
are subject to share ownership guidelines whereby they are expected to own Common Shares and/or DSUs with 
a value of not less than three times the Annual Director’s Retainer within a specified timeframe of five years. For 
the status of each Director nominee under the Director Share Ownership Guidelines, see their biographies listed 
earlier in this Circular. The guideline states that if a non-management director’s share ownership falls below the 
minimum guidelines due to a decline in the share price, such director will have three (3) years to restore 
compliance.

Board Size
The Articles of Incorporation provide that the number of Directors on the Corporation’s Board must not be less 
than three (3) and not more than twelve (12). Seven (7) Director nominees are being proposed for election at the 
Meeting.

Board Diversity
The Board recognizes the benefits of promoting diversity, both within Algonquin and at the Board of Directors 
level. In assessing candidates and selecting nominees for the Board, diversity is an important factor considered 
by the Governance Committee. To ensure there is sufficient gender diversity on the Corporation’s Board of 
Directors, the Corporation has nominated two female Directors for election at the annual Shareholders’ meeting 
on June 18, 2014. The list of Director nominees includes one woman out of seven Director nominees, or 14 per 
cent.

Nomination of Directors
The Corporate Governance Committee serves as the Director nominating and evaluation committee and will 
recommend new Directors as the need arises. 

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for providing the Corporation with a list of nominees for 
election as Directors at the Corporation’s annual meeting of Shareholders. The Corporate Governance Committee
creates and reviews the criteria for selecting Directors by assessing the personal qualities, business experience 
and qualifications of current Directors. It also assesses the Corporation’s ongoing needs and circumstances, 
geographical representation and the overall experience of the Board. In recruiting new Directors, the Corporate 
Governance Committee considers the background, skills and experience desired for Directors in view of the 
Corporation’s strategy and activities. It develops a plan for the recruitment of additional director nominees who 
can provide those characteristics. Director nominees must, in the opinion of the Corporate Governance 
Committee, be able to contribute to the broad range of issues which come before the Board for consideration. 
They must be able to devote the time necessary to prepare for and attend meetings of the Board and committees 
of the Board to which they may be appointed. 

The Corporate Governance Committee regularly evaluates the expected turnover of Directors in advance of their 
retirement from the Board and develops an effective succession plan that includes creating overlap, where 
possible, between new Directors and retiring ones.
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Director Recruitment Process
The Corporate Governance Committee uses the services of a search consulting firm in order to assist it in 
identifying suitable Director candidates. When the Corporation engages a search consulting firm, it requests the 
development of a list of potential candidates based on the criteria developed by the Corporate Governance 
Committee for the selection of a new Director. The consulting firm screens candidates and discusses potential 
candidates with Corporate Governance Committee members, and creates a list of primary candidates. Based on 
this list, the search firm determines the interest and availability of the potential candidates. This process is 
designed carefully to provide the best opportunity for strong Board candidates. Each potential Director candidate 
is interviewed by the Chair of the Board, the Corporate Governance Committee Chair, the Chief Executive Officer, 
and in most cases by additional Directors. 

In 2013, the Corporate Governance Committee initiated a process to expand the Board of Directors. The 
Corporate Governance Committee believes that expansion of the Board will benefit the Corporation through board 
diversity (both gender and geographic), the addition of independent Board members, and the broadening of the 
skill set of the Board. The Corporate Governance Committee believes that expansion of the Board by one (1) 
member will contribute to the achievement of these benefits.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee 
The Board has established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) comprised of Mr. Christopher Ball (Chair), 
Mr. Kenneth Moore and Mr. George Steeves, all of whom are independent and financially literate for purposes of 
NI 52-110. 

The responsibilities and operation of the Audit Committee are more particularly set out in the Corporation’s Audit 
Committee Charter, a copy of which is included as a schedule to the annual information form of the Corporation 
for the year 2013 and is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

Corporate Governance Committee
The directors have established a Corporate Governance Committee comprised of three (3) of the directors of 
Algonquin, Mr. George Steeves (Chair), Mr. Christopher Huskilson and Mr. Kenneth Moore. 

The Corporate Governance Committee:

serves as the director nominating and evaluating committee;
is responsible for reviewing Algonquin’s corporate governance practices; and
considers from time to time the effectiveness of the Directors and whether an increase to the number of 
directors is warranted.

Compensation Committee
The directors have established a Compensation Committee, comprised of Directors Mr. Christopher Huskilson 
(Chair) and Mr. Christopher Ball. Both Mr. Huskilson and Mr. Ball have direct experience regarding executive 
compensation matters.The Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing Directors’ compensation and 
making recommendations to the Board on an annual basis, or more frequently if required. In addition, the 
Compensation Committee will make recommendations to the Board regarding the philosophy and compensation 
of executive officers of the Corporation, and report on executive compensation in compliance with Canadian 
securities law requirements. The process by which executive compensation is established is described below
under the heading “Statement of Executive Compensation”.

Mr. Huskilson is the chair of the Compensation Committee and is not considered to be an independent director in 
accordance with NI 52-110. Accordingly, the Board conducted a review of the circumstances with respect to Mr. 
Huskilson’s independence and whether such non-independence in accordance with NI 52-110 could be 
reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of Mr. Huskilson’s independent judgement as Chair of the 
Compensation Committee. On the basis that Mr. Huskilson has extensive compensation experience, is CEO of 
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Emera (which owns a 25% interest in the Corporation), and that the interests of non-Emera shareholders and
Emera are aligned, the Board concluded that the non-independence of Mr. Huskilson does not interfere with his 
judgement as Chair of the Compensation Committee.

Position Descriptions

Position Description for Chair of the Board of Directors 
Under the position description for the Chair of the Board of Directors, the Chair is to provide leadership for the 
Board. In addition, the Chair is to ensure that Board and Shareholder meetings function effectively, provides
leadership of the Board and its committees and provides advice and counsel to Directors and the Chief Executive 
Officer. The Chair participates in the recruitment of Directors and the assessment of Director performance. 

The position description of the Chair of the Board requires that the Chair provide leadership for the Directors and 
serve as chair of Board and Shareholders’ meetings. The Chair of the Board also: 

(a) in consultation with members of the Board and management of the Corporation, sets the agenda for each 
meeting of the Board; 

(b) provides input to the Corporate Governance Committee on its recommendation to the Board for approval 
of (i) candidates for nomination or appointment to the Board; and (ii) members and chairs of committees 
of the Board; 

(c) assesses whether the Directors and their committees have appropriate administrative support, access to 
personnel of the Corporation and access to outside advisors for the purposes of the Board fulfilling its 
mandate; 

(d) in consultation with the Corporate Governance Committee, leads the review and assessment of Board 
meeting attendance, performance and compensation of the Board and individual directors and the 
composition of the Board; and 

(e) executes all contracts, documents or instruments in writing which require his signature.

Position Description of Committee Chairs
The Board has adopted position descriptions for each committee chair which detail the duties of the committee 
chairs. Each committee chair is required to provide leadership to the committee members and support the 
committee’s effective operation in order to fulfill its mandate. The position description for the committee chairs 
provides that each committee chair shall: 

(a) chair all committee meetings;

(b) provide leadership for the committee;

(c) act as the communication link between the Board and the applicable committee;

(d) review formal communications from the committee to the Board before dissemination to the Board;

(e) ensure that all matters requiring committee review or approval are brought to the committee in a timely 
and appropriate manner;

(f) co-ordinate, in consultation with the Chair of the Board, the agenda, information packages and related 
events for committee meetings with senior management of the Corporation; and

(g) set the frequency of committee meetings and review such frequency from time to time as considered 
appropriate or as requested by the Board.

Position Description for CEO
The roles and responsibilities of the President and Chief Executive Officer are contained in his employment 
contract which provides that he is Chief Executive of the Corporation. The President and Chief Executive Officer’s 
employment contract is reviewed by the Compensation Committee and is approved by the Board of Directors.
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Director Orientation and Continuing Education
The Board and management believe that for Directors to be effective they must be knowledgeable about the 
Corporation, its strengths and challenges, and the business environment in which the Corporation operates. In 
addition, the effectiveness of the Board is enhanced by Directors forming collegial working relationships with other 
Directors and management. 

Director Orientation Process
New Directors are provided with a formal orientation to the Corporation that familiarizes them with the businesses, 
the corporate structure, other Directors and key personnel of the Corporation. The orientation process is designed 
to provide an opportunity for new Directors to meet senior management and become familiar with their areas of 
responsibility. New Directors receive an in-depth orientation to the Corporation’s executive leaders, businesses, 
strategy, financial information and governance practices that allows them to effectively integrate with the 
operation of the Board. The Board and management have built and continue to expand a long-term program of 
training for Directors to enhance their effectiveness and reinforce a collegial working relationship among members 
of the Board. 

Orientation sessions are attended by the President and Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and 
other executive officers or leaders of key subsidiaries. The Chair also attends one-on-one orientation meetings 
with a new Director. In addition, external meetings are arranged for new Directors as part of the orientation plan 
including site visits, meeting with the Corporation’s auditors and meeting with Corporate counsel.

A reference manual is provided to the Director in advance of the orientation sessions which includes the following:

Public disclosure documents including Annual Reports, recent annual and interim Management’s Discussion 
& Analysis, Financial Statements, Management Information Circular and Annual Information Form; 
Governance documents including Board and committee charters, policies and guidelines; and
Other documents such as strategic plan and business plan, guide to the Corporation’s management structure, 
succession plan, minutes of Board meetings and minutes of committee meetings

Continuing Education for Directors
Directors are provided the opportunity to update, educate and inform themselves in areas they request or that 
management believes are relevant to issues facing the Corporation. Directors receive briefing reports and 
materials from management in advance of all meetings. Regular communication is also provided to Directors 
between meetings to provide updates on developments that may affect the Corporation or its subsidiaries. 

Directors are encouraged to participate in external education sessions that are related to the business of the 
Corporation and the performance of their duties as Directors of the Corporation. Directors are entitled to 
reimbursement for related out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending relevant education sessions. From time to 
time, the Board receives specialized presentations from external parties and management on various matters of 
significance to the Corporation. Directors participated in education sessions and received education materials 
about specific topics in 2013 as follows:

Education Presentations Date Participants

Presentation by external consultant on Power Business Outlook and the influence 
of shale gas on the energy sector

April 23, 2013 Board of Directors

Presentation by management expert on Compressed Natural Gas (CNV) and 
Liquefied Natural Gas (LNV)

July 19, 2013 Board of Directors

Presentation by external consultant of System of Audit Quality Control March 13, 2013 Audit Committee

Presentation on Equity Valuation Methodologies for Diversified Infrastructure 
Companies

May 9, 2013 Board of Directors
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Board Policies

Whistleblower Policy
The Corporation has a whistle-blower’s policy entitled Procedures for the Reporting of Irregularities and 
Dishonesty (the “Procedures”). These Procedures establish a method for dealing appropriately with any 
complaints made by employees of irregular or dishonest accounting, internal accounting control, auditing matters, 
or fraudulent or illegal activity by any employee or employees. Any employee who in good faith reports such 
activity will be protected from threats of retaliation, or discrimination because of the report. Any employee who 
retaliates against another employee who reports such activity could face disciplinary action under the Procedures. 
If an employee believes that retaliation has occurred, the employee may submit a complaint in writing to the 
Director, Internal Audit. 

Reports under the Standards for Business Conduct and Procedures for the Reporting of Irregularities and 
Dishonesty are addressed by the Corporation, and on a quarterly basis the Internal Audit department informs the 
Audit Committee of all reports and their status. 

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Policy
The Board has adopted a written Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“Code of Conduct”) that applies to 
everyone at Algonquin and its subsidiaries. Directors, officers and employees are required to annually 
acknowledge that they have reviewed and understand the Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct is available on 
Algonquin’s website at www.algonquinpowerandutilities.com, or a copy may be obtained by contacting the Ethics 
Officer, Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp., 2845 Bristol Circle, Oakville, ON, L6H 7H7.

The Board regularly reviews the Code of Conduct, and in 2013 made revisions in order to update the content in 
keeping with best practices. 

The Board monitors compliance with the Code of Conduct and there have been no instances of any waiver of 
compliance with the Code of Conduct for any Director or officer. 

Insider Trading Policy
The Corporation has an insider trading policy (“Insider Trading Policy”) which places restrictions on those in a 
special relationship with Algonquin (including insiders) when trading Algonquin Common Shares.

The Corporation’s insider trading policy includes the following measures:
Restriction from trading Algonquin Common Shares during regular quarterly and annual trading blackout 
periods when financial results are being prepared and have not yet been publicly disclosed. These periods 
currently begin on the last day of a quarter or fiscal year and end at the close of trading on the second trading 
day after financial results have been issued publicly;
Communication of the dates for regular blackout periods;
Restrictions on trading any securities which gain in value if the value of Algonquin securities decline in the 
future (e.g. short selling), “call” options or “put” options; and
Prohibition from communicating inside information to others other than in the necessary course of business.

All reporting insiders are required to disclose all trading activity. As required by law, reporting insiders must file 
insider reports via the internet-based System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (SEDI).

Management regularly reviews the Insider Trading Policy to ensure it reflects current best practices and 
developments.

Corporate Disclosure Policy
The Board has approved a corporate disclosure policy to ensure that communications to investors and potential 
investors are timely, factual and accurate, and that the information is disseminated in accordance with all 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements to the investing public, analysts and the media.
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Conflicts of Interest
Directors are required to declare any conflict of interest which they may have in a matter before the Board. In any 
matter requiring approval of the Board, a Director is prohibited by the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation from 
voting in respect of the matter in which the Director is interested.
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STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION PRACTICES

All dollar amounts in this Statement of Executive Compensation are expressed in Canadian dollars unless 
otherwise indicated.

Compensation Highlights
Compensation Highlights

Third Party consultants are used by the Compensation Committee to develop compensation for executives that 
is competitive in the market and comparable to benchmarked comparators.
A pay for performance philosophy has been adopted by the Compensation Committee in developing 
compensation for executives.
Caps on payouts, vesting requirements and share ownership requirements are part of the overall plan design.
All members of Compensation Committee are knowledgeable and experienced individuals who have the 
necessary background and expertise to fulfil their duties.
The compensation programs have been developed to align well with Corporate strategy.
Executive pay is aligned with shareholder interests by having a significant component “at risk” and tied to both 
short and long term objectives.
Minimum share ownership requirements are in place for Named Executive Officers. 

Substantial portion of long term incentive is deferred to discourage executives from taking short term or 
excessive risks.
The inclusion in employment contracts for senior officers of double trigger provisions for change of control 
mitigates the risk arising from termination. 

Compensation Philosophy
The Corporation’s compensation philosophy for executive officers generally follows three underlying principles: 
(i) to provide compensation packages that encourage and motivate performance; (ii) to be competitive with other 
entities of similar size and scope of operations so as to attract and retain talented executives; and (iii) to align the 
interests of its executive officers with the long-term interests of the Corporation and its Shareholders.

When determining compensation policies and individual compensation levels for the Corporation’s executive 
officers, the Compensation Committee takes into consideration a variety of factors. These factors include the 
overall financial and operating performance of the Corporation, the Compensation Committee’s overall 
assessment of (i) each executive officer’s individual performance and contribution towards meeting business 
objectives; (ii) each executive officer’s level of responsibility; (iii) each executive officer’s length of service; and 
(iv) industry comparables.

Compensation Governance 
The Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing the alignment of Algonquin’s compensation programs, 
including incentive pay programs, with the Corporation’s strategic plans and risk profile, Algonquin’s performance, 
and risk management principles. The Compensation Committee annually reviews compensation for the Chief 
Executive Officer and senior management of the Corporation. The Compensation Committee oversees the 
administration of the incentive plans providing for the award of annual incentives, stock options, PSUs and 
deferred share units in accordance with the provisions of the respective plans. In addition, the Compensation 
Committee annually reviews compensation for the directors, Chair of the Board and Chair of committees of the 
Corporation.

The Compensation Committee reviews, and recommends to the Board of Directors, compensation policies and 
processes and any new incentive compensation and equity compensation plans or changes to such plans. 

In addition to selecting and recommending the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer to the Board, the 
Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the overall executive compensation plan 
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philosophy and guidelines, and for reviewing directors’ compensation on an annual basis, or more frequently if
required, and making recommendations to the Board. In addition, the Compensation Committee reviews and 
approves management succession plans, and approves the appointment and reviews compensation of officers 
reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer as well as approves the grant of stock options. The Compensation 
Committee also has responsibility for assessing, on an annual basis, the performance of the Vice Chair and Chief 
Executive Officer, and discussing the performance of the executive team.

Succession Planning and Leadership Development
The Compensation Committee has responsibility for ensuring that a succession planning process is in place for 
senior management of Algonquin and its affiliates, and to review this process on an annual basis. Succession 
planning is viewed by the Compensation Committee as an ongoing priority of identifying and developing talent, 
leadership and skills to ensure the Corporation has the continued capability to meet future strategic objectives 
and fulfill key organizational roles in the future. 

The Compensation Committee is mandated to make recommendations to the Board of Directors with respect to 
succession planning including: (i) policies and principles for the selection and performance review of the executive 
officers, and potential successors to the executive officers; (ii) policies and plans regarding succession in the 
event of an emergency or the retirement of an executive officer; and (iii) appointing, training and monitoring 
potential successors to executive officers.

The Compensation Committee requires that senior management of Algonquin at least annually review the 
performance of their team members and develop plans for personal growth and career advancement.

Where employees are considered potential successors, a long term professional development plan is established 
to further align the employees’ personal development plan with the long term succession needs of the 
Corporation. Where no internal succession candidate is identified, the Corporation expects to source a potential 
successor through external hiring. In this instance, a plan would be established to provide for filling the role on an 
interim basis pending the external hire. 

Annual Compensation Decision Making Process
The Corporation has developed a comprehensive annual process for making decisions about compensation for 
the executive officers of the Corporation. This process involves the following steps:

Management analyzes data (including peer group information, compensation trend information and internal 
equity considerations) and performance against objectives, and the Chief Executive Officer makes 
recommendations regarding executive compensation for the senior officers including the Named Executive 
Officers to the Compensation Committee, other than for the Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chair.
The Compensation Committee reviews and considers these recommendations, as well as the compensation 
for the Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chair of the Corporation, using benchmark information, with the 
assistance of external compensation consultants and information as required, and makes recommendations 
to the Board.
The Board considers and grants final approval for executive compensation decisions, with decisions 
regarding the Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chair being made by the non-executive directors of the Board 
(being all Board members other than the Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chair).

The foregoing process is generally completed within the first quarter of each new financial year of the 
Corporation. As part of the process, the Compensation Committee, in consultation with the Board also sets 
performance objectives for the Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chair for the coming year. Performance 
objectives for the other senior officers of the Corporation are set with the approval of the Chief Executive Officer. 

For the purpose of determining bonus awards under the Corporation’s short-term performance incentive plan, the 
Board also approves the Corporation’s corporate scorecard, which consists of a series of corporate objectives 
against which corporate performance is measured, with the results being used to calculate bonuses for executive 
officers and other employees of the Corporation. The corporate scorecard is established annually for each 
financial year of the Corporation.
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Algonquin engages the services of independent compensation consultants such as Mercer LLC (“Mercer”) and
Towers Watson (“Towers”), to compile market information on senior management compensation relating to base 
salary, short-term and long-term incentives. A complete benchmarking review takes place every two (2) years and 
the scope of services includes competitive market reviews of senior executive compensation levels; review and 
observations of current executive compensation philosophy; policies and practices; and a review of pay and 
performance comparators.

The Compensation Committee reviews compensation data based on a comparator group of companies, primarily 
power and regulated utilities and other energy industry enterprises that are of a similar size and scope as the 
Corporation. While the intention is to use a consistent list of comparators from year to year, the comparators used
for compensation review are subject to periodic change due to: (a) the availability of relevant pay data, (b) 
mergers and acquisitions, and (c) relevance of new comparators based on updated financial metrics. The 
rationale for incorporating the energy industry is that senior talent can migrate between similar organizations (i.e. 
industry, scale, complexity).

The Compensation Committee uses independent compensation advisors to monitor the effectiveness of the 
Corporation’s compensation policies, plans and programs to ensure that the Corporation is competitive and able 
to attract, retain and motivate executives (as well as all other employees) in accordance with corporate strategy 
and to achieve the Corporation’s goals. The Compensation Committee also monitors compensation policies, 
plans and programs to ensure that they are appropriate to each executive’s expertise, responsibility and 
performance, and the performance of the Corporation.

Compensation Advisors
The Compensation Committee, from time to time, retains the services of independent advisors as needed in order 
to assist in fulfilling its duties. In 2013, the Compensation Committee and the Corporation engaged the services of 
compensation consultants Mercer as advisors to provide independent advice, compensation analysis and other 
information for compensation recommendations. Mercer provided counsel on the competitiveness and 
appropriateness of compensation practices and comparator groups for Algonquin and its affiliates. The scope of 
services includes bench marking competitive market reviews of senior executive compensation levels, review and 
observations of current executive compensation philosophy, policies and practices, and a review of pay and 
performance comparators. 

In order to determine appropriate compensation levels relative to the Corporation’s competitive market, 
consultants retained by the Compensation Committee in 2013 developed a comparator group of Canadian and 
United States organizations in Algonquin’s business sectors (independent power producers and utilities and other 
sectors of similar complexity). The methodology targeted companies with revenues of approximately one-half to 
two times those of Algonquin in order to find appropriate comparators in terms of size and complexity (the 
“Comparator Group”). 

Mercer, in consultation with the Compensation Committee determined that given the business sectors and 
geographic location of Algonquin’s business, an appropriate comparator group would be comprised of 
approximately 20 United States and Canadian entities split 60% and 40% respectively. Canadian comparators 
included: Emera Inc, Calfrac Well Services Ltd., ShawCor Ltd., Fortis BC Holdings Inc., Altagas Ltd., Mullen 
Transportation Inc., Capital Power Corp., Secure Energy Services Inc., Savanna Energy Services Corp. and 
Northland Power Inc. United States based comparators included: ITC Holdings Corp., Aqua America Inc., Empire 
District Electric Co., MGE Energy Inc., California Water Service, Chesapeake Utilities Corp. and Atlantic Power 
Corp.

The fees paid by Algonquin to its advisors for the work performed are:

In 2013, Algonquin paid $34,979 in fees to Mercer for compensation advice 
In 2012, Algonquin paid $19,776 and $36,894 in fees to Mercer and Towers respectively for compensation 
advice.

29



Risk Management and Compensation
As part of the Board and Compensation Committee’s oversight responsibilities of the design and administration of 
the Corporation’s executive compensation programs, the Compensation Committee identifies and discusses 
design features or processes that may potentially represent conflicts of interest and/or inducements for 
unnecessary or excessive risk-taking by senior executives. 

The Corporation has compensation policies and practices in place to ensure that a Named Executive Officer 
(“NEO”) or individual at a principal business unit does not take inappropriate or excessive risk, such as:

Short-term incentive plans include caps on payouts. 
The PSU plan includes caps on payouts. 
Termination and severance provisions in the event of a change in control include a double trigger 
Executive share ownership requirements align the interests of senior officers with interests of shareholders.
Inclusion of non-financial performance measures in incentive compensation programs are in place. 
The Board has discretion to amend the final payout of the incentive compensation programs. 
Officers of the Corporation and each of its subsidiaries are not permitted to hedge their economic risk with 
respect to their holdings of equity securities and equivalents to securities granted as compensation.

In summary, the Compensation Committee concluded that the Corporation’s compensation programs did not 
create inordinate risk to the shareholders because an appropriate system of checks and balances were in place to 
mitigate the level of risk undertaken by management. 

For 2013, the Compensation Committee conducted a compensation risk review and considered that in fact there 
were no significant changes: 

in the compensation programs or design; 
in the Corporation’s business strategy; and 
any other relevant circumstance; 

and therefore determined there was no increase in compensation risk. 

The Compensation Committee also satisfies itself as to the adequacy of the information it receives, the 
independence of the review, and reporting of financial results on which certain important compensation decisions 
(e.g., the amount of annual incentive to be paid) are based. 

These existing safeguards notwithstanding, the Compensation Committee and Board will continue to review the 
relationship between enterprise risk and the Corporation’s executive compensation plans and policies to confirm 
they continue to be optimally aligned with shareholder interests while maintaining an acceptable level of risk 
exposure.

Compensation Discussion & Analysis

Named Executive Officer Compensation
This section discusses the elements of compensation for the five (5) NEOs in 2013 discussed in this Management 
Information Circular; namely:

Ian Robertson, Chief Executive Officer, Algonquin 
Christopher Jarratt, Vice Chair, Algonquin
David Bronicheski, Chief Financial Officer, Algonquin
David Pasieka, President, Liberty Utilities
Michael Snow, President, Algonquin Power Co.
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Executive Compensation Philosophy
The Corporation’s compensation philosophy for executive officers generally follows three underlying principles: 
(i) to provide compensation packages that encourage and motivate performance; (ii) to be competitive with other 
entities of similar size and scope of operations so as to attract and retain talented executives; and (iii) to align the 
interests of its executive officers with the long-term interests of the Corporation and its Shareholders.

When determining compensation policies and individual compensation levels for the Corporation’s executive 
officers, the Compensation Committee takes into consideration a variety of factors. These factors include the 
overall financial and operating performance of the Corporation, the Compensation Committee’s overall 
assessment of (i) each executive officer’s individual performance and contribution towards meeting business 
objectives; (ii) each executive officer’s level of responsibility; (iii) each executive officer’s length of service; and 
(iv) industry comparables.

Compensation Mix
The Corporation has implemented a compensation program that is applicable to all of its employees. This 
program, which is referred to as the Corporation’s Compensation Program, is based on concepts of market 
competitiveness and internal equity, taking into account the roles and responsibilities of each employee of the 
Corporation. The program is designed to attract, retain and motivate outstanding talent in a competitive business 
environment, to reward participants when corporate and personal objectives are achieved, and to promote a high-
performance culture among the Corporation’s employees. Alignment of employee and long-term Shareholder 
interests is promoted through a performance-based compensation system linked directly to a corporate 
scorecard, as addressed below.

The compensation components are:

base salary;
short-term performance incentives, consisting of cash bonus awards;
a long-term incentive program, which includes an Executive Stock Option Plan and PSU and RSU Plan; and 
a retirement plan, a health plan and other benefits.

Algonquin’s compensation program is designed to be competitive in relevant labour markets, including both short-
term and long-term performance goals which link compensation to the Corporation’s performance as measured 
by specific financial results.

In keeping with the Corporation’s philosophy to link senior executive compensation to corporate performance and 
to motivate senior executives to achieve exceptional levels of performance, the Corporation has adopted a model 
that includes both base salary and “at-risk” compensation, comprised of short-term performance incentives (which 
is subject to targets being achieved), and long-term incentives linked to total Shareholder value.

The at-risk components depend on achieving corporate, subsidiary business units, and individual performance 
objectives. These objectives are described in scorecards that establish measurable financial, growth, operations, 
stakeholders and employee objectives that, if achieved, add value to the Corporation or its affiliates. The NEO’s 
performance against the Scorecard is measured and rated. Each Executive must achieve a level of performance 
for any payment against a particular objective, failing which there is no payment against such objective. 
Accordingly, incentive compensation plans are designed to pay larger amounts for superior performance and 
smaller amounts if target performance is not achieved.

One of the objectives in the Scorecard is based on EBITDA which is a non-GAAP metric used by many investors 
to compare companies on the basis of the ability to generate cash from operations. The Corporation uses 
Adjusted EBITDA as one of the metrics to assess the operating performance without the effects of depreciation 
and amortization expense, income tax expense or recoveries, acquisition costs, interest expense, gain or loss on 
derivative financial instruments, write down of intangibles and property, plant and equipment, earnings attributable 
to non-controlling interests and gain or loss on foreign exchange. The Compensation Committee and the Board 
believe that this non-GAAP Adjusted EBITDA measure provides an understanding of the Corporation’s operating 
performance.
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The following table shows the percentage weighting of each component of the Total Target Compensation for the
Named Executive Officers in 2013. 

Name Base Salary

Short-Term 
Performance 

Incentive Long-Term Incentive Total Pay at Risk

(%) (%) (%) (%)

Ian Robertson 38% 27% 35% 62%

Christopher Jarratt 38% 27% 35% 62%

David Bronicheski 50% 25% 25% 50%

David Pasieka 51% 23% 26% 49%

Michael Snow 51% 23% 26% 49%

Base Salary
Base salary of the NEOs of the Corporation is established at levels which are meant to be competitive with other 
companies and entities similar, and of comparable size, to the Corporation. Base salary is not a function of any 
specific relationship to the performance of the Corporation and is reviewed annually by the Compensation 
Committee in consultation with the Board of Directors as described earlier.

In setting the recommended salaries of the NEOs, the Compensation Committee takes into consideration the 
advice and recommendations provided by the independent advisor which is based on the salaries paid to other 
executive officers in the Comparator Groups in the power generation and utilities sectors.

Short-Term Performance
The short-term incentive plan of the Corporation (the “Short-Term Performance Incentive”) is a cash bonus 
plan, the purpose of which is to align compensation with corporate targets and results, and thereby promote 
behaviours which benefit the interests of the Corporation and its shareholders, and to reward personal 
achievements in a graduated fashion with awards at the highest employee grades of the Corporation being linked 
more directly to overall corporate performance.

Incentives are calculated and paid annually using the scorecard, as described below. 

NEOs are eligible for a discretionary short-term performance incentive based on a percentage of base salary if 
certain pre-set corporate and personal goals are achieved. Each year, these goals and objectives are reviewed by 
the Compensation Committee and approved by the Board. These goals are intended to be aligned with the goals 
and targets of the Corporation for that year. The Scorecard is based on pre-set goals for the Corporation, and is 
approved by the Board. 

2013 Algonquin Corporate Scorecard
On an annual basis, the Board of Directors approves the scorecard that sets forth corporate objectives and target 
levels to be achieved on which the majority of the Short-Term Performance Incentive for the NEOs is based. The 
Scorecard for Algonquin is developed and recommended by management for approval by the Compensation 
Committee and Board of Directors at the beginning of each year.

The Scorecard objectives are based on the Corporation’s business plan for the year and establish performance 
targets for each objective. Objectives on the 2013 scorecard included:

achievement of predetermined financial objectives for the Corporation (Adjusted EBITDA, earnings per share 
and cash flow per share);
achievement of predetermined growth objectives;
achievement of predetermined operations objectives; 
achievement of predetermined objectives related to Algonquin stakeholders; and
achievement of predetermined employee engagement objectives
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The relative weight of each performance measure is approved by the Compensation Committee and varies 
among the executive team and each of the NEOs. A portion of the short-term incentive for each of the Presidents 
of Liberty Utilities Co. and Algonquin Power Co. is based on scorecards that are developed for each business. 

Long-term Incentive 
The long-term incentive element of compensation for the NEOs includes participation in an Executive Stock 
Option Plan (the “Stock Option Plan”), as described below as well as participation in the PSU and RSU Plan as 
described in Schedule “C” to this Circular. In 2013, the Stock Option Plan and the PSU and RSU plan each made 
up 50% of the target long-term compensatory value for each of the NEOs.

The number of stock options and PSUs/RSUs granted to the NEOs is determined by the Compensation 
Committee based on management’s recommendations and on information provided by an independent advisor. 
Stock option and PSU/RSU grants are based on the level of responsibility within the Corporation; generally, the 
level of grant increases with the level of responsibility. 

The stock options and PSUs/RSUs increase or decrease in value in proportion to the increase or decrease in the 
market price of Algonquin’s Common Shares over the term of a particular grant. 

The fair value of stock option grants is based on the Black-Scholes valuation methodology as it is an appropriate 
and commonly used methodology to value stock options. For the options granted in 2013, the Black-Scholes 
value ratio was determined to be equal to 10.6% of the closing share price of $7.72 as of March 13, 2013. The
Black-Scholes value ratio was determined using the following assumptions:

Date Term(1)

(years)

Volatility(2)

(%)

Dividend Yield

(%)

Risk Free Rate

(%)

March 13, 2013 8 21.7% 4.6% 1.4%

(1) The safe harbour term used is equal to ((time to expiry + 3) / 2)

(2) The volatility of the share price has been estimated as the average daily volatility since the Algonquin Power Income Fund, the 
predecessor organization to the Corporation, converted to a corporation.

Executive Stock Option Plan
The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to attract, retain and motivate individuals as key service providers to the 
Corporation and its affiliates and to advance the interests of the Corporation by providing such persons with the 
opportunity, through share options, to acquire a proprietary interest in the Corporation.

The Stock Option Plan authorizes the Board to issue stock options (“Options”) to directors, officers or employees 
of the Corporation or any affiliate (an “Eligible Individual”), a corporation controlled by an Eligible Individual or 
any person/company, partnership, trust or corporation engaged to provide management or consulting services for 
the Corporation or any affiliate (“Eligible Persons”).

The aggregate number of Common Shares that may be reserved for issuance under the Stock Option Plan must 
not exceed 10% of the number of Common Shares outstanding at the time the Options are granted. For greater 
clarity, the Stock Option Plan is “reloading” in the sense that, to the extent that Options expire or are terminated, 
cancelled or exercised, the Corporation may make a further grant of Options in replacement for such expired, 
terminated, cancelled or exercised Options, provided that the 10% maximum is not exceeded. No fractional 
Common Shares may be purchased or issued under the Stock Option Plan.

In addition, under the Stock Option Plan:

subject to the terms of the Stock Option Plan, the number of Common Shares subject to each Option, the 
exercise price of each Option, the expiration date of each Option, the extent to which each Option vests and 
is exercisable from time to time during the term of the Option and other terms and conditions relating to each 
Option will be determined by the Board from time to time;
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subject to any adjustments pursuant to the provisions of the Stock Option Plan, the exercise price of any 
Option shall in no circumstances be lower than the Market Price (as defined below) of the Common Shares
on the date on which the Board approves the grant of the Option; 
Options will be personal to the grantee and will be non-transferable and non-assignable, except in certain 
limited circumstances;
the maximum number of Common Shares which may be reserved for issuance to insiders under the Stock
Option Plan, together with the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance to insiders under any other 
securities based compensation arrangement, shall be 10% of the Common Shares outstanding at the time of 
the grant;
the maximum number of Common Shares which may be issued to insiders under the Stock Option Plan and 
all other security based compensation arrangements within a one year period shall be 10% of the Common 
Shares outstanding at the time of the issuance; 
non-employee director participation in the Stock Option Plan is limited to the lesser of (i) a reserve of 1% of 
the Common Shares outstanding for non-employee directors as a group and (ii) an annual equity award value 
of $100,000 per director;
if the expiration date for an Option occurs during a Blackout Period (as defined below) or within ten (10) 
business days after the expiry date of a Blackout Period applicable to a person granted Options (an 
“Optionee”), then the expiration date for that option will be extended to the 10th Business Day after the expiry 
date of the Blackout Period. A “Blackout Period” is a period of time during which the Optionee cannot exercise 
an Option, or sell Common Shares issuable pursuant to the exercise of Options, due to applicable policies of 
the Corporation in respect of insider trading); and
except in certain circumstances, the term of an Option shall not exceed ten (10) years from the date of the 
grant of the Option.

Under the Stock Option Plan, “Market Price” of the Common Shares is defined as the volume weighted average
trading price of such Common Shares on the TSX (or, if such Common Shares are not then listed and posted for 
trading on the TSX, on such stock exchange in Canada on which such Common Shares are listed and posted for 
trading as may be selected for such purpose by the Board) for the five (5) consecutive trading days immediately 
preceding such date, provided that in the event that such Common Shares did not trade on any of such trading 
days, the Market Price will be the average of the bid and ask prices in respect of such Common Shares at the 
close of trading on all of such trading days and provided that in the event that such Common Shares are not listed 
and posted for trading on any stock exchange, the Market Price will be the fair market value of such Common
Shares as determined by the Board in its sole discretion.

The Stock Option Plan provides that, except as set out in the Stock Option Plan or any resolution passed 
at any time by the Board or the terms of any option agreement or employment agreement with respect to 
any Option or an Optionee, an Option and all rights to purchase Common Shares pursuant thereto shall 
expire and terminate immediately upon the Optionee who holds such Option ceasing to be an Eligible 
Individual.

Where an Optionee (other than a service provider) resigns from the Corporation or is terminated by the 
Corporation for cause, the Optionee’s unvested options shall immediately be forfeited and the Optionee’s vested 
options may be exercised for a period of thirty (30) days after the date of resignation or termination.

Where an Optionee, other than a service provider, retires from the Corporation or ceases to serve the 
Corporation or an affiliate as a director, officer or employee for any reason other than a termination by the 
Corporation for cause, the Optionee’s vested options may be exercised within ninety (90) days after such 
retirement or termination. The Board may in such circumstances accelerate the vesting of unvested 
Options then held by the Optionee at the Board’s discretion. 

In the event that an Optionee, other than a service provider, has suffered a permanent disability, Options 
previously granted to such Optionee shall continue to vest and be exercisable in accordance with the terms of the 
grant and the provisions of the Stock Option Plan, but no additional grants of Options may be made to the 
Optionee.
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If an Optionee, other than a service provider, dies, all unexercised Options held by such Optionee at the 
time of death immediately vest, and such Optionee’s personal representatives or heirs may exercise all 
Options within one (1) year after the date of such death.

All Options granted to service providers shall terminate in accordance with the terms, conditions and provisions of 
the associated option agreement between the Corporation and such service providers, provided that such 
termination shall occur no later than the earlier of (i) the original expiry date of the term of the Option and (ii) one 
(1) year following the date of termination of the engagement of the service provider.

Options may be exercised in accordance with the specific terms of their grant and by the Optionee delivering the 
exercise price to the Corporation for all of the Options exercised. The Optionee may also surrender Options and 
receive in exchange for each such Option, the amount by which the Market Price of the Common Shares exceeds 
the exercise price of the Option (the “In-the-Money Amount”). If the Optionee elects to surrender any Options in 
exchange for the In-the-Money Amount, the Corporation will determine whether to pay such amount in cash or in 
Common Shares representing the equivalent of the In-the-Money Amount based on the Market Price of the 
Common Shares at the date of exercise, in each case net of an amount equal to any withholding taxes.

In the event that the Common Shares are at any time changed or affected as a result of the declaration of a stock 
dividend, a Common Share subdivision or consolidation, the number of Common Shares reserved for Option shall 
be adjusted accordingly by the Board to such extent as it deems proper in its discretion.

If, after the grant of an Option and prior to its expiry:

(a) the Common Shares are reclassified, reorganized or otherwise changed (a “Share Reorganization”), 
otherwise than as specified in the immediately preceding paragraph, or 

(b) subject to the Corporation’s right to allow the exercise of vested and unvested Options following the 
occurrence of certain transactions, the Corporation shall consolidate, merge or amalgamate with or into 
another corporation (a “Merger”, with the resulting corporation being the “Successor Corporation”), the 
Optionee will receive, upon the subsequent exercise of his or her Options in accordance with the Stock 
Option Plan, the number of shares or securities of the appropriate class of the Corporation or Successor 
Corporation, as the case may be, that the Optionee would have received if on the record date of such 
Share Reorganization or Merger the Optionee were the registered holder of the number of Common 
Shares to which the Optionee was prior thereto entitled to receive on exercise of his or her Options.

The Board may amend, suspend or discontinue the Stock Option Plan or amend Options granted under the Stock 
Option Plan at any time without Shareholder approval; provided, however, that:

(a) approval by a majority of the votes cast by Shareholders present and voting in person or by proxy at a 
meeting of Shareholders of the Corporation is obtained for the following amendments:

i. any amendment for which, under the requirements of the TSX or any applicable law, shareholder 
approval is required; 

ii. reduction of the exercise price, or cancellation and reissuance of options or other entitlements, of non-
insider options granted under the Stock Option Plan;

iii. extension of the term of options beyond the original expiry date of non-insider options;

iv. changing the eligible participants that may permit an increase to the limit previously imposed on non-
employee director participation;

v. permitting options granted under the Stock Option Plan to be transferable or assignable other than for 
estate settlement purposes;

vi. amending the Stock Option Plan’s amendment provisions; and

(b) the consent of the Optionee is obtained for any amendment which alters or impairs any Option previously 
granted to an Optionee under the Stock Option Plan.

Notwithstanding the other provisions of the Stock Option Plan, if:

(a) the Corporation proposes to amalgamate, merge or consolidate with any other corporation (other than a 
wholly-owned Affiliate) or to liquidate, dissolve or wind-up;
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(b) an offer to purchase or repurchase all of the Common Shares shall be made to all holders of Common 
Shares which offer has been approved or accepted by the Board; or

(c) the Corporation proposes the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation as an entirety, 
or substantially as an entirety, so that the Corporation shall cease to operate any active business,

then, the Corporation will have the right, upon written notice thereof to Optionees, to permit the exercise of all 
such Options, whether or not vested, within the twenty (20) day period next following the date of such notice and 
to determine that upon the expiration of such twenty (20) day period, all rights of the Optionee to such Options or 
to exercise same (to the extent not theretofore exercised) shall ipso facto terminate and cease to have further 
force or effect whatsoever.

The TSX rules require the Stock Option Plan to be put before Shareholders for re-approval within three (3) years 
of the date of the original meeting to approve the Stock Option Plan and every three (3) years thereafter.

As of May 14, 2014, the number of outstanding options is 5,537,129 which is 2.7% of the total outstanding 
Common Shares of the Corporation. The number of available options is 15,207,907 which is 7.3% of the total 
outstanding Common Shares of the Corporation. The number of Common Shares that have been issued pursuant 
to the plan is Nil. The number of Common Shares that have been issued pursuant to the plan as a percentage of 
the outstanding Common Shares is 0%.

The table below summarizes certain ratios regarding the Stock Option Plan, namely dilution, burn rate and 
overhang as defined in the table and measured as a percentage of the total number of Common Shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

December 31, 
2013

December 31, 
2012

December 31, 
2011

Dilution
(total number of options outstanding divided by total number of Common Shares
outstanding)

2.2% 2.0% 1.8%

Burn Rate
(total number of options granted in a fiscal year, minus expired options, divided 
by the total number of Common Shares outstanding)

0.4% 0.7% 1.0%

Overhang
(total options outstanding plus the number of options available to be granted 
pursuant to the Stock Option Plan, divided by the total number of Common 
Shares outstanding)

10.0% 10.0% 10.0%

PSU and RSU Plan
The purposes of the PSU and RSU Plan are to (i) promote a significant alignment between employees of the 
Corporation and the growth objectives of the Corporation, (ii) associate a portion of participating employees’ 
compensation with the performance of the Corporation over the long term and (iii) retain critical employees to 
drive the business success of the Corporation. In 2013, the PSU and RSU Plan made up 50% of the target long-
term compensatory value for each of the NEOs.

The primary terms of the PSU and RSU Plan are described beginning on page 7 of this circular, and the full text 
of the plan is included as Schedule “C” to this circular.

Other Executive Benefits
The Corporation provided executives with additional benefits in accordance with the compensation program 
objectives and for the purpose of retention and motivation. As part of their compensation, the NEOs are eligible to 
receive some of the following:

Life and Accidental Death and Dismemberment (ADD) Insurance coverage; 
Medical expenses and medical insurance re-imbursements;
Supplementary retirement plan contributions;
Monthly car allowance, as applicable;
Health and Wellness coverage; and 
A fitness allowance for a recreational and/or social club
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Some of these items are considered as taxable benefits and are reported in the Summary Compensation Table 
for the NEOs.

Executive Share Ownership Guidelines

To align the interests of senior management with the interests of shareholders, Corporation ownership guidelines 
were introduced for NEOs and senior management in 2013. The guidelines indicate ownership levels must be 
achieved within five (5) years of becoming a designated executive officer. Corporation ownership includes 
Common Shares or share equivalents. Ownership criteria is defined in terms of a multiple of the executive’s base 
salary. The following table summarizes the ownership guidelines:
 

Executive Target Ownership
Chief Executive Officer, Vice Chair 3 times base salary
Chief Financial Officer, President 2 times base salary

Division President, Executive Vice President 1 times base salary

The guideline provides a transition period of five (5) years to achieve the ownership requirement; however, 
notwithstanding the foregoing, each member of the executive management team is expected to hold Common 
Shares and/or vested or unvested RSUs/PSUs valued at a minimum of 10% of their base salary within the first 
year of joining the Corporation or transitioning to an executive management position.
 
The Common Share and/or share equivalent ownership for those NEOs governed by the ownership guidelines 
are set out below. The estimated value is based on the closing price of Algonquin’s common shares on May 12, 
2014 of $8.00.
 
NEO Multiple 

of Base 
Salary

Ownership 
guideline 

value

Shares/share 
equivalents 

(1)

Estimated 
Value

Minimum 
of ten 

percent

Target Status

($) (#) ($)
Ian Robertson 3x 1,559,025 466,995 3,735,960 Achieved Target achieved
Chris Jarratt 3x 1,245,270 461,778 3,694,224 Achieved Target achieved
David Bronicheski 2x 596,550 54,574 436,592 Achieved Target by 2018
David Pasieka 1x 263,714 24,358 194,864 Achieved Target by 2018
Mike Snow 1x 263,714 13,560 108,480 Achieved Target by 2018

(1) Includes Common Shares and vested and unvested RSUs/PSUs

NEOs that have not achieved the target ownership under the guideline have until 2018 to achieve the target.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The table below indicates the number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options under the 
Stock Option Plan, the weighted average exercise price of the options and the number of securities remaining 
available for future issuance under equity compensation plans as of May 14, 2014.

Equity Compensation Plan 
Category

Number of 
securities to be 
issued upon 
exercise of 
outstanding 
options

Weighted-
average 
exercise price 
of outstanding 
options

Number of securities 
remaining available for 
future issuance under 
equity compensation plans 
(excluding securities 
reflected in column (a))

(a)
(#)

(b)
($)

(c)
(#)

Plans approved by security holders 5,537,129 6.09 15,207,907
Plans not approved by security holders - - -
Total 5,537,129 6.09 15,207,907
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Performance Graph
The following graph compares the Corporation’s cumulative total Shareholder return (assuming an investment of 
$100 on January 1, 2009) on the units of the Algonquin Power Income Fund (the “Units”) during the period 
January 1, 2009 to October 27, 2009 and on the Common Shares during the period October 27, 2009 to January 
1, 2014 with the cumulative returns of the S&P/TSX Composite Stock Index during the period January 1, 2009 to 
January 1, 2014. The data is provided for Units prior to October 27, 2009 and for Common Shares on and after 
October 27, 2009 as, pursuant to the unit exchange offer, unitholders of Algonquin Power Income Fund 
exchanged their Units for Common Shares on a one-for-one basis effective October 27, 2009. 

Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. Relative Performance
Value of $100 Invested on January 1, 2009 (Assumes reinvestment of all distributions/dividends) 

In 2013, the total shareholder return for the Corporation was 12.4% (compared with 13.0% for the S&P/TSX 
Composite Index). During the same period, total annual salaries and annual incentives for the NEOs increased an 
average of 25.7% as compared to annual salaries and annual incentives in 2012, and specifically, the total annual 
salary and annual incentive for the CEO increased 61.7% in 2013.

Total Shareholder Return vs. NEO Compensation
At the end of 2013, the Corporation undertook an analysis of the alignment between the NEOs’ total 
compensation and the experience of shareholders. The analysis looked at the NEOs’ total compensation using 
the first full year in which the Corporation had converted from an income trust (2010) as the basis for comparison.
The total NEO compensation results were then compared to the shareholder experience, as measured by total 
shareholder return over the same periods. The analysis concluded that the Corporation’s compensation 
framework provided a close alignment between the NEOs’ compensation and the shareholder experience over 
the measured periods.
The analysis showed that the shareholders’ experience, as measured by the total shareholder return on an 
annual basis each calendar year between December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2013 averaged 19%. The 
annual NEO compensation percentage increase as measured by the total annual compensation paid to the 
NEOs over the same periods averaged approximately 22%. The following presents the comparison over the 
periods of interest:
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Period Average Compensation Adjustment 

for NEO Team(1)
Annual Total Shareholder Return
(including dividend re-investment)

2011 13% 34%
2012 16% 12%
2013 37%(2) 12%

Average 22% 19%
(1) A portion of these amounts relates to long-term incentives. The value of these amounts are tied to future individual performance and

continuing shareholder returns.
(2) A portion of the 2013 compensation adjustment included market adjustments to better align NEO compensation with the median 

compensation levels of the Comparator Group, as discussed on page 29.
 
Algonquin’s compensation philosophy has a significant component of NEO compensation consisting of long-
term incentives (grants of PSUs and stock options), which are designed to focus executives on the long-term 
success of the Corporation. These long-term incentives are directly affected by changes in Algonquin’s common
share price and Algonquin’s total shareholder return. This helps create a direct correlation between the 
shareholder experience and the compensation paid to senior executives.

Executive Compensation Information

Executive Performance Highlights
The strong performance of the Corporation in 2013 was highlighted by significant increases in operating 
revenues, net income, adjusted net earnings per share, cash flows, assets, share price and dividends. The 
performance of the Corporation is the result of the efforts and individual achievements of all employees within 
the organization. Since the first full year since the Corporation converted to a corporate structure (January 
2010), shareholders have experienced a total shareholder return of 140 per cent and approximately $1.3 billion 
in shareholder value has been created. Over that same period, the S&P/TSX Composite Index has provided 
returns of 124 per cent. 
The following summarizes some of the achievements of the NEOs:

Ian Robertson, Chief Executive Officer, Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp.

The Corporation has been led by Mr. Robertson over the past four (4) years and during his tenure as Chief 
Executive Officer, Mr. Robertson has consistently delivered value to shareholders. During Mr. Robertson’s 
tenure as Chief Executive Officer, the Corporation has undergone a transformative change from a high payout 
income trust to a fiscally conservative, growth-focused power and utilities corporation. The Corporation has 
exhibited significant growth including increasing the market capitalization by nearly three (3) times since the 
beginning of 2010. In 2013, Mr. Robertson led the organization which achieved the following:

EBITDA for 2013 reached $227 million, representing a more than 100% increase over 2012 results. Growth in 
earnings per share of $0.28 also represented a material increase over 2012 results. Such earnings per share 
were delivered from the successful growth initiatives completed late in 2012 and over the course of 2013.
Growth initiatives announced during 2013 represented approximately $500 million of enterprise value which 
materially exceeded the $300 million objective established for the year.
The organization made material progress in growing the management team in the areas of human resources, 
shared services, risk management and internal audit professionals.

Chris Jarratt, Vice Chair, Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp.

Mr. Jarratt has been in the role of Vice Chair over the past four (4) years and during his tenure in this role, Mr. 
Jarratt has been a significant contributor to the success of the organization. Mr. Jarratt is a director and full time 
member of the executive team which has consistently delivered value to the shareholders of the Corporation. In 
2013, Mr. Jarratt achieved the following:
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Led numerous Board of Directors initiatives which added material value to the Corporation including 
development of an annual Board of Directors plan, enhanced corporate governance practices, and executive 
compensation practices.
Participated with the Chief Executive Officer and Board of Directors in the development of the corporate 
strategy.
Actively executed on development and acquisition growth initiatives which significantly surpassed corporate 
growth objectives.
Successfully completed several projects and initiatives of significant importance and value to the Corporation, 
including resolution of several related party transactions.

David Bronicheski, Chief Financial Officer, Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp.

Mr. Bronicheski completed a successful year as the Corporation’s Chief Financial Officer. In 2013, Mr. 
Bronicheski achieved the following:

The establishment of an Enterprise Risk Management initiative through the organization.
The re-financing of Liberty Utilities Co.’s bank credit agreement, expanding the facility from $100 million to 
$200 million and broadened the lending syndicate.
Successfully executed two private placements in the United States, raising U.S.$140 million in connection 
with several utility acquisitions.
Strengthened the Corporation’s balance sheet over the past several years which supported an upgrade in 
2013 of the Corporation’s credit rating to BBB with a stable outlook from Standard & Poor’s. The upgraded 
rating has significantly lowered the Corporation’s cost of capital.

David Pasieka, President, Liberty Utilities Co.

David Pasieka has been the President of Liberty Utilities Co. since 2011. In 2013, Mr. Pasieka achieved the 
following:

Delivered strong safety and financial results.
Successful execution of an organization growth strategy which included both organic rate base growth and 
the completion of the New England gas acquisition in Massachusetts.
Successful rate cases in Arizona, California, Georgia and Missouri as well as having acquisitions approved by 
the regulator in Massachusetts, Georgia and Arkansas.
Providing leadership to a team which successfully integrated previously announced acquisitions in Georgia, 
New Hampshire and Arkansas into the Liberty Utilities Co. organization.

Mike Snow, President, Algonquin Power Co.

Mike Snow has been the President of Algonquin Power Co. since 2011. In 2013, Mr. Snow achieved the 
following:

Delivered strong safety and financial results and exceeded asset availability targets. 
Successfully integrated the recently acquired wind assets in the United States: Minonk, IL (200MW), Senate, 
TX (150MW), Sandy Ridge, PA (50MW) and Shady Oaks, IL (109.5MW).
Successfully developed and constructed a 10MW solar farm in Cornwall, Ontario, the Corporation’s first solar 
power generation facility.
Substantial organizational growth including enhancing asset management, operations, and business 
development teams which support the Corporation’s 1,100MW of operating assets across North America as 
well as the planned build out of 350 MW of contracted project development pipeline.
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Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth information concerning compensation earned from the Corporation and its 
subsidiaries for the financial year of the Corporation ended December 31, 2013 for each of the individuals who 
were at December 31, 2013, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Vice Chair, the President 
of Algonquin Power Co., and the President of Liberty Utilities Co.

Short term incentive plan awards for 2013 paid to the NEOs reflect performance in 2013 above target levels 
established for the year, as well as the level of shareholder returns achieved.

(1) The annual incentive plan amounts for Messrs. Robertson, Jarratt, Bronicheski, Pasieka and Snow represent their discretionary
bonus paid per the short-term incentive plan which is based on a Corporation scorecard.

(2) David Pasieka became an NEO in September 2011 upon his appointment as President of Liberty Utilities Co., and as such data for 
2011 is for a partial year only. 

(3) Michael Snow became an NEO in May 2011 upon his appointment as President of Algonquin Power Co., and as such data for 2011 
is for a partial year only. 

(4) Grant date fair value of Common Shares granted under the Employee Share Purchase Plan and units under the PSU and RSU 
Plan. Prior to 2013, values include only Common Shares granted under the Employee Share Purchase Plan.

(5) Grant date fair value of stock option grants is based on the Black-Scholes valuation methodology.
(6) Amounts shown for David Pasieka and Michael Snow are for payment for partial years for 2011 as their employment with the 

Corporation began in September and May, respectively.
(7) Amounts shown are contributions made by the Corporation for individuals under APUC’s Deferred Profit Sharing Plan.

Name and
Principal 
Position

Year Salary Share-
Based

Awards
(4)

Option-
Based

Awards
(5)

Non-Equity Incentive
Plan Compensation

Savings 
Plan 

Contri-
butions

(7)

All Other
Compen-

Sation

Total
Compen-

sation

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)
Annual 

Incentive 
Plans(1)

Long-
Term 

Incentive 
Plans

Ian Robertson

CEO, Algonquin 
Power & Utilities 

2013

2012

2011

519,675

419,425

290,700

235,354

1,500

801

233,854

252,297

247,095

633,234

278,918

349,508

-

-

-

38,505

17,791

17,442

34,477

42,300

42,121

1,695,099

1,012,231

947,667

Christopher 
Jarratt

Vice Chair, 
Algonquin 
Power & Utilities

2013

2012

2011

415,090

360,275

290,700

188,291

1,500

1,001

186,791

222,615

218,025

309,302

239,583

280,488

-

-

-

28,740

17,791

17,442

24,773

29,695

28,517

1,152,987

871,459

836,173

David 
Bronicheski

CFO, Algonquin 
Power & Utilities 

2013

2012

2011

298,275

267,500

229,500

76,069

1,500

-

74,569

117,300

114,750

246,942

127,063

158,503

-

-

-

19,959

14,046

13,770

16,880

13,528

14,235

732,694

540,937

530,758

David Pasieka(2)

President, 
Liberty Utilities

2013

2012

2011(6)

263,714

245,914

76,962

67,428

1,500

-

65,928

115,000

113,680

112,591

105,128

101,891

-

-

-

16,847

13,800

4,618

16,600

16,300

3,815

543,108

497,643

300,966

Michael Snow(3)

President, 
Algonquin 
Power Co.

2013

2012

2011(6)

263,714

245,914

115,000

67,428

1,500

-

65,928

115,000

118,433

114,515

98,489

59,066

-

-

-

26,135

6,104

6,900

16,760

15,216

5,700

554,480

482,223

305,099
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The following table sets out in detail “All Other Compensation” earned by the NEOs as reported in the Summary 
Compensation Table above. 

Name Year Perquisites Insurance 
Premiums(2)

Total All Other 
Compensation

Car 
Allowance

Other 
Perquisites(1)

($) ($) ($) ($)

Ian Robertson 

2013

2012

2011

11,520

11,520

11,520

17,597

18,552

18,258

5,360

12,228

12,343

34,477

42,300

42,121

Christopher Jarratt 

2013

2012

2011

11,520

11,520

11,520

7,893

5,404

6,405

5,360

12,771

10,592

24,773

29,695

28,517

David Bronicheski 

2013

2012

2011

11,520

11,520

11,520

-

-

-

5,360

2,008

2,715

16,880

13,528

14,235

David Pasieka

2013

2012

2011

11,400

11,400

3,815

-

-

-

5,200

4,900

-

16,600

16,300

3,815

Michael Snow

2013

2012

2011

11,400

11,400

5,700

-

-

-

5,360

3,816

-

16,760

15,216

5,700

(1) Other perquisites include annual health assessment, health and fitness club membership, medical benefit supplement

(2) Insurance premiums include life, disability and medical reimbursement plan amounts.
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Outstanding Option Based Awards
The following table describes all option-based awards as at December 31, 2013 for each NEO that is eligible for 
such award.

Name Number of 
Options

Option 
Exercise Price

Number of 
Common Shares
to be issued upon 

Exercise of 
Options

Option Expiration 
Date

Value of 
unexercised 
In-the-Money 

options

Ian Robertson 494,388

380,146

350,413

285,366

$4.05

$5.23

$6.22

$7.72

494,388

380,146

350,413

285,366

August 12, 2018

March 22, 2019

March 14, 2020

March 13, 2021

$1,626,537

$802,108

$392,463

-

Christopher Jarratt 436,224

335,423

267,963

38,548

228,293

$4.05

$5.23

$6.22

$6.56

$7.72

436,224

335,423

267,963

38,548

228,293

August 12, 2018

March 22, 2019

March 14, 2020

June 19, 2020

March 13, 2021

$1,435,177

$707,743

$300,119

$30,067

-

David Bronicheski 229,592

176,538

162,917

91,463

$4.05

$5.23

$6.22

$7.72

229,592

176,538

162,917

91,463

August 12, 2018

March 22, 2019

March 14, 2020

March 13, 2021

$755,358

$372,495

$182,467

-

David Pasieka 172,242

146,625

15,234

72,713

$5.65

$6.22

$6.56

$7.72

172,242

146,625

15,234

72,713

September 13, 2019

March 14, 2020

June 19, 2020

March 13, 2021

$291,089

$164,220

$11,883

-

Michael Snow 171,642

146,625

15,234

72,713

$5.64

$6.22

$6.56

$7.72

171,642

146,625

15,234

72,713

June 21, 2019

March 14, 2020

June 19, 2020

March 13, 2021

$291,791

$164,220

$11,883

-

Employment Arrangements
The Corporation entered into an executive employment agreement with each of Mr. Robertson, the Chief 
Executive Officer, Mr. Jarratt, Vice Chair, and Mr. Bronicheski, the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation, on 
June 23, 2010. The Corporation entered into an executive employment agreement with Mr. Pasieka, the 
President of Liberty Utilities on September 1, 2011 and Mr. Snow, President of APCo on May 24, 2011. All such 
executive employment agreements are collectively referred to as the “Employment Agreements”.

Termination for Cause, Resignation and Change of Control
If the NEOs are terminated for cause, each individual will not be entitled to any advance notice of termination or 
payment in lieu of notice. Each may resign at any time during the term of his Employment Agreement by providing 
not less than sixty (60) days prior written notice to the Corporation. Upon resignation, each will not be entitled to 
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any payment other than any amounts that the Corporation is required to pay in accordance with applicable laws 
and the Employment Agreements, including payment of accrued but unused vacation and expenses owing.

Within twelve (12) months following a change in control of the Corporation, if Messrs. Robertson, Jarratt or 
Bronicheski are terminated or choose to resign, each is entitled to receive compensation equal to the following (i)
a lump sum payment equal to twenty-four (24) months of base salary (at the then applicable base salary rate); (ii) 
a lump sum payment equal to the targeted annual incentive payment; (iii) continuation of benefits, car allowance 
and pension for twenty-four (24) months or a lump sum payment in lieu thereof; and (iv) all unvested performance 
share units, and all unvested stock options which shall be exercisable within ninety (90) days.

Within twelve (12) months following a change in control of the Corporation, if Messrs. Snow or Pasieka are 
terminated or choose to resign, each is entitled to receive compensation equal to the following (i) a lump sum 
payment equal to twelve (12) months of base salary (at the then applicable base salary rate); (ii) a lump sum 
payment equal to the targeted annual incentive payment; (iii) continuation of benefits, car allowance and pension 
for twelve (12) months or a lump sum payment in lieu thereof; and (iv) all unvested performance share units, and 
all unvested stock options which shall be exercisable within ninety (90) days.

The change of control termination provisions can be triggered upon the occurrence of any one party being entitled 
to cast 50% or more of the votes attached to all Common Shares of the Corporation and within 12 months of such 
occurrence, a material change to the employment conditions or duties of the executive that would materially 
adversely affect the nature and status of his or her responsibilities including, any change in title, position, or 
reporting relationship. Upon such events, the executive may elect with 90 days to terminate employment and 
receive change of control incremental amounts.

Termination for Reasons other than Cause
Upon termination without cause, Messrs. Robertson, Jarratt or Bronicheski are entitled to the following amounts in 
lieu of notice: (i) a lump sum payment equal to eighteen (18) months of base salary (at the then applicable base 
salary rate), (ii) a lump sum payment equal to the targeted annual incentive payment; (iii) continuation of benefits 
for eighteen (18) months or lump sum payment in lieu thereof, (iv) all unvested performance share units which 
would have vested within eighteen (18) months of the last day of employment and (v) all unvested stock options 
which would have vested within eighteen (18) months of termination and which are exercisable within ninety (90) 
days of termination.

Upon termination without cause, Messrs. Snow and Pasieka are entitled to the following amounts in lieu of notice: 
(i) a lump sum payment equal to twelve (12) months of base salary (at the then applicable base salary rate); (ii) a 
lump sum payment equal to the targeted annual incentive payment; (iii) continuation of benefits for twelve (12) 
months or lump sum payment in lieu thereof, (iv) all unvested performance share units which would vest upon the 
end of the fiscal year in which termination occurs; and (v) all unvested stock options which would have vested 
within eighteen (18) months of termination and which are exercisable within ninety (90) days of termination.
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Summary Termination Table
Assuming that the triggering event requiring the foregoing payments occurred on December 31, 2013 and that the 
Employment Agreements were in effect on such date, the NEOs would be entitled to receive the following 
incremental amounts:

Named 
Executive Officer

Type of 
Termination

Salary 
Entitlement

Bonus 
Entitlement Options 

Share-
Based 

Awards
Benefits Total 

Payout

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Ian Robertson Termination 
without Cause

779,513 545,659 529,011 350,781 8,040 2,213,003

Termination upon 
Change of Control

1,039,350 727,545 529,011 467,708 33,760 2,797,373

Christopher 
Jarratt

Termination 
without Cause

622,636 435,845 456,038 280,186 8,040 1,802,744

Termination upon 
Change of Control

830,181 581,127 456,038 373,581 33,760 2,274,686

David Bronicheski Termination 
without Cause

447,413 223,706 245,810 111,853 8,040 1,036,822

Termination upon 
Change of Control

596,550 298,275 245,810 149,138 33,760 1,323,532

David Pasieka Termination 
without Cause

263,714 118,671 214,431 65,928 5,200 667,944

Termination upon 
Change of Control

263,714 118,671 214,431 65,928 33,446 696,191

Michael Snow Termination 
without Cause

263,714 118,671 214,665 65,928 5,360 668,339

Termination upon 
Change of Control

263,714 118,671 214,665 65,928 42,895 705,874
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Schedule “A”

Advisory Vote on Approach to Executive Compensation of Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. 
(the “Corporation”)

RESOLVED, on an advisory basis, and not to diminish the role and responsibilities of the Board of Directors, that 
the Shareholders accept the approach to executive compensation disclosed in the management information 
circular delivered in advance of the 2014 annual meeting of the Shareholders of the Corporation.
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Schedule “B”

PSU and RSU Plan Resolution
RESOLVED THAT:

1. performance and restricted share unit plan for employees of the Corporation and its participating affiliates, 
as described in the management information circular of the Corporation dated •, 2014, is hereby is hereby 
approved, ratified and confirmed; and

2. any director or officer of the Corporation is hereby authorized to do all such things and execute all such 
documents and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to the above resolution.
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Schedule “C”

Performance and Restricted Share Unit Plan for Employees of Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp.
and its Participating Affiliates

Adopted with effect from January 1, 2011, as amended March 6, 2014

1. PREAMBLE AND DEFINITIONS

1.1 Title and Conflict.

The Plan described in this document shall be called the “Performance and Restricted Share 
Unit Plan for Employees of Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. and its Participating 
Affiliates”.

In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the Plan described in this document and the 
Award Agreement (as defined below), the terms and conditions of the Award Agreement shall 
prevail.

The Plan shall be governed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of 
Ontario.

1.2 Purpose of the Plan.

The purposes of the Plan are:
(i) to promote a significant alignment between employees of the Corporation and the 

participating Affiliates and the growth objectives of the Corporation and the participating 
Affiliates;

(ii) to associate a portion of participating employees’ compensation with the performance of 
the Corporation and its participating Affiliates over the long term; and

(iii) to attract and retain the critical employees to drive the business success of the 
Corporation and its participating Affiliates.

1.3 Definitions.

1.3.1 “Account” has the meaning set out in Section 5.1.

1.3.2 “Affiliate” means any corporation, partnership or other entity (i) in which the Corporation, 
directly or indirectly, has majority ownership interest or (ii) which the Corporation controls.  
For the purposes of this definition, the Corporation is deemed to “control” such 
corporation, partnership or other entity if the Corporation possesses, directly or indirectly, 
the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such 
corporation, partnership or other entity, whether through the ownership of voting 
securities, by contract or otherwise.

1.3.3 “Applicable Law” means any applicable provision of law, domestic or foreign, including, 
without limitation, applicable securities and tax legislation, together with all regulations, 
rules, policy statements, rulings, notices, orders or other instruments promulgated 
thereunder, and Stock Exchange Rules.

1.3.4 “Award Agreement” means the written or electronic agreement between the 
Corporation and a Participant under which the terms of an award are established, as 
contemplated by Section 4.1, together with such schedules, amendments, deletions or 
changes thereto as are permitted under the Plan.
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1.3.5 “Award Date” means the effective date of a grant of PSUs or RSUs, as applicable, to a 
Participant as stated in the applicable Award Agreement.

1.3.6 “Award PSUs” means the number of PSUs awarded to a Participant in respect of a 
Performance Period and as stated in the applicable Award Agreement.

1.3.7 “Award RSUs” means the number of RSUs awarded to a Participant in as stated in the 
applicable Award Agreement.

1.3.8 “Award Value” means the value, in dollars, of an award made to a Participant and as 
stated in the applicable Award Agreement, which is provided under the Plan in the form
of PSUs or RSUs, as the case may be.

1.3.9 “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

1.3.10 “Change in Control” shall be deemed to have occurred for purposes of this Plan if:

(i) there is any change in the holding, directly or indirectly, of securities of the
Corporation (or the participating Affiliate by which the applicable Participant is 
employed) or of any voting rights attached to any securities of the Corporation (or 
the participating Affiliate by which the applicable Participant is employed), as a 
result of which any corporation or other person, or a group of corporations or 
persons acting in concert, or corporations or persons associated with or affiliated 
with any such corporation, person or group within the meaning of the Securities 
Act (Ontario), would be entitled to cast 50% or more of the votes attached to all 
shares of the Corporation (or the participating Affiliate by which the applicable 
Participant is employed) that may be cast to elect directors of the Corporation (or 
the participating Affiliate by which the applicable Participant is employed); or

(ii) Incumbent Directors cease to constitute a majority of the Board of the 
Corporation (for the purposes of this paragraph, an “Incumbent Director” shall 
mean any member of the Board who is a member of the Board immediately prior 
to the occurrence of a contested election of directors of the Corporation); or

(iii) the Board adopts a resolution to the effect that, for the purposes of this Plan, a 
Change in Control of the Corporation (or the participating Affiliate by which the 
applicable Participant is employed) has occurred, or that such a Change in 
Control is imminent, in which case, the date of the Change in Control shall be 
deemed to be the date specified in such resolution, provided that the Change in 
Control actually occurs.

1.3.11 “Committee” means, in relation to Awards to Participants other than members of the 
Senior Management Committee, the Senior Management Committee and, in relation to 
Awards to any member of the Senior Management Committee, the Board or such
committee of the Board which may be designated by the Board as the “Committee” with 
respect to such Awards.

1.3.12 “Corporation” means Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. and any successor corporation, 
whether by amalgamation, merger or otherwise.

1.3.13 “Disability” means a physical or mental incapacity of the Participant that has prevented 
the Participant from performing the duties customarily assigned to the Participant for one 
hundred and eighty (180) calendar days, whether or not consecutive, out of any twelve 
(12) consecutive months and that in the opinion of the Corporation, acting on the basis of 
advice from a duly qualified medical practitioner, is likely to continue to a similar degree.
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1.3.14 “Dividend Equivalent Units” has the meaning set out in Section 5.2.

1.3.15 “Insider” has the meaning ascribed to this term for the purposes of the Stock Exchange 
rules relating to Securities-Based Compensation Arrangements.

1.3.16 “Market Value” at any date in respect of the Shares means the volume weighted 
average trading price of such Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange (or, if such Shares 
are not then listed and posted for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange, on such stock 
exchange in Canada on which such Shares are listed and posted for trading as may be 
selected for such purpose by the Committee) for the five (5) consecutive trading days 
immediately preceding such date, provided that in the event that such Shares did not 
trade on any of such trading days, the Market Value shall be the average of the bid and 
ask prices in respect of such Shares at the close of trading on all of such trading days 
and provided that in the event that such Shares are not listed and posted for trading on 
any stock exchange, the Market Value shall be the fair market value of such Shares as 
determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.

1.3.17 “Participant” means such executive or other employee of the Corporation or any Affiliate 
as the Committee may designate to receive a grant of PSUs or RSUs under the Plan 
pursuant to an Award Agreement

1.3.18 “Performance Adjustment Factor” means the performance adjustment factor (either 
upwards or downwards) calculated following the end of the Performance Period in 
accordance with the Award Agreement.

1.3.19 “Performance Criteria” means, in respect of a grant of a PSU, such financial and/or 
personal performance criteria as may be determined by the Committee in respect of a 
grant of PSUs to any Employee or Employees and set out in an Award Agreement. 
Performance Criteria may apply to the Corporation, an Affiliate, the Corporation and its 
Affiliates as a whole, a business unit of the Corporation or group comprised of the 
Corporation and one or more Affiliates, either individually, alternatively or in any 
combination, and measured either in total, incrementally or cumulatively over a specified 
Performance Period, on an absolute basis or relative to a pre-established target, to 
previous years’ results or to a designated comparator group.

1.3.20 “Performance Period” means, in respect of a grant of a PSU, the particular designated 
time period(s) in respect of which the Performance Criteria are assessed and determined 
to be satisfied by the Committee in order for such PSU to become a Vested PSU as set 
forth in the Award Agreement applicable to such grant.

1.3.21 “Period of Absence” means, with respect to a Participant, a period of time that lasts for 
at least ninety (90) days throughout which the Participant is on a leave of absence from 
the Corporation or an Affiliate that has been approved by the Corporation or Affiliate, as 
applicable, a Statutory Leave, or is experiencing a Disability.

1.3.22 “Plan” means this Performance and Restricted Share Unit Plan for Employees of 
Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. and its Participating Affiliates, including any schedules 
or appendices hereto, as such may be amended from time to time and as attached to an 
Award Agreement.

1.3.23 “PSU Balance” in respect of any particular date means the number of PSUs recorded in 
a Participant’s Account in respect of a particular Performance Period, which shall include 
the PSU Award plus all Dividend Equivalent Units in respect of such PSUs.
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1.3.24 “PSU” means a unit granted to a Participant that is represented by a bookkeeping entry 
on the books of the Corporation, the value of which on any particular date shall be equal 
to the Market Value and which generally becomes Vested, if at all, subject to the 
attainment of certain Performance Criteria and satisfaction of such other conditions to 
Vesting, if any, as may be determined by the Committee.

1.3.25 “RSU” means a unit granted to a Participant that is represented by a bookkeeping entry 
on the books of the Corporation, the value of which on any particular date shall be equal 
to the Market Value and which generally becomes Vested, if at all, following a period of 
continuous employment of the Participant with the Corporation or an Affiliate.

1.3.26 “Securities-Based Compensation Arrangement” means a stock option, stock option 
plan, employee stock purchase or ownership plan or any other compensation or incentive 
mechanism of the Corporation involving the issuance or potential issuance, from 
treasury, of Shares or other securities of the Corporation to employees, insiders or 
service providers, including a share purchase from treasury which is financially assisted 
by the Corporation by way of a loan, guarantee or otherwise.

1.3.27 “Senior Management Committee” means the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Corporation with the input of the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation and the 
President of the Corporation or, in relation to an Award to a Participant employed by a 
participating Affiliate, the President of such Affiliate, or such other committee or 
individuals which may be appointed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation to, 
among other things, interpret, administer and implement the Plan in relation to Awards to 
Participants other than the members of the Senior Management Committee.

1.3.28 “Share” means a common share of the Corporation and such other share as may be 
substituted for it as a result of amendments to the articles of the Corporation, 
arrangement, reorganization or otherwise, including any rights that form a part of the 
common share or substituted share.

1.3.29 “Statutory Leave” means, with respect to a Participant, a period of time throughout 
which the Participant is on a leave of absence to which he or she is entitled under 
applicable legislation and following which he or she has the right, pursuant to such 
legislation, to return to active employment with the Corporation or an Affiliate.

1.3.30 “Stock Exchange” means the Toronto Stock Exchange, or if the Shares are not listed 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange, such other stock exchange on which the Shares are 
listed, or if the Shares are not listed on any stock exchange, then on the over-the-counter 
market.

1.3.31 “Stock Exchange Rules” means the applicable rules of the Stock Exchange.

1.3.32 “Vested” means the applicable conditions for payment or other settlement in relation to a 
whole number, or a percentage (which may be more or less than 100%) of the number of 
Award PSUs or Award RSUs determined by the Committee, (i) have been met; or (ii) 
have been waived or deemed to be met pursuant to the terms of the Plan or the 
applicable Award Agreement, and “Vest” or “Vesting” have a corresponding meaning

1.3.33 “Vesting Date” means, with respect to a PSU or RSU, the date on which the applicable 
conditions for payment or other settlement of such PSU or RSU are met, deemed to have 
been met or waived as contemplated in Section 1.3.32.
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2. CONSTRUCTION AND INTERPRETATION

2.1 Gender, Singular, Plural. In the Plan, references to the masculine include the feminine; and 
references to the singular shall include the plural and vice versa, as the context shall require.

2.2 Governing Law.  The Plan shall be governed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the 
Province of Ontario and any actions, proceedings or claims in any way pertaining to the Plan shall 
be commenced in the courts of the Province of Ontario.

2.3 Severability. If any provision or part of the Plan is determined to be void or unenforceable in whole 
or in part, such determination shall not affect the validity or enforcement of any other provision or 
part thereof.

2.4 Headings, Sections.  Headings wherever used herein are for reference purposes only and do not 
limit or extend the meaning of the provisions herein contained.  A reference to a section or schedule 
shall, except where expressly stated otherwise, mean a section or schedule of the Plan, as 
applicable.

3. EFFECTIVE DATE AND EMPLOYMENT RIGHTS

3.1 Effective Date. The Corporation is establishing the Plan effective January 1, 2011.

3.2 No Employment Rights.  Nothing contained in the Plan shall be deemed to give any person the 
right to be retained as an employee of the Corporation or of an Affiliate.  For greater certainty, a 
period of notice, if any, or payment in lieu thereof, upon termination of employment, wrongful or 
otherwise, shall not be considered as extending the period of employment for the purposes of the 
Plan.

4. PSU AND RSU GRANTS AND PERFORMANCE PERIODS

4.1 Awards of PSUs and RSUs. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee.

The Committee shall have the authority in its sole and absolute discretion to administer the Plan and to 

exercise all the powers and authorities either specifically granted to it under the Plan or necessary or 

advisable in the administration of the Plan subject to and not inconsistent with the express provisions of this 

Plan, including, without limitation, the authority to:

4.1.1 determine the Award Value for each award under an Award Agreement; 

4.1.2 make grants of PSUs and RSUs in respect of any award under an Award Agreement;

4.1.3 determine the Award Date for grants of PSUs and RSUs, if not the date on which the 
Committee determines to make such grants under an Award Agreement;

4.1.4 determine the Participants to whom, and the time or times at which, awards shall be 
made and  PSUs and RSUs shall be granted under an Award Agreement;

4.1.5 approve or authorize the applicable form and terms of the related Award Agreements;

4.1.6 determine the terms and conditions of awards, and grants of PSUs and RSUs in respect 
thereof, to any Participant, including, without limitation the following, (A) the number of 
PSUs and RSUs to be granted; (B) the Performance Period(s) applicable to PSUs; (C) 
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the Performance Criteria applicable to PSUs and any other conditions to the Vesting of 
any PSUs and RSUs granted hereunder; (D) the conditions, if any, upon which Vesting of 
any PSUs or RSUs will be waived or accelerated without any further action by the 
Committee; (E) the extent to which the Performance Criteria must be achieved in order 
for any PSUs to become Vested PSUs and the multiplier, if any, that will be applied to 
determine the number of PSUs that become Vested PSUs having regard to the 
achievement of the Performance Criteria; (F) the circumstances in which a PSU or RSU 
shall be forfeited, cancelled or expire; (G) the consequences of a termination of 
employment with respect to a PSU or RSU; (H) the manner of settlement of Vested PSUs 
and Vested RSUs; and (I) whether and the terms upon which any Shares delivered upon 
settlement of a PSU or RSU must continue to be held by a Participant for any specified 
period;

4.1.7 determine whether and the extent to which any Performance Criteria applicable to the 
Vesting of a PSU or other conditions applicable to the Vesting of a PSU or RSU have 
been satisfied or shall be waived or modified;

4.1.8 amend the terms of any outstanding Award Agreement provided, however, that no such 
amendment, shall be made at any time to the extent such action would materially 
adversely affect the existing rights of a Participant with respect to any then outstanding 
PSU or RSU related to such Award Agreement without his or her consent in writing and 
provided further, however, that the Committee may amend the terms of an Award 
Agreement without the consent of the Participant if complying with Applicable Law;

4.1.9 determine whether, and the extent to which, adjustments shall be made pursuant to 
Section 5.3 and the terms of any such adjustments;

4.1.10 interpret the Plan and Award Agreements;

4.1.11 prescribe, amend and rescind such rules and regulations and make all determinations 
necessary or desirable for the administration and interpretation of the Plan and Award 
Agreements;

4.1.12 determine the terms and provisions of Award Agreements (which need not be identical) 
entered into in respect of awards hereunder; and

4.1.13 make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for the administration of 
the Plan.

4.2 Eligibility and Award Determination.

4.2.1 In determining the Participants to whom awards may be made and the Award Value (and 
accordingly the number of PSUs and RSUs to be granted) for each award (subject, in the 
case of PSUs, to adjustment based on achievement of Performance Criteria), the 
Committee may take into account such factors as it shall determine in its sole and 
absolute discretion.

4.2.2 The PSUs granted to a Participant for a Performance Period shall be determined by 
dividing the Award Value determined for the Participant for such Performance Period by 
the Market Value as at the end of the calendar quarter immediately preceding the Award 
Date, rounded down to the next whole number.

4.2.3 The RSUs granted to a Participant shall be determined by dividing the Award Value of an 
award to be provided to the Participant in the form of RSUs by the Market Value as at the 
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end of the calendar quarter immediately preceding the Award Date, rounded down to the 
next whole number.

4.2.4 For greater certainty and without limiting the discretion conferred on the Committee 
pursuant to this Section, the Committee’s decision to approve a grant of PSUs in any 
Performance Period, or any grant of RSUs shall not entitle any Participant to an award of 
PSUs in respect of any other Performance Period or any future grant of RSUs; nor shall 
the Committee’s decision with respect to the size or terms and conditions of an award 
require it to approve an award of the same or similar size or with the same or similar 
terms and conditions to any Participant at any other time.  No Participant has any claim 
or right to receive an award or any PSUs or RSUs.

4.2.5 An Award Agreement shall set forth, among other things, the following: the Award Date of 
the award evidenced thereby; the number of PSUs or RSUs, as applicable, granted in 
respect of such award; the Performance Criteria applicable to PSUs and any other 
conditions to the Vesting of the PSUs or RSUs, as applicable; in the case of PSUs, the 
applicable Performance Period; and may specify such other terms and conditions as the 
Committee shall determine or as shall be required under any other provision of the Plan.  
The Committee may include in an Award Agreement terms or conditions pertaining to 
confidentiality of information relating to the Corporation’s operations or businesses which 
must be complied with by a Participant including as a condition of the grant or Vesting of 
PSUs or RSUs.

4.3 PSUs and RSUs. Each whole PSU and RSU will give a Participant the right to receive either a 
Share or a cash payment, as determined by the Committee, in an amount determined in 
accordance with the terms of the Plan and the applicable Award Agreement.  For greater certainty, 
a Participant shall have no right to receive Shares or a cash payment with respect to any PSUs or 
RSUs that do not become Vested PSUs or RSUs, as the case may be, under Article 7.

5. ACCOUNTS, DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS AND REORGANIZATION

5.1 Account. An account (“Account”) shall be maintained by the Corporation for each award made to 
each Participant pursuant to an Award Agreement and which will be credited with an opening 
balance equal to the Award PSUs and/or Award RSUs granted pursuant to such Award Agreement.  
PSUs or RSUs that fail to vest pursuant to Article 7, or that are paid out to the Participant or his 
legal representative, shall be cancelled and shall cease to be recorded in the Participant’s Account 
as of the date on which such PSUs or RSUs, as applicable, are forfeited or cancelled under the 
Plan or are paid out, as the case may be.

5.2 Dividend Equivalent Units.  Whenever cash dividends are paid on the Shares during the
Performance Period applicable to a particular Award Agreement, additional PSUs or RSUs, as 
applicable, will be credited to the Participant’s Account in accordance with this Section 5.2 
(“Dividend Equivalent Units”).  The number of such additional PSUs or RSUs to be credited to the 
Participant’s Account in respect of any particular dividend paid on the Shares will be calculated by 
dividing (i) the amount of the cash dividend that would have been paid to the Participant if each of 
the PSUs and RSUs recorded in the Participant’s Account as at the record date for the cash 
dividend had been Shares by (ii) the Market Value on the date on which the dividend is paid on the 
Shares.  Dividend Equivalent Units shall Vest and be paid at the same time as the PSUs or RSUs, 
as applicable, to which they relate and shall be considered to be designated as payable in Shares 
or in cash as the related PSUs  or RSUs in the Participant’s Account are so designated.

5.3 Adjustments.  In the event of any stock dividend, stock split, combination or exchange of shares, 
capital reorganization, consolidation, spin-off or other distribution (other than normal cash 
dividends) of the Corporation’s assets to shareholders, or any other similar changes affecting the 
Shares, proportionate adjustments to reflect such change or changes shall be made with respect to 
the number of PSUs and RSUs outstanding under the Plan, or securities into which the Shares are 
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changed or are convertible or exchangeable and as may be substituted for Shares under this Plan, 
on a basis proportionate to the number of PSUs  and RSUs in the Participant’s Account or some 
other appropriate basis, all as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.

6. FUNDING OF PSU AWARDS BY SHARE PURCHASES OR ISSUANCES

6.1 Maximum Number of Shares Issuable from Treasury. The maximum number of Shares that are 
issuable under the Plan to pay awards under the Plan shall be an aggregate of 500,000 Shares.

6.2 Purchases of Shares on Open Market.  Any purchases of Shares pursuant to the Plan shall be 
made on the open market by a broker designated by the Corporation who is independent of the 
Corporation in accordance with Stock Exchange Rules and who is a member of the Stock 
Exchange.  Subject to the foregoing part of this Section 6.1, any such designation may be changed 
from time to time. 

6.3 Issuances of Shares from Treasury. Any issuances of Shares from treasury to pay awards as 
contemplated by Section 7.3 shall be issued at a price per Share equal to the Market Value on the 
date of issuance.

6.4 Insider Participation Limit. Awards under the Plan shall not be paid in Shares issued from 
treasury if, at the time of such issuance, such issuance could result, at any time, in:

6.4.1 the number of Shares reserved for issuance to Insiders under the Plan, together with 
Shares reserved for issuance to Insiders under all other Securities-Based Compensation 
Arrangements, exceeding 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares; or

6.4.2 the issuance to Insiders, within a one year period, of a number of Shares under the Plan, 
together with Shares that may be issued to Insiders under all other Securities-Based 
Compensation Arrangements, exceeding 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares.

7. VESTING AND PAYMENT OF PSU AWARDS

7.1 Vesting of PSUs.  Upon the first day immediately following the end of the Performance Period, the 
PSU’s represented by the PSU Balance as at such date shall vest, with the number of Vested 
PSUs being equal to the PSU Balance as at such date multiplied by the Performance Adjustment 
Factor as determined by the Committee in accordance with the Award Agreement. For certainty, in 
the event the Performance Adjustment Factor is equal to zero, no PSU’s will vest. Except where the 
context requires otherwise, each PSU which vests pursuant to Article 7 shall be referred to herein 
as a Vested PSU. PSUs which do not become Vested PSUs in accordance with this Article 7 shall 
be forfeited by the Participant and the Participant will have no further right, title or interest in such 
PSUs.  The Participant waives any and all right to compensation or damages in consequence of the 
termination of employment (whether lawfully or unlawfully) or otherwise for any reason whatsoever 
insofar as those rights arise or may arise from the Participant ceasing to have rights or be entitled 
to receive any Shares or cash payment under the Plan pursuant to this Section 7.1.

7.2 Performance Criteria.  The PSUs granted to a Participant under an Award Agreement and Section 
4.1 (and the related Dividend Equivalent PSUs) shall become Vested PSUs only upon the
Committee’s determination with respect to the Performance Adjustment Factor in accordance with 
the Award Agreement applicable to such PSUs or have been waived in accordance with 
Section 4.1.7.

7.3 Vesting of RSUs.  Award RSUs shall Vest on the Vesting Date(s) specified in the Award 
Agreement for such Award RSUs, together with Dividend Equivalent Units granted in respect of 
such Award RSUs, in such proportion as is may be determined in accordance with such Award 
Agreement. Except where the context requires otherwise, each RSU which vests pursuant to Article 
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7 shall be referred to herein as a Vested RSU. RSUs which do not become Vested RSUs in 
accordance with this Article 7 shall be forfeited by the Participant and the Participant will have no 
further right, title or interest in such RSUs.  The Participant waives any and all right to 
compensation or damages in consequence of the termination of employment (whether lawfully or 
unlawfully) or otherwise for any reason whatsoever insofar as those rights arise or may arise from 
the Participant ceasing to have rights or be entitled to receive any Shares or cash payment under 
the Plan pursuant to this Section 7.3.

7.4 Payment in Shares.  In the event that a Participant’s Vested PSUs or Vested RSUs have been 
designated by the Committee as payable in Shares, the Participant or his legal representative, as 
applicable, shall receive a number of Shares equal to the number of Vested PSUs credited to the 
Participant’s Account as of the last day of such Performance Period and the number of Vested 
RSUs credited to the Participant’s Account on the Vesting Date thereof that have been designated 
for payment in Shares (rounded down to the nearest whole number of Shares).  The Shares shall 
be distributed to the Participant or his legal representative, as applicable, in a single transfer no 
later than six (6) months following the last day of the Performance Period (or, in the event of the 
Participant’s death, no later than six (6) months following the date of the Participant’s death).

7.5 Payment in Cash.  In the event that a Participant’s Vested PSUs or Vested RSUs have not been 
designated by the Committee as payable in Shares, the Participant or his legal representative, as 
applicable, shall receive a cash payment equal to: (i) in the case of PSUs, the Market Value 
determined as of the last day of the Performance Period multiplied by the number of Vested PSUs 
credited to his PSU Account as of the last day of such Performance Period, (rounded down to the 
nearest whole number of PSUs); and (ii) in the case of RSUs, the Market Value determined as of 
the Vesting Date of such RSUs multiplied by the number of Vested RSUs credited to his Account as 
of the Vesting Date (rounded down to the nearest whole number of PSUs).  Subject to Section 
10.10, the cash payment shall be made to the Participant or his legal representative, as applicable, 
in a single lump sum no later than six (6) months following the last day of the Performance Period 
or Vesting Date, as applicable (or, in the event of the Participant’s death, no later than six (6) 
months following the date of the Participant’s death), less any applicable statutory withholdings or 
deductions.

7.6 Death, Period of Absence.

7.6.1 Death.  Where the employment of a Participant terminates during a Performance Period 
in the case of PSUs or prior to a Vesting Date in the case of RSUs by reason of the 
Participant’s death: (i) the PSUs credited to the Participant’s Account as at December 31 
of the year immediately preceding the Participant’s date of death shall continue to be
eligible to become Vested PSUs in accordance with Sections 7.1 and 7.2; and (ii) the 
RSUs credited to the Participant’s Account as at December 31 of the year immediately 
preceding the Participant’s date of death shall Vest as of the Participant`s date of death.  
The Participant shall be entitled to receive in cash or in Shares (or a combination 
thereof), as specified by the Committee, a payment relating to such Vested PSUs and/or 
RSUs determined in accordance with Sections 7.4 or 7.5.  For greater clarity, the number 
of Vested PSUs used to calculate the value of the payment shall equal the number of 
Vested PSUs determined in accordance with Sections 7.1 and 7.2 as at December 31 of 
the year immediately preceding the Participant’s date of death.

7.6.2 Period of Absence.  In the event of a Participant’s Period of Absence during a 
Performance Period for PSUs or prior to a Vesting Date for RSUs and subject to this 
Section 7.6.2 and Section 7.6.4, PSUs and RSUs credited to the Participant’s Account 
immediately prior to the commencement of such Period of Absence (and any related 
Dividend Equivalent PSUs and RSUs) shall continue to be eligible to become Vested in 
accordance with the provisions of Sections 7.1 and 7.2 and the Participant shall be 
entitled to receive in cash or in Shares (or a combination thereof), as specified by the 
Committee in respect of such Vested PSUs and Vested RSUs determined in accordance 
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with Section 7.4 or 7.5, as applicable, except that the number of Vested PSUs and 
Vested RSUs used to calculate the value of the payment shall equal the number of 
Vested PSUs or Vested RSUs, as applicable determined in accordance with Section 7.1 
and 7.2 multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which equals the number of whole and 
partial months in the Performance Period for which the Participant actively performed 
services for the Corporation or an Affiliate and the denominator of which equals the 
number of whole and partial months in the Performance Period; in the case of PSUs, or 
in the period from the Award Date to the Vesting Date of such RSUs.

7.6.3 For greater clarity, no additional PSUs or RSUs (whether pursuant to Section 4.1 or in the 
form of Dividend Equivalent Units) shall be granted to a Participant following his or her 
date of death or during his or her Period of Absence, including following his or her date of 
Disability.

7.6.4 Notwithstanding Section 7.6.2, where a Participant experiences a Period of Absence that 
extends beyond the end of a Performance Period for PSUs or a Vesting Date for RSUs 
and  fails to return to active full-time employment with the Corporation  or an Affiliate 
within one hundred and eighty (180) days following the end of such Performance Period 
or such Vesting Date, no portion of the PSUs subject to such Performance Period or 
RSUs that would otherwise Vest on such Vesting Date shall Vest and the Participant 
shall receive no payment or other compensation in respect of such PSUs or RSUs or loss 
thereof, on account of damages or otherwise.

7.7 Other Terminations of Employment. In the event that, during a Performance Period with respect 
to PSUs or prior to a Vesting Date with respect to RSUs, (i) the Participant’s employment is 
terminated by the Corporation or an Affiliate of the Corporation for any reason, or (ii) a Participant 
voluntarily terminates his employment with the Corporation or an Affiliate of the Corporation, 
including due to retirement, no portion of the PSUs subject to such Performance Period or RSUs 
that would otherwise Vest on such Vesting Date shall Vest and the Participant shall receive no 
payment or other compensation in respect of such PSUs or RSUs or loss thereof, on account of 
damages or otherwise; provided that any Vested PSUs and Vested RSUs will be settled in 
accordance with Sections 7.4 and 7.5. 

7.8 Change in Control.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, but subject to the terms of 
any Award Agreement or any employment agreement between the Participant and the Corporation 
or any Affiliate, in the event of a Change in Control, all PSUs and RSUs credited to each Account 
(including for greater certainty Dividend Equivalent Units) which have not become Vested PSUs or 
Vested RSUs, shall become Vested PSUs and Vested RSUs  on the basis of one (1) PSU 
becoming one (1) Vested PSU and one (1) RSU becoming one (1) Vested RSU, as at the time of 
Change in Control (unless otherwise determined by the Committee).  As soon as practicable 
following a Change in Control each Participant shall, at the discretion of the Committee, receive in 
cash or in Shares (or a combination thereof) a payment equal to the number of such Vested PSUs 
and Vested RSUs (as determined pursuant to this Section 7.7) credited to the Participant’s 
Account at the time of the Change in Control (rounded down to the nearest whole number of 
Vested PSUs and Vested RSUs) multiplied by the price at which the Shares are valued for the 
purpose of the transaction or series of transactions giving rise to the Change in Control, or if there 
is no such transaction or transactions at the Market Value on the date of the Change in Control, 
less any statutory withholdings or deductions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, where a Change in 
Control occurs and no Shares are distributed and no cash payments are made to a Participant 
within thirty (30) days following the Change in Control, the Corporation shall cease to have the 
discretion to provide the Participant with Shares and shall be required to pay (or cause an Affiliate 
to pay) to the Participant in respect of his Vested PSUs and Vested RSUs and Dividend Equivalent 
Units the amount determined in accordance with the cash payment formula set out above.  
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8. CURRENCY

8.1 Currency. All references in the Plan to currency refer to lawful Canadian or United States currency 
as indicated.

9. SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

9.1 No Rights to Shares. PSUs and RSUs are not Shares and neither the grant of PSUs or RSUs nor 
the fact that Shares may be acquired by, or provided from, the Corporation in satisfaction of Vested 
PSUs or Vested RSUs will entitle a Participant to any shareholder rights, including, without 
limitation, voting rights, dividend entitlement or rights on liquidation.

10. ADMINISTRATION

10.1 Committee. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, the Plan shall be administered by the 
Committee.

10.2 Delegation and Administration. The Committee may delegate to any one or more directors, 
officers or employees of the Corporation and/or its participating Affiliates such duties and powers 
relating to the Plan as it may see fit.  The Committee may, in its discretion, delegate such of its 
powers, rights and duties under the Plan, in whole or in part, to any committee or any one or more 
directors, officers or employees of the Corporation and/or its participating Affiliates as it may 
determine from time to time, on terms and conditions as it may determine, except the Committee 
shall not, and shall not be permitted to, delegate any such powers, rights or duties to the extent 
such delegation is not consistent with Applicable Law. .  

10.3 Effects of Committee’s Decision.  Any interpretation, rule, regulation, determination or other act 
of the Committee hereunder shall be made in its sole discretion and shall be conclusively binding 
upon all persons.

10.4 Liability Limitation.  No member of the Committee, the Board or any officer, director or employee 
of the Corporation or any Affiliate shall be liable for any action or determination made in good faith 
pursuant to the Plan or any Award Agreement under the Plan. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, the Corporation and its Affiliates shall indemnify and save harmless each person made, or 
threatened to be made, a party to any action or proceeding in respect of the Plan by reason of the 
fact that such person is or was a member of the Committee or the Board or is or was an officer, 
director or employee of the Corporation or an Affiliate.

10.5 Compliance with Laws and Policies. The Corporation’s issuance of any PSUs and RSUs and its 
obligation to make any payments or discretion to provide any Shares hereunder is subject to 
compliance with Applicable Law.  Each Participant shall acknowledge and agree (and shall be 
conclusively deemed to have so acknowledged and agreed by participating in the Plan) that the 
Participant will, at all times, act in strict compliance with Applicable Law and all other laws and any 
policies of the Corporation applicable to the Participant in connection with the Plan including, 
without limitation, furnishing to the Corporation all information and undertakings as may be required 
to permit compliance with Applicable Law.  Such laws, regulations, rules and policies shall include,
without limitation, those governing “insiders” or “reporting issuers” as those terms are construed for 
the purposes of Applicable Laws.

10.6 Withholdings.  So as to ensure that the Corporation or an Affiliate, as applicable, will be able to 
comply with the applicable provisions of any federal, provincial, state or local law relating to the 
withholding of tax or other required deductions, the Corporation, or an Affiliate may withhold or 
cause to be withheld from any amount payable to a Participant, either under this Plan, or otherwise, 
such amount, or may require the sale of such number of Shares, as may be necessary to permit the 
Corporation or the Affiliate, as applicable, to so comply.
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10.7 No Additional Rights.  Neither designation of an employee as a Participant nor the establishment 
of an Award Value for or grant of any PSUs or RSUs to any Participant entitles any person to the 
establishment of an Award Value, grant, or any additional grant, as the case may be, of any PSUs
or RSUs under the Plan.

10.8 Amendment, Termination.  The Plan may be amended or terminated at any time by the 
Committee in whole or in part, provided that:

10.8.1 no amendment of the Plan shall, without the consent of the Participants affected by the 
amendment, or unless required by Applicable Law, adversely affect the rights accrued to 
such Participants with respect to PSUs or RSUs granted prior to the date of the 
amendment; 

10.8.2 no amendment of the Plan shall be effective unless such amendment is approved by the 
Stock Exchange; and

10.8.3 approval by a majority of the votes cast by shareholders present and voting in person or 
by proxy at a meeting of shareholders of the Corporation shall be obtained for any:

10.8.3.1 amendment for which, under the requirements of the Stock Exchange or any 
applicable law, shareholder approval is required;

10.8.3.2 reduction of the purchase price of Shares issued or purchased to pay awards 
granted under the Plan or the cancellation and reissuance of awards under 
the Plan;

10.8.3.3 extension of the term of an award under the Plan beyond the original expiry 
date of the award;

10.8.3.4 any amendment to remove or exceed the insider participation limit set out in 
Section 6.4;

10.8.3.5 an increase to the maximum number of Shares issuable from treasury under 
the Plan;

10.8.3.6 amendments to eligible Participants that may permit the introduction or non-
employee directors on a discretionary basis;

10.8.3.7 allowance of awards granted under the Plan to be transferable or assignable 
other than for estate settlement purposes; or

10.8.3.8 amendment to this Section 10.8.

10.9 Administration Costs. The Corporation will be responsible for all costs relating to the 
administration of the Plan.  For greater certainty and unless otherwise determined by the 
Committee, a Participant shall be responsible for brokerage fees and other administration or 
transaction costs relating to the transfer, sale or other disposition of Shares on behalf of the 
Participant that have been previously distributed to or provided to the Participant pursuant to the 
Plan.

10.10 Compliance with Section 409A of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code.  Notwithstanding any 
provision in this Plan or an Award Agreement to the contrary, to the extent a Participant is subject 
to taxation under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “U.S. Tax Code”), then 
any PSUs and RSUs awarded to such Participant shall be interpreted and administered so that any 
amount payable with respect to such awards shall be paid in a manner that is either exempt from or 
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compliant with the requirements of Section 409A of the U.S. Tax Code and the applicable 
regulatory and other guidance issued thereunder (“Section 409A”). In furtherance of the foregoing, 
and notwithstanding Section 7.4 or 7.5 to the contrary, if any PSU or RSU awarded under this Plan 
would constitute non-exempt “deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A, then payment 
shall be made to the Participant or his legal representative, as applicable, in a single lump sum, 
less any applicable statutory withholdings or deductions, either (1) during the immediately following 
calendar year if the last day of the Performance Period or the Vesting Date, as applicable, is 
December 31, or (2) if (1) does not apply, no later than 90 days following the last day of the 
Performance Period or Vesting Date, as applicable (or, in the event of the Participant’s death, no 
later than 90 days following the date of the Participant’s death), provided that the Participant does 
not have a right to designate the year of the payment. Neither the Committee, the Corporation nor 
its directors, officers or employees make any representations or warranties regarding the tax 
treatment of any payments under the Plan and none of them shall be held liable for any taxes, 
interest, penalties or other monetary amounts owed by a Participant as a result of the application of 
Section 409A.

11. ASSIGNMENT

11.1 Assignment.  The assignment or transfer of the PSUs or RSUs, or any other benefits under this 
Plan, shall not be permitted, other than by operation of law.
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Schedule “D”

ALGONQUIN POWER & UTILITIES CORP.

MANDATE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. PURPOSE

(a) The board of directors (the “Board”) of Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. (the “Corporation”) has 
the power and authority to supervise the activities and manage the investments and affairs of the 
Corporation. The Board, directly and through its committees, shall manage, or supervise the 
management of, the business and affairs of the Corporation.

2. MEMBERSHIP, ORGANIZATION AND MEETINGS

(a) General - The composition and organization of the Board, including: the number, qualifications 
and remuneration of directors; residency requirements; quorum requirements; meeting 
procedures and notices of meetings are as established by the Corporation’s articles of 
incorporation (the “Articles”) and by-laws (the “By-Laws”), as amended and restated from time to 
time. 

(b) Independence - The Board shall establish independence standards for the Board in accordance 
with the binding requirements of any stock exchanges on which the Corporation’s securities are 
listed and all other applicable laws (collectively, the “Applicable Requirements”), and, at least 
annually, shall determine the independence of each director in accordance with these standards. 

(c) Independence of Chair of the Board / Lead Director – The Chair of the Board shall be an 
independent director, unless the Board determines that it is inappropriate to require the Chair of 
the Board to be independent, then the independent directors shall select from their number a 
director who will act as “Lead Director” and who will assume responsibility for providing 
leadership to enhance the effectiveness and independence of the Board. The Lead Director shall 
be chosen at a meeting of independent directors that is not attended by non-independent Board 
members or management of the Corporation. The Chair of the Board, if independent, or the Lead 
Director if the Chair of the Board is not independent, shall act as the effective leader of the Board 
and ensure that the Board’s agenda will enable it to successfully carry out its duties. The Chair of 
the Board shall not be the chief executive officer of the Corporation.

(d) Access to Management and Outside Advisors - The Board shall have unrestricted access to 
the management and employees of the Corporation and its subsidiary entities. The Board shall 
have the authority to retain external legal counsel, consultants or other advisors to assist them in 
fulfilling their responsibilities and to set and pay the respective compensation of these advisors 
without consulting or obtaining the approval of any Corporation officer. The Corporation shall 
provide appropriate funding, as determined by the Board, for the services of these advisors. 

(e) Secretary and Minutes - The Board shall request that an officer of the Corporation, external 
legal counsel or any other person act as secretary of each meeting of the Board. Minutes of 
meetings of the Board shall be recorded and maintained and subsequently presented to the 
Board for approval. 
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(f) Meetings Without Management - At each meeting of the Board, directors shall, under the 
oversight of the Chair of the Board or the Lead Director, as applicable, meet without management 
being present.

3. ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

(a) Voting for Individual Directors – At each annual meeting of the shareholders, the Corporation 
shall submit to its shareholders the name of each candidate being recommended by the Board for 
election by the shareholders. In an uncontested election of directors (as defined under Section 
3.2), shareholders shall be asked to vote (or withhold from voting) on each individual director 
(rather than on a slate of directors). In a contested election of directors, the Corporation will retain 
the discretion to use slate voting.

(b) Majority Voting in Director Elections - In this Policy, an “uncontested election” shall mean an 
election at a shareholder’s meeting of the Corporation in which the number of nominees for 
director (“Director”) shall be equal to the number of Directors to be elected.  In a contested 
election, this Policy shall not apply and nominees shall be elected by plurality voting.

In an uncontested election of Directors, where a nominee for Director (the “Subject Director”) is 
not elected by at least a majority (50% + 1 vote) of the votes cast with regard to his or her 
election, the Subject Director must immediately tender resignation to the board of directors (the 
“Board”).  The Corporate Governance Committee of the Board shall, within 90 days of the 
shareholder’s meeting, determine whether to accept the Subject Director resignation, which 
resignation should be accepted absent exceptional circumstances. The resignation shall become 
effective when accepted by the Board.

As soon as practicable following receipt of the resignation of the Subject Director:

(i) the Corporation shall issue a press release with the board’s decision including, in the case of 
the Board not accepting the resignation, the reasoning behind such decision, and

(ii) the Board may (i) leave the resultant vacancy in the Board unfilled until the next annual 
meeting of shareholders of the Corporation; (ii) fill the vacancy through the appointment of a 
Director whom the Board considers to merit the confidence of the shareholders of the 
Corporation; or (iii) call a special meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation to consider 
the election of a nominee recommended by the Board to fill the vacant position.

The Subject Director shall not participate in any meeting of the Board or committee of the Board 
at which the resignation is considered. However, the Subject Director shall remain active and 
engaged in all other Board and other applicable Board committee activities, deliberations and 
decisions during this process. If each member of the Corporate Governance Committee received 
a Majority Withheld Vote at the same election, then the independent Directors who did not receive 
a Majority Withheld Vote shall appoint a committee amongst themselves to consider whether to 
accept the Subject Director resignation, provided that if the only Directors who did not receive 
Majority Withheld Votes in the same election constitute three or fewer Directors, all Directors may 
participate in the action regarding whether to accept the resignation of the Subject Directors.

This Policy, on an annual basis, shall be fully described in the materials sent to shareholders of 
the Corporation in connection with a meeting at which Directors are to be elected. Following any 
uncontested meeting at which Directors are elected, the Corporation shall issue a news release 
disclosing the detailed voting results for each director candidate, which shall include one of the 
following:
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(i) the percentages of votes received “for” and “withheld” for each director;

(ii) the total votes cast by ballot with the number each director received “for”; or

(iii) the percentages and total number of votes received “for” each director.

If a formal count is not conducted, votes represented by proxy shall be disclosed.

The Board may at any time in its sole discretion supplement or amend any provision of this policy 
in any respect, subject to compliance with the TSX Company Manual. The Board will have the 
exclusive power and authority to administer this policy, including without limitation the right and 
power to interpret the provisions of this policy and make all determinations deemed necessary or 
advisable for the administration of this policy. All such actions, interpretations and determinations 
which are done or made by the Board in good faith will be final, conclusive and binding.

4. FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board shall have the functions and responsibilities set out below. In addition to these functions and 
responsibilities, the Board shall perform such duties as may be required by the Applicable Requirements, the 
Articles and the By-Laws.

(a) Strategic Planning

(i) Strategic Plans - At least annually, the Board shall review and, if advisable, approve the 
Corporation’s strategic planning process and short- and long-term strategic plans 
prepared by management of the Corporation. In discharging this responsibility, the Board 
shall review the plans in light of management’s assessment of emerging trends, 
opportunities, the competitive environment, risk issues and significant business practices. 

(ii) Business Plans - The Board shall review and, if advisable, approve the Corporation’s 
annual business plans. 

(iii) Monitoring - At least annually, the Board shall review management’s implementation of 
the Corporation’s strategic and business plans. The Board shall review and, if advisable, 
approve any material amendments to, or variances from, these plans. 

(b) Risk Management

(i) General - At least annually, the Board shall, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, 
review reports provided by management of the Corporation of material risks associated 
with the businesses and operations of the Corporation’s subsidiary entities, review the 
implementation by management of systems to manage these risks and review reports by 
management relating to the operation of and any material deficiencies in these systems. 

(ii) Verification of Controls - The Board shall, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, 
verify that internal, financial, non-financial and business control and information systems 
have been established by management and that the Corporation is applying appropriate 
standards of corporate conduct for these controls. 

(c) Human Resource Management 

(i) General - At least annually, the Board shall, with the assistance of management, review 
the Corporation’s approach to human resource management and executive 
compensation. 
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(ii) Succession Review - At least annually, the Board shall, with the assistance of the 
Compensation Committee, as applicable, review the Chair of the Board and the senior 
management succession plans of the Corporation including its Chief Executive Officer. 

(iii) Integrity of Senior Management - The Board shall, to the extent feasible, satisfy itself as 
to the integrity of senior management of the Corporation. 

(d) Corporate Governance

(i) General - At least annually, the Board shall, in conjunction with the Corporate 
Governance Committee, review the Corporation’s approach to corporate governance. 

(ii) Board Independence - At least annually, the Board shall, in conjunction with the 
Corporate Governance Committee, evaluate the independence standards established by 
the Board and the Board's ability to act independently from management in fulfilling its 
duties. 

(iii) Ethics Reporting- At least annually, the Board shall, in conjunction with the Corporate 
Governance Committee, review reports provided by management relating to compliance 
with, or material deficiencies of, the Corporation’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. 

(e) Financial Information

(i) General - At least annually, the Board shall, in conjunction with the Audit Committee, 
review the Corporation’s internal controls relating to financial information and reports 
provided by management on material deficiencies in, or material changes to, these 
controls. 

(ii) Integrity of Financial Information - The Board shall, in conjunction with the Audit 
Committee, review the integrity of the Corporation’s financial information and systems, 
the effectiveness of internal controls and management's assertions on internal control 
and disclosure control procedures. 

(iii) Financial Statements – The Board shall review the recommendation of the Audit 
Committee with respect to the annual financial statements and Management’s Discussion 
& Analysis (“MD&A”) of such financial statements to be delivered to shareholders. If 
appropriate, the Board shall approve such financial statements and MD&A.

(f) Communications

(i) General - At least annually, the Board in conjunction with management shall review the 
Corporation’s overall communications strategy, including measures for receiving 
feedback from the Corporation’s shareholders. 

(ii) Disclosure - At least annually, the Board shall review management's compliance with the 
Corporation’s disclosure policies and procedures. The Board shall, if advisable, approve 
material changes to the Corporation’s disclosure policies and procedures. 

(g) Committees of the Board

(i) Board’s Committees - The Board has established the following committees of the Board: 
the Audit Committee, the Corporate Governance Committee, the Disclosure Committee 
and the Compensation Committee. Subject to applicable law and the Articles and By-
Laws of the Corporation, the Board may establish other committees or merge any 
committee of the Board with any other committee of the Board. 
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(ii) Committee Charters - The Board has approved charters for each committee and shall 
approve charters for each new committee of the Board. At least annually, each charter 
shall be reviewed, and, based on recommendations of the Corporate Governance 
Committee and the Chair of the Board, as applicable, approved by the Board. 

(iii) Delegation to Committees - The Board has delegated for approval or review the matters
set out in each committee's charter to that committee. 

(iv) Consideration of Committee Recommendations - As required, the Board shall consider 
for approval the specific matters delegated for review to committees of the Board. 

(v) Board/Committee Communication - To facilitate communication between the Board and 
each committee of the Board, each committee chair shall provide a report to the Board on 
material matters considered by the committee at the first Board meeting after each 
meeting of the committee. 

5. RESPONSIBILITIES OF INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS

(a) Responsibilities Set out in the Mandate – A director shall review and participate in the work of 
the Board necessary in order for the Board to discharge the duties and responsibilities set out in 
accordance with this mandate.

(b) Meeting Preparation and Attendance – In connection with each meeting of the Board and each 
meeting of a committee of the Board of which the director is a member, a director shall:

(i) review thoroughly the material provided to the director in connection with the meeting, 
provided that such review is practicable in the view of the time at which such material 
was delivered to the director;

(ii) attend all scheduled meetings (absent extenuating circumstances) of the Board and 
meetings of committees on which a director serves; and

(iii) attend each meeting in person to the extent practicable (unless the meeting is scheduled 
to be held by phone or video-conference).

(c) Assessment – A director shall participate in such processes as may be established by the Board 
for assessing the Board, its committees and individual directors.

(d) Other Responsibilities – A director shall perform such other functions as may be delegated to 
that director by the Board or any committee of the Board from time to time.

6. OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

(a) Director Equity Ownership Guidelines – All directors are expected to maintain a meaningful 
equity ownership interest in the Corporation in order to align their interests with those of the 
shareholders. In particular, each director shall maintain equity ownership (the “Director Equity 
Guideline”) of a value equal to approximately three times the value of his or her annual cash 
retainer.

(b) Timing of Compliance – Directors will have up to five years from the latter of the time of initial 
appointment or election to the Board or the adoption of the policy related to the Director Equity 
Guideline to achieve the Director Equity Guideline. The Board may vary the time for compliance 
in extenuating circumstances.
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(c) Valuation – Equity ownership will be calculated on the basis of the market value of the Common 
Shares of the Corporation at the time such valuation is made, subject to the Board’s discretion 
with regard to short-term fluctuations in the market price of the Common Shares.

7. ORIENTATION, SELF-ASSESSMENT AND EVALUATION

(a) Each director shall participate in orientation and continuing education programs developed for the 
Board. 

(b) At least annually, the Board shall along with the Corporate Governance Committee conduct 
regular assessments of the overall effectiveness of the Board, its committees, the Chair of the 
Board and the Chairs of the committees of the board taking into consideration the relevant 
mandates and terms of reference. The Board shall also conduct an assessment of the 
contributions of individual directors. The assessments of individual directors will take into account, 
among other things, self-assessments, confidential peer-review surveys completed by each 
director and the consideration of the competencies and skills that each director is expected to 
bring to the Board. 

8. CURRENCY OF MANDATE

The mandate was last revised and approved by the Board of Directors of Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. as of 
March 14, 2014.
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